Guidance Statement GS 012 Prudential Reporting Requirements for Auditors of Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions (ADIs) and ADI Groups

Issued by the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board



Obtaining a Copy of this Guidance Statement

This Guidance Statement is available on the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB) website: www.auasb.gov.au

Contact Details

Auditing and Assurance Standards Board Podium Level Level 14, 530 Collins Street Melbourne Victoria 3000 AUSTRALIA Phone: (03) 8080 7400

E-mail: enquiries@auasb.gov.au

Postal Address:

PO Box 204, Collins Street West Melbourne Victoria 8007 AUSTRALIA

COPYRIGHT

© 2020 Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB). The text, graphics and layout of this Guidance Statement are protected by Australian copyright law and the comparable law of other countries. Reproduction within Australia in unaltered form (retaining this notice) is permitted for personal and non-commercial use subject to the inclusion of an acknowledgment of the source as being the AUASB.

Requests and enquiries concerning reproduction and rights for commercial purposes should be addressed to the Technical Director, Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, PO Box 204, Collins Street West, Melbourne, Victoria 8007 or sent to enquiries@auasb.gov.au. Otherwise, no part of this Guidance Statement may be reproduced, stored or transmitted in any form or by any means without the prior written permission of the AUASB except as permitted by law.

ISSN 1833-7600

Important Note

Guidance Statements are developed and issued by the AUASB to provide guidance to auditors and assurance practitioners on certain procedural, entity or industry specific matters related to the application of an AUASB Standard(s).

Guidance Statements are designed to provide assistance to auditors and assurance practitioners to assist them in fulfilling the objective(s) of the audit or other assurance engagement. Accordingly, Guidance Statements refer to, and are written in the context of specific AUASB Standard(s); and where relevant, legislation, regulation or other authoritative publication. Guidance Statements are not aimed at providing guidance covering all aspects of the audit or other assurance engagement. Further, Guidance Statements do not establish or extend the requirements under an existing AUASB Standard(s).

Guidance Statement *Prudential Reporting Requirements for Auditors of Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions (ADIs) and ADI Groups* is not, and is not intended to be, a substitute for compliance with the relevant AUASB Standard(s) and auditors and assurance practitioners are required to comply with the relevant AUASB Standard(s) when conducting an audit or other assurance engagement.

CONTENTS

PREFACE

AUTHORITY STATEMENT

	Paragraphs
Application	1-4
Issuance Date	5
Introduction	
Prudential Supervision of ADIs	6-9
Economic and Financial Statistics (EFS) Collection	10-14
Financial Claims Scheme (FCS)	15
Scope of APRA Prudential Reporting Engagements	16-19
Responsibilities of the Appointed Auditor	20-27
Definitions	28
Tripartite Relationship	29-32
Responsibilities of the ADI	33-45
Role and Responsibilities of the Appointed Auditor	46-57
Agreeing the Terms of the Annual Prudential Reporting Engagement(s)	58-67
Matters to Consider in Planning the Annual Prudential Reporting Engagement(s)	68-69
Understanding of the Entity and its Environment	70-77
Overall Responses to Assessed Risks of Material Misstatements, Control Deficiencies and Deviations, and Non-Compliance	78
Characteristics of Subject Matter and Identified Evaluation Criteria	79-85
Identified Users and Intended Use of Appointed Auditor's Assurance Report	86-89
Reliability of Information and Data Quality	90-105
Materiality	106-136
Personnel and Expertise Requirements, Including the Nature and Extent of Experts' Involvement	137-141
Work Performed by Another Auditor	142
Internal Audit	143-147
Considerations – Assurance on Specified ADI Reporting Forms	
Application of AUASB Definition of "Accounting Records"	148-156
Identification of Financial Year-end ADI Reporting Forms	157-161
Reasonable Assurance on Specified ADI Reporting Forms – Data Sourced from Accounting Records (APS 310/3PS 310 - Part A)	162-171
Limited Assurance on Specified ADI Reporting Forms – Data Sourced from Non-Accounting Records (APS 310/3PS 310 – Part B)	172-184

Consideration	ns – Assurance on Controls	
	rance on Controls to ensure Compliance with Prudential Requirements ity of Reporting Forms (APS 310/3PS 310 - Part C)	185-213
Limited Assur Instruction a	rance on Controls addressing Generation of SCV Data and FCS Payment and Reporting Information (APS 910)	214-224
Consideratio	ns – Foreign ADIs	225-229
Evaluation of	Findings	
Reporting on	Specified ADI Reporting Forms	230-236
Reporting on	Internal Controls	237-248
Reporting on	Compliance with Prudential Requirements	249-258
Inherent Lim	itations of the Engagement	259-263
Written Rep	resentations	264-266
Communicat	ion with Those Charged with Governance	267-274
The Appoint	ed Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report	275-291
Special Purp	ose Engagements	292-301
Additional R	eporting Requirements under the Banking Act	302-307
Conformity v	vith International Pronouncements	308
APPENDICE Appendix 1:	Outline of Auditor's Reporting Requirements, Levels of Assurance, Subj Evaluation Criteria and Applicable AUASB Standards	ect Matter,
Appendix 2: Appendix 3: Appendix 4:	Example Engagement Letter – Level 1 ADI and/or Level 2 ADI Group Example Representation Letter – Level 1 ADI and/or Level 2 ADI Group Example Annual Prudential Assurance Report - Engagements undertaker APRA Prudential Standards APS 310 and 3PS 310 Audit and Related Ma (Routine Reporting)	n pursuant to
Appendix 5:	Example Annual Prudential Assurance Report - Engagements undertaker APRA Prudential Standard APS 910 <i>Financial Claims Scheme</i> (Routine	

PREFACE

How this Guidance Statement is to be used

This Guidance Statement has been formulated by the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB), in consultation with the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA), to provide guidance to the appointed auditor of an Authorised Deposit-taking Institution (ADI) and/or appointed auditor of a Level 2 and/or Level 3 ADI group, reporting pursuant to the prudential reporting requirements specified by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) in Prudential Standards APS 310 (APS 310) and 3PS 310 (3PS 310) *Audit and Related Matters*, and APS 910 *Financial Claims Scheme* (APS 910).

The assurance requirements relating to these prudential reporting engagements may give rise to a number of special assurance considerations. Accordingly, this Guidance Statement has been developed to identify, clarify and summarise the responsibilities which the auditor has with respect to conducting such assurance engagements, and to provide guidance to the auditor on additional factors which the auditor may consider when planning, conducting and reporting in relation to prudential assurance engagements.

This Guidance Statement is to be read in conjunction with, and is not a substitute for referring to, the requirements and application and other explanatory material contained in:

- (a) APS 310, 3PS 310, APS 910, and other applicable APRA Prudential Requirements, including the *Banking Act 1959* (Banking Act), the *Financial Sector (Collection of Data) Act 2001* (FSCODA), and APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards;
- (b) applicable AUASB Standards; and
- (c) relevant ethical and professional standards.

This Guidance Statement does not extend the responsibilities of an appointed auditor of an ADI and ADI group beyond those which are imposed by the Banking Act, the FSCODA, APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards, AUASB Standards and other applicable legislation.

It is not the intention of this Guidance Statement to provide step-by-step guidance in relation to the conduct of a prudential reporting assurance engagement and it is not to be used as a checklist of all issues to be considered by the appointed auditor.

It is not intended that this Guidance Statement limits or replaces the appointed auditor's professional judgement or limits the application of relevant AUASB Standards on such engagements. AUASB Standards contain the requirements to be applied to assurance engagements. Assurance engagement programs are to be designed by the auditor to meet the requirements of the particular circumstances, giving careful consideration to the size, business mix and complexity of the ADI and/or ADI group and the adequacy of the ADI's or ADI group's internal control structure.

AUTHORITY STATEMENT

The Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB) formulates Guidance Statement GS 012 Prudential Reporting Requirements for Auditors of Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions (ADIs) and ADI Groups pursuant to section 227B of the Australian Securities and Investments Commission Act 2001, for the purposes of providing guidance on auditing and assurance matters.

This Guidance Statement provides guidance to assist the auditor to fulfil the objectives of the audit or assurance engagement. It includes explanatory material on specific matters for the purposes of understanding and complying with AUASB Standards. The auditor exercises professional judgement when using this Guidance Statement.

This Guidance Statement does not prescribe or create new requirements.

Dated: 11 September 2020 R Simnett AO Chair - AUASB

GUIDANCE STATEMENT GS 012

Prudential Reporting Requirements for Auditors of Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions (ADIs) and ADI Groups

Application

ADIs and ADI Groups

- 1. This Guidance Statement has been formulated by the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB), in consultation with the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA), to provide guidance to the appointed auditor of an Authorised Deposit-taking Institution (ADI) and/or appointed auditor of a Level 2 and/or Level 3 ADI group, reporting pursuant to the prudential reporting requirements specified by APRA in Prudential Standards APS 310 *Audit and Related Matters* (July 2019) (APS 310), 3PS 310 *Audit and Related Matters* (July 2017) (3PS 310) and APS 910 *Financial Claims Scheme* (July 2013) (APS 910).
- 2. This Guidance Statement includes references to prudential reporting requirements for ADIs and ADI groups, and their appointed auditors, as specified by APRA. "Level 1", "Level 2" and "Level 3", as applied in this Guidance Statement, have the meaning given in APRA Prudential Standards APS 001 *Definitions* (APS 001) and 3PS 001 *Definitions* (3PS 001).
 - (a) In applying this Guidance Statement on a group basis, references to an ADI should be read as also referring to the head of a Level 2 or Level 3 group, as relevant. Where a Level 2 group operates within a Level 3 group, the head of the group is to be read as the head of the Level 3 group.
 - (b) The term "ADI group" in this Guidance Statement will mean a Level 2 or a Level 3 group, as relevant, and will be used where requirements and guidance are common for Level 2 and Level 3 groups.

Registered Financial Corporations²

- 3. This Guidance Statement provides guidance that may be considered and adapted as necessary in the circumstances, to assurance engagements undertaken pursuant to APRA Reporting Standard RRS 710.0 ABS/RBA Audit Requirements for Registered Financial Corporations EFS collection (RRS 710.0), which applies to those Registered Financial Corporations (RFCs) required to report to APRA under the Economic and Financial Statistics (EFS) collection³, from 1 July 2019.
- 4. APRA collects statistical data from RFCs under the *Financial Sector (Collection of Data) Act* 2001 (FSCODA).⁴ RFCs are not prudentially regulated or supervised by APRA under the *Banking Act 1959* (Banking Act) and APRA's Prudential Standards do not apply to RFCs. Investors in RFCs do not have the right to priority of repayment that is conferred on depositors by section 13A of the Banking Act. Further, RFC products are not covered by the Financial Claims Scheme, which applies only to deposits held in protected accounts of ADIs.

See paragraphs 10-14 of this Guidance Statement.

.

[&]quot;ADI", "appointed auditor", "Level 1", "Level 2" and "Level 3" are defined by APRA in Prudential Standards APS 001 and 3PS 001 Definitions. Refer to Attachment A to APS 001 for further explanation of the definition of Level 3 "conglomerate group" as it applies to

² Corporations required to be registered under Part 2 of the Financial Sector (Collection of Data) Act 2001 (FSCODA).

Not all RFCs are required to submit EFS data to APRA. EFS reporting requirements will depend on the size of the RFC and is specified by APRA in relevant EFS Reporting Standards.

Issuance Date

5. This Guidance Statement is issued on 11 September 2020 by the AUASB and replaces GS 012 Prudential Reporting Requirements for Auditors of Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions, issued in June 2009.

Introduction

Prudential Supervision of ADIs

- 6. Under the Banking Act, APRA is responsible for the prudential supervision and monitoring of prudential matters relating to ADIs, authorised non-operating holding companies (authorised NOHCs)⁵, and groups of bodies corporate which are their subsidiaries, in order to protect the interests of depositors of the ADIs and to promote financial system stability in Australia.
- 7. APRA formulates, promulgates and enforces prudential policy and practice through APRA Prudential Standards (APSs), which have the force of law. APRA may also issue nonenforceable Prudential Practice Guides (APGs) and other guidelines, to assist ADIs in complying with the requirements in its Prudential Standards and, more generally, to outline prudent practices in relation to certain elements of an ADI's operations.
- Prudentially regulated institutions, which includes ADIs, are required, under the FSCODA and 8. Reporting Standards made under the FSCODA, to submit data to APRA as defined in APRA Reporting Forms and accompanying instructions. Some Reporting Forms are subject to assurance requirements.
- 9. The appointed auditor of an ADI and/or an ADI group has an important role to play in the prudential supervision process. Requirements for appointed auditors of ADIs and/or ADI groups to provide assurance reports on prudential matters to APRA are intended to assist APRA in assessing the reliability of information supplied to it by an ADI and/or an ADI group.

Economic and Financial Statistics (EFS) Collection

- 10. APRA also collects EFS data on behalf of the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) and the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) (together, referred to as "the Agencies"), from ADIs and certain non-regulated corporations required to be registered under the FSCODA⁸.
- 11. EFS data is used by the Agencies for various purposes, including analysis, policy-making, compilation of key macroeconomic indicators for Australia, and as input to the national accounts to meet Australia's international reporting obligations. This data may also be used by APRA for prudential purposes to promote financial system stability in Australia.
- The FSCODA defines which categories of entities are registrable and also facilitates the 12. collection of EFS data. Under the FSCODA, certain non-ADI lenders whose business activities in Australia includes the "provision of finance", or have been identified either individually or as a class of corporation specified by APRA, are required to be registered with APRA and to comply with requirements to submit EFS data to APRA.

[&]quot;Authorised non-operating holding company" is defined in APS 001 to have the same meaning as under section 5 of the Banking Act. Access to APRA Prudential Standards, Prudential Practice Guides and legislation relevant to ADIs is available on APRA's website

⁽www.apra.gov.au).

Refer to APS 310 Attachment A – Data Collections subject to reasonable and/or limited assurance.

Refer to Section 7 of the FSCODA for categories of corporations subject to registration under the Act. Examples of Registered Financial Corporations include certain automotive financiers, mortgage securitisers, asset financing companies and pawnbrokers.

Refer to Section 32 of the FSCODA for explanation of the expression "provision of finance".

- 13. EFS reporting requirements will depend on the size of an ADI or RFC. Based on thresholds included in APRA's individual EFS Reporting Standards, larger ADIs and RFCs are required to report more detailed information, while smaller entities report less detailed information or do not report at all.
- 14. RRS 710.0 implements an assurance framework similar to that of APS 310/3PS 310 to RFCs. 10

Financial Claims Scheme (FCS)

15. The FCS for ADIs was put in place to protect the account-holders of locally incorporated ADIs from loss on their deposits, and to provide them with timely access to those deposits, in the event of an ADI becoming insolvent, up to a maximum amount guaranteed by the Australian Government. APRA is responsible for the administration of the FCS and for making payments to account-holders. ¹¹

Scope of APRA Prudential Reporting Engagements

- 16. The audit [and review] of financial reports under the *Corporations Act* 2001 (Corporations Act) (where required) is directed towards obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence to form an opinion or conclusion, as applicable, on whether the financial report is presented fairly in accordance with the required financial reporting framework. The financial report audit [and review] is not designed to enable the appointed auditor to conclude in relation to the matters specified in APS 310, 3PS 310 and APS 910.
- 17. Prudential reporting requirements, imposed on the appointed auditor via the terms of engagement with an ADI, are in addition to the audit [and review] of financial reports required under the Corporations Act.
- 18. APS 310, 3PS 310 and APS 910 provide for two types of prudential reporting engagements to be conducted by the appointed auditor of an ADI and/or ADI group, namely:
 - (a) annual prudential reporting engagements (routine reporting) see paragraphs 48-57 of this Guidance Statement; and
 - (b) special purpose engagements see paragraphs 292-301 of this Guidance Statement.
- 19. APRA Prudential Standards may include further requirements for 'independent' assurance engagements to be undertaken in relation to specific prudential matters. The appointed auditor of an ADI and/or ADI group may be engaged to undertake engagements of this type.

These requirements for independent assurance engagements are additional, and separate, to the APS 310, 3PS 310 and APS 910 annual prudential reporting requirements, and fall outside the scope of this Guidance Statement.

Responsibilities of the Appointed Auditor

- 20. The responsibilities of the appointed auditor of an ADI and/or ADI group are contained in:
 - (a) APS 310, 3PS 310 and APS 910;

Refer to RRS 710.0 for the role, responsibilities and reporting requirements applicable to appointed auditors of RFCs.

See paragraphs 41-43 of this Guidance Statement.

To be undertaken by a party or parties who are independent within the meaning of the relevant APRA Prudential Standards. Refer to CPS 510 *Governance* (CPS 510).

For example, the periodic comprehensive review of an APRA regulated institution's risk management framework under CPS 220 *Risk Management*. Also see paragraph 209 of this Guidance Statement.

- (b) other applicable APRA Prudential Requirements¹⁴, including the Banking Act, the FSCODA, and APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards;
- (c) applicable AUASB Standards; and
- (d) relevant ethical and professional standards. 15

(For an outline of the relevant reporting requirements applicable to the appointed auditor of an ADI and/or ADI group reporting pursuant to APS 310, 3PS 310 and APS 910, refer to the table in Appendix 1 to this Guidance Statement, entitled *Outline of Auditor's Reporting Requirements, Levels of Assurance, Subject Matter, Evaluation Criteria and Applicable AUASB Standards.*)

- 21. In addition to the legislative and regulatory requirements imposed on appointed auditors, relevant AUASB Standards are applicable to assurance engagements under prudential standards:
 - (a) Applicable Auditing Standards (ASAs), adapted as necessary in the circumstances of the engagement when conducting a reasonable assurance engagement on historical financial information.
 - In applying Australian Auditing Standards to the engagement, the auditor has regard to any special considerations identified in ASA 805 Special considerations Audits of single financial Statements and Specific Elements, Accounts or Items of a financial Statement, that may be relevant to the engagement.
 - (b) Standard on Review Engagements (ASRE) ASRE 2405 *Review of Historical Financial Information Other than a Financial Report* (ASRE 2405) when conducting a limited assurance engagement on historical financial information.
 - (c) Standard on Assurance Engagements (ASAE) ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information (ASAE 3000) when conducting assurance engagements on subject matters other than historical financial information.
 - (d) ASAE 3450 Assurance Engagements involving Corporate Fundraisings and/or Prospective Financial Information (ASAE 3450) when conducting assurance engagements in relation to prospective financial information such as forecasts or projections.
 - (e) ASAE 3150 Assurance Engagements on Controls (ASAE 3150) when conducting assurance engagements in relation to internal controls.

(For an outline of the relevant AUASB Standards applicable to each part of the prudential assurance engagement, refer to Appendix 1 of this Guidance Statement.)

- 22. This Guidance Statement is to be read in conjunction with, and is not a substitute for referring to, the requirements and application and other explanatory material contained in AUASB Standards applicable to the prudential assurance engagement.
- 23. APRA places reliance on accounting and auditing standards to the extent that they do not conflict with Prudential Requirements applicable to the ADI. APS 310 and 3PS 310 requires appointed auditors, in meeting their role and responsibilities, to comply with the Auditing Standards and Guidance Statements issued by the AUASB, except where:

_

See paragraph 28(q) of this Guidance Statement.

¹⁵ See ASA 102 Compliance with Ethical Requirements when Performing Audits, Reviews and Other Assurance Engagements.

- requirements are inconsistent, in which case the requirements of APS 310 and (a) 3PS 310 will prevail; or
- APRA otherwise specifies, in writing, to the ADI that alternative standards and (b) guidance are to be used by the appointed auditor.
- 24. It is important that the appointed auditor of an ADI and/or ADI group recognises the additional responsibilities under sections 16B, 16BA and 16C of the Banking Act, imposed on any auditor of an ADI, an authorised NOHC, or their subsidiaries, to provide information to APRA upon request, or where the auditor possesses reportable information specified in that Act, or where the auditor considers that the provision of information would assist APRA in performing its functions under the Banking Act or the FSCODA. 10
- Under section 70B of the Banking Act, Banking Act provisions will take precedence over any conflicting Corporations Act provisions. Therefore, any provisions made under the Banking 25. Act governing auditor reporting to APRA will override any conflicting Corporations Act provisions which may apply to such reporting.
- 26. The use by ADIs and APRA of assurance reports prepared by appointed auditors need to be evaluated in the context of the inherent limitations of an assurance engagement and the subject matter of the engagement.¹⁷
- 27. Both APS 310 and 3PS 310 warn that all persons involved in the provision of information (which includes the appointed auditor) are to note that it is an offence under subsections 137.1 and 137.2 of the Criminal Code Act 1995 to provide, whether directly or indirectly, false and misleading information to a Commonwealth entity, such as APRA.

Definitions

- 28. For the purpose of this Guidance Statement, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:
 - 'Authorised Deposit-taking Institution' (ADI) is defined in APS 001, to mean a body (a) corporate authorised under section 9 of the Banking Act, to carry on banking business in Âustralia.1

Reference in this Guidance Statement to an "ADI" will be taken, unless otherwise indicated, to include:

- a "locally incorporated ADI"; (i)
- a "foreign ADI"; and (ii)
- an "extended licenced entity". 19 (iii)
- 'Appointed auditor' means an independent auditor appointed by: (b)
 - (i) an ADI as an auditor for the purposes of APS 310 and APS 910; and
 - a Level 3 head as group auditor for the purposes of 3PS 310. (ii)

APS 310 and APS 910 allows for the appointed auditor to be the same auditor who audits an ADI for the purposes of the Corporations Act. Similarly, 3PS 310 allows for

Refer to sections 16B, 16BA and 16C of the Banking Act. Also see paragraphs 302-307 of this Guidance Statement.

See paragraphs 259-263 of this Guidance Statement.

ADI's may include, but are not limited to: Australian owned banks, locally incorporated ADI subsidiaries of foreign banks, branches of foreign banks, building societies, credit unions and providers of purchased payment facilities. "locally incorporated ADI", "foreign ADI" and "extended licenced entity" are defined in APS 001.

the Level 3 group auditor to be the same auditor who audits a Level 3 head for the purposes of the Corporations Act.

Under APS 310 and 3PS 310 separate auditors may be appointed to meet the APS 310 and 3PS 310 reporting requirements on a Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 basis, and to undertake the different types of engagements provided for in these standards. APRA may also require that an ADI appoint another auditor, in addition to any auditor already appointed by the ADI, for the purposes of APS 310 and 3PS 310.

Therefore, it is possible for an ADI and ADI group to have more than one appointed auditor at any time, and for an APS 310/3PS 310 appointed auditor to be different from the auditor responsible for undertaking the financial report audit [and review] under the Corporations Act.

Where the Banking Act refers to "the auditor" of an ADI, this can be an auditor appointed for the purposes of APS 310 and/or 3PS 310, or another auditor, such as the auditor responsible for the audit [and review] of financial reports required under the Corporations Act.

Refer to APS 310 and 3PS 310 for further information on the use of group auditors, where the ADI is a member of a group.

(c) 'Accounting records' is defined in the AUASB Glossary as including "the records of initial accounting entries and supporting records, such as cheques and records of electronic fund transfers, invoices, contracts, the general and subsidiary ledgers, journal entries and other adjustments to the financial report that are not reflected in journal entries, and records such as work sheets and spreadsheets supporting cost allocations, computations, reconciliations and disclosures."

For guidance on the application of the definition of "accounting records" to the assurance engagement, refer to paragraphs 148-156 of this Guidance Statement.

(d) 'Advanced ADI', means an ADI that has APRA's approval to use an internal ratings-based approach to credit risk and/or an advanced measurement approach to operational risk, available under APRA Prudential Standards, for capital adequacy purposes.²⁰

ADIs choosing to adopt the advanced measurement approaches for the purpose of determining the ADI's regulatory capital, require prior approval from APRA (APRA accreditation). Under the advanced approaches for measuring capital adequacy, an ADI is permitted to use its own quantitative risk estimates in calculating regulatory capital. This involves a greater use of internal modelling and other forms of statistical analysis, as well as qualitative assessment.

- (e) 'Authorised non-operating holding company' (authorised NOHC), is defined in APS 001 to have the same meaning as under section 5 of the Banking Act.
- (f) 'ADI Reporting Form' (or Data Collection Form), means a form used for the collection and reporting of information in relation to an ADI, as required to be provided to APRA by an ADI in accordance with APRA Reporting Standards made under the FSCODA.
- (g) 'Controls' or 'internal controls', as used in this Guidance Statement, is defined in ASAE 3150 and generally encompasses the following components:

_

For example, refer to APRA Prudential Standards APS 110 Capital Adequacy, APS 113 Capital Adequacy: Internal Ratings-based Approach to Credit Risk and APS 115 Capital Adequacy: Advanced Measurement Approaches to Operational Risk.

- (a) the control environment;
- (b) the ADI's risk assessment process;
- (c) the information system, including the related business processes, relevant to financial and prudential reporting, and communication;
- (d) control activities; and
- (e) monitoring of controls.
- (h) 'Economic and Financial Statistics (EFS) Collection', is defined in APRA Reporting Standard ARS 701.0 *ABS/RBA Definitions for the EFS Collection*, and comprises the EFS Reporting Standards and data collected under the EFS Reporting Standards.
- (i) 'Foreign ADI', is defined in APS 001 to have the same meaning as under section 5 of the Banking Act. The terms "branch of a foreign bank" and "branch of a foreign ADI" are also used in APRA Reporting Standards and Reporting Forms when referring to a "foreign ADI" and refers to the foreign ADI's Australian operations as if it was a stand-alone ADI.
 - Reference to a foreign ADI does not capture locally incorporated ADI subsidiaries of foreign banks, that is, a "foreign-owned ADI". ²¹
- (j) 'Group', is defined in APS 001 as reference to a corporate group that comprises of more than one company that are related bodies corporate within the meaning of section 50 of the Corporations Act.
- (k) 'Head of the group', means the head or parent entity of a Level 2 or Level 3 group, as relevant. Where a Level 2 group operates within a Level 3 group, a requirement expressed as applying to the head of the group, is to be read as applying to the "Level 3 head".
- (1) 'Level 1' ADI, means the ADI itself, as defined in APS 001 (see definition above).
- (m) 'Level 2' ADI group, means the entities that comprise "Level 2", as defined in APS 001.
- (n) 'Level 3' group, as defined in APS 001 and 3PS 001, means the conglomerate group at the widest level and include all institutions determined by APRA to be members of a Level 3 group.

APRA may determine a Level 3 group where it considers that material activities are performed within the group across more than one prudentially regulated industry and/or in one or more non-prudentially regulated industries, to ensure that the ability of the group's prudentially regulated institutions to meet their obligations to depositors, policy holders or registrable superannuation entity beneficiaries is not adversely impacted by risks emanating from the group, including its non-prudentially regulated institutions.

Generally, a conglomerate group will be headed by an ADI or an authorised NOHC and may include financial (APRA regulated²² and unregulated) as well as non-financial (commercial) entities.

APS 001 defines a "foreign-owned ADI" to mean an ADI in relation to which an approval has been given, under section 14 of the *Financial Sector (Shareholdings) Act 1998*, for a bank that is not locally incorporated to hold a stake of more than 15 per cent in the ADI.

Entity directly regulated by APRA or by an equivalent regulator overseas.

Attachment A to APS 001 provides further information to inform the auditor's understanding of what constitutes a conglomerate group for the purposes of reporting pursuant to APS 310 and 3PS 310.

- 'Level 3 head', is defined in 3PS 001 to mean: (0)
 - an ADI or authorised NOHC under the Banking Act; (i)
 - a general insurer or authorised NOHC under the Insurance Act; or (ii)
 - (iii) a life company or registered NOHC under the Life Insurance Act, determined by APRA to be the head of a Level 3 group.
- (p) 'Limited assurance', is defined in APS 001, in accordance with the AUASB's Framework for Assurance Engagements.
- 'Prudential Requirements' 23, is defined in APS 001 and includes requirements (q) imposed by:
 - (i) the Banking Act;
 - (ii) Regulations (made under the Banking Act);
 - APRA Prudential Standards (made under the Banking Act); (iii)
 - the FSCODA: (iv)
 - APRA Reporting Standards (made under the FSCODA); (v)
 - (vi) APRA conditions on the ADI's authorisation; and
 - any other requirements imposed by APRA, in writing, in relation to an ADI. (vii)
- 'Reasonable assurance', is defined in APS 001, in accordance with the AUASB's (r) Framework for Assurance Engagements.
- 'Routine reporting', refers to the appointed auditor's responsibility under APS 310, (s) 3PS 310 and APS 910 to report to APRA and the ADI and/or Level 3 head, on an annual basis, in relation to the matters identified in paragraphs 48-57 of this Guidance Statement.
- 'Specified ADI Reporting Forms', means APRA ADI Reporting Forms listed in (t) APS 310 Attachment A – Data Collections subject to reasonable and/or limited assurance.²
- 'Standardised ADI', means an ADI that uses the standardised measurement (u) approaches, available under APRA Prudential Standards, for capital adequacy purposes in respect of the whole of its operations. See also paragraph 28(d) above.

Tripartite Relationship

29. APRA liaison with an appointed auditor is conducted normally under tripartite arrangements involving APRA, the ADI and/or head of the group, and its appointed auditor(s). Any one of these parties may initiate meetings or discussions at any time, when considered necessary.²

See APS 310 and 3PS 310.

These requirements may differ between locally incorporated and foreign ADIs.

The requirements are different for Standardised, Advanced and Foreign ADIs.

- 30. In the normal course, regular tripartite meetings are held to discuss the appointed auditor's annual prudential assurance report(s), prepared pursuant to APS 310 and/or 3PS 310.
- 31. Notwithstanding the tripartite relationship, APRA and the appointed auditor may meet, at any time, on a bilateral basis at the request of either party. APRA may communicate with an auditor of an ADI and/or ADI group on a bilateral basis to obtain or discuss information for whatever reason(s) it considers appropriate
- 32. Under APRA's Prudential Standard CPS 510 *Governance* (CPS 510), an APRA-regulated entity is required to ensure that its internal policy and contractual arrangements do not explicitly or implicitly restrict or discourage auditors or other parties from communicating with APRA.

Responsibilities of the ADI

Governance

- 33. CPS 510 sets out the minimum requirements that any APRA-regulated institution and the head²⁶ of a group must meet in order to promote strong and effective governance.
- 34. Under CPS 510, ultimate responsibility for oversight of the sound and prudent management of an APRA-regulated institution lies with its board of directors (Board), or equivalent.²⁷ For an ADI group, this responsibility will rest with the Board (or equivalent) of the head of the group.

Risk Management

- 35. Under APRA's Prudential Standard CPS 220 *Risk Management*, it is the responsibility of the Board and management of an ADI and the head of an ADI group to ensure that, respectively, the ADI and ADI group has prudent risk management practices.
- 36. CPS 220 requires an ADI and/or the head of an ADI group to maintain a Risk Management Framework (RMF) appropriate to the size, business mix and complexity of the ADI and/or ADI group, as applicable, to ensure the ADI and the ADI group manage risks arising from its business and continue to meet its obligations to depositors. The Board of an ADI is ultimately responsible for the ADI's RMF and for oversight of its operation by management, in accordance with the requirements of CPS 220.
 - Refer to CPS 220 for further information on the key elements to be included in an ADI's and/or ADI group's RMF, including requirements regarding the use of group risk management where an ADI is part of an ADI group.
- 37. An ADI or head of an ADI group is required to submit to APRA an annual Risk Management Declaration in accordance with requirements set out in CPS 220 and Attachment A to CPS 220.
- 38. CPS 220 requires an ADI and/or head of an ADI group to notify APRA when it becomes aware of a significant breach of, or material deviation from its RMF, or that the RMF does not adequately address a material risk, as well as any material or prospective material changes to the size, business mix and complexity of its operations.

Responsibility to Appoint Independent Auditor

39. Under APS 310 and 3PS 310, an ADI and/or head of an ADI group is required to appoint, as appropriate, an auditor(s) and/or group auditor(s) to meet the prudential reporting requirements under APS 310, 3PS 310 and APS 910, as applicable. APS 310 sets out the

For example, for a foreign ADI, it will refer to a senior officer outside Australia to whom authority has been delegated in accordance with CPS 510, for overseeing the Australian operations.

GS 012

²⁶ CPS 510 clarifies that, where a Level 2 group operates within a Level 3 group, a requirement expressed as applying to a head of a group is to be read as applying to the Level 3 head.

eligibility criteria for the appointment of a Level 1 (the ADI) and Level 2 (the ADI group) auditor as well as the permitted use of group auditors where an ADI is a member of a Level 2 ADI group. 3PS 310 sets out the requirements in relation to the appointment of auditors for a Level 3 group.

- 40. APS 310 and 3PS 310 require an ADI and/or head of an ADI group to:
 - (a) ensure its auditor satisfies the requirements of APS 310 and/or 3PS 310;²⁸
 - (b) set out the terms of the engagement, including matters identified in APS 310 and/or 3PS 310, in a legally binding contract with its appointed auditor and to ensure the auditor complies with these terms; and
 - (c) ensure its auditor undertakes the roles and responsibilities as specified in APS 310 and 3PS 310, as relevant.

Financial Claims Scheme

- 41. APRA issued APS 910 to assist ADIs to comply with the requirements of the FCS. It applies to all ADIs except for foreign ADIs and providers of purchased payment facilities.
- 42. Under APS 910, ADIs subject to APS 910 are required to implement systems and processes that allow it, to the extent practicable, to identify protected accounts for each account-holder, generate an aggregated view ("single customer view") of each account-holder identified, and meet reporting, communications, testing and assurance requirements, which will enable APRA to pay out account-holders of the ADI in a timely and effective manner in the event of an ADI being declared subject to the FCS. ²⁹
- 43. Under APS 910, the Board and senior management of an ADI are responsible for ensuring that appropriate policies and procedures are in place to ensure the integrity of the operations, internal controls and information required under APS 910. This includes, but is not limited to:
 - (a) ensuring that the systems and data required by APS 910 are subjected to an independent limited assurance engagement, in accordance with the requirements stipulated in APS 910, and that this assurance be provided at the same time as the assurance required by APS 310, unless otherwise agreed by APRA; and
 - (b) providing an attestation from the Chief Executive Officer in accordance with the requirements stipulated in APS 910.

Responsibility to keep Auditor Informed

- 44. Under APS 310 and 3PS 310, the ADI and/or head of the ADI group is required to ensure that its appointed auditor(s) is kept fully informed, including ensuring that the auditor:
 - (a) has access to all data, information, reports and staff of the ADI and/or ADI group, which the appointed auditor reasonably believes is necessary to fulfil its role and responsibilities under APS 310 and/or 3PS 310. This includes, access to the Board and Board Committees of the ADI and head of the ADI group, internal auditors of the ADI and/or the ADI group, and auditors of entities in the group, as required;
 - (b) is kept fully informed of all Prudential Requirements applicable to the ADI and/or head of the ADI group; and

²⁸ See paragraph 46 of this Guidance Statement.

²⁹ Refer to Prudential Standard APS 910 *Financial Claims Scheme* for all APRA's requirements in this regard. Further information on the Financial Claims Scheme, and its implementation in Australia, is available on APRA's website at www.apra.gov.au.

- is provided with any other information that APRA has provided to the ADI and/or head (c) of the ADI group that may assist the appointed auditor in fulfilling its role and responsibilities under APS 310 and/or 3PS 310.
- 45. In relation to the ADI's and/or ADI group's responsibility to keep the auditor informed, the auditor includes these responsibilities clearly in the engagement letter and also requests management of the ADI and/or ADI group to sign an appropriate representation letter(s). 30

Role and Responsibilities of the Appointed Auditor

Those Who May Conduct the Assurance Engagement

- 46. APS 310 and 3PS 310 require an ADI and/or the head of the ADI group, as applicable, to ensure its auditor:
 - (a) satisfies the fitness and propriety requirements set out in Prudential Standard CPS 520 Fit and Proper;
 - (b) satisfies the auditor independence requirements in CPS 510; and
 - is not subject to a direction issued under the Banking Act. (c)

As such, the auditor will need to provide information to the entity to enable the ADI and/or head of the ADI group to comply with requirements.

Annual Prudential Reporting Requirements (Routine Reporting)

47. For an outline of the relevant reporting requirements applicable to the appointed auditor of an ADI and/or ADI group reporting pursuant to APS 310, 3PS 310 and APS 910, refer to the table in Appendix 1 to this Guidance Statement, entitled Outline of Auditor's Reporting Requirements, Levels of Assurance, Subject Matter, Evaluation Criteria and Applicable AUASB Standards.

Prudential Standards APS 310 and 3PS 310³¹

- Under APS 310 and 3PS 310³², the appointed auditor of an ADI and/or group auditor of an 48. ADI group is required to report simultaneously to APRA and the Board (or Board Audit Committee) of the ADI and/or head of the ADI group, as appropriate, ³³ within three months³⁴ of the end of the financial year, in relation to the following matters³⁵:
 - Assurance on Specified³⁶ ADI Reporting Forms at the financial year-end: (a)
 - Reporting Forms with Data Sourced from Accounting Records (i)

The appointed auditor is required to provide reasonable assurance that the information included in the Specified ADI Reporting Forms at the financial year-end, sourced from accounting records, is reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards;

See paragraphs 264-266 of this Guidance Statement.

Refer to APS 310 and 3PS 310 for detail requirements.

See APS 310, paragraphs 35-36 and 3PS 310, paragraphs 26-27.

Or, for a foreign ADI, a senior officer outside Australia to whom authority has been delegated in accordance with CPS 510, for overseeing the Australian operations.

For a non-disclosing ADI, the relevant period is four months.

Subject to paragraph 51 of this Guidance Statement.

For a listing of APRA Reporting Forms to be subjected to the assurance engagement, refer to APRA Prudential Standard APS 310 Attachment A – Data Collections subject to reasonable and/or limited assurance. The requirements are different for Standardised, Advanced and Foreign ADIs.

(ii) Reporting Forms with Data Sourced from Non-Accounting Records

Unless otherwise indicated, in writing, by APRA, the appointed auditor is required to provide *limited assurance* that the information, included in the Specified ADI Reporting Forms at the financial year-end, sourced from non-accounting records, is reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards;

(iii) Reporting Forms with Data Sourced from a Combination of Accounting and Non-Accounting Records

Unless otherwise indicated, in writing, by APRA, the appointed auditor is required to provide *reasonable assurance* on information sourced from accounting records, and *limited assurance* that information sourced from non-accounting records, at the financial year-end, is reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.

(b) Limited Assurance on Internal Controls addressing Compliance with Prudential Requirements and the Reliability of Data included in ADI Reporting Forms

The appointed auditor is required to provide limited assurance that:

- (i) the ADI and/or head of ADI group has implemented internal controls that are designed to ensure the ADI and/or head of the ADI group, as relevant, has:
 - a. complied with *all* applicable Prudential Requirements; and
 - b. provided reliable data to APRA in the Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA; and
- (ii) the controls in paragraph (b)(i) have operated effectively throughout the financial year.
- (c) Limited Assurance on Compliance with Prudential Requirements

The appointed auditor is required to provide limited assurance, based on the appointed auditor's work under (a) and (b) above³⁷, that the ADI and/or the head of the ADI group, as relevant, has complied with all relevant Prudential Requirements under the Banking Act and the FSCODA, including compliance with APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards, during the financial year.³⁸

- 49. 3PS 310 requires that reports, assessments and other material required under this standard make it clear where the auditor is referring to matters relating to the Level 3 head or the Level 3 group.
- 50. Under APS 310 and 3PS 310, it is the responsibility of the appointed auditor, as provided for in the required terms of engagement, to submit directly to APRA:
 - (a) all reports required to be produced under APS 310 and 3PS 310; and
 - (b) all assessments and other material associated with these reports, if requested by APRA.
- 51. Ordinarily, matters reported to APRA under paragraph 50 are also reported to the ADI and/or head of the ADI group to which the matter relates. However, APS 310 and 3PS 310

Refer also to section 16BA of the Banking Act which requires the auditor to immediately notify APRA of certain matters, and to notify APRA as soon as is practicable about certain other matters.

_

APS 310 and 3PS 310 do not include a requirement for the appointed auditor to carry out additional work to satisfy the auditor with respect to this requirement to report on compliance with relevant Prudential Requirements.

specifically prohibit the appointed auditor from notifying the ADI and/or head of the ADI group of, or from providing the ADI and/or head of the ADI group with, the documents referred to in paragraph 50, where:

- the appointed auditor considers that by doing so the interests of depositors of the ADI (a) or ADIs within the group would be jeopardised; or
- there is a situation of mistrust between the appointed auditor and the Board of the ADI (b) and/or head of the ADI group, or senior management of the ADI or ADI group.
- 52. In accordance with APS 310 and 3PS 310, an appointed auditor, whether as part of routine or special purpose engagements, must not place sole reliance on the work performed by APRA.
- The appointed auditor of an ADI is required to attend all meetings with APRA related to 53. APS 310 and 3PS 310, whether on a bilateral, tripartite or other basis, unless APRA indicates otherwise in writing.

Prudential Standard APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme

- APS 910³⁹ requires the appointed auditor, in accordance with APS 310, to provide limited 54. assurance that:
 - the ADI⁴⁰ has controls that are designed to ensure that Single Customer View (SCV) (a) data as set out in APS 910 Attachment A, to the extent practicable, and FCS payment instruction and reporting information can be relied upon as being complete and accurate and in accordance with APS 910; and
 - (b) these controls have operated effectively when tested.
- APS 910 requirements are in addition to the APS 310 requirement for appointed auditors to 55. perform a limited assurance engagement on controls implemented by the ADI to ensure compliance with all prudential requirements (which includes compliance with APS 910).
- Generally, the APS 910 assurance engagement will be undertaken as part of the annual APS 310 assurance engagement on controls. APRA has indicated⁴¹ that, in circumstances 56. where the APS 310/3PS 310 appointed auditor may not be in a position to undertake the APS 910 engagement, a different auditor from the same or a different audit firm will be able to carry out the APS 910 engagement, in accordance with the requirements of applicable AUASB Standards.42
- 57. APRA requires the timing of the APS 910 assurance engagement to be aligned with the annual APS 310 assurance engagement. A separate assurance report for the APS 910 engagement is preferred, but the requirement is that this report be submitted to APRA at the same time as the APS 310 prudential assurance report.

Agreeing the Terms of the Annual Prudential Reporting Engagement(s)

The requirement to report pursuant to APRA's annual prudential reporting requirements, is in 58. addition to the audit [and review] of financial reports required under the Corporations Act, and is to be treated by the appointed auditor as a separate engagement.

APS 910 does not apply to foreign ADIs and providers of purchased payment facilities.

Refer to APRA's website: https://www.apra.gov.au/financial-claims-scheme-frequently-asked-technical-questions-for-authorised-deposit-taking, under section 2 **Audit and attestation (Questions 2.1 and 2.3, June 2014). See paragraph 142 of this Guidance Statement.

- 59. The appointed auditor accepts the prudential reporting engagement only when satisfied that relevant ethical requirements relating to the assurance engagement have been met. The concept of independence is important to the appointed auditor's compliance with the fundamental ethical principles of integrity and objectivity and the auditor is required to meet the independence requirements stipulated under both CPS 510 and Auditing Standard ASA 102⁴³. Furthermore, the auditor needs to satisfy the fitness and propriety requirements specified in CPS 520.
- 60. The appointed auditor and the ADI and/or head of the ADI group, as applicable, agree on the terms of the engagement for each discrete part of the assurance engagement, in accordance with the requirements contained in AUASB standards ASA 210⁴⁴, ASAE 3000, ASAE 3150, ASAE 3450 and ASRE 2405. These arrangements have to be legally binding and include the required terms of engagement specified in APS 310/3PS 310.
- 61. An engagement letter⁴⁵ confirms both the client's and the appointed auditor's understanding of the terms of the engagement, helping to avoid misunderstanding, and the appointed auditor's acceptance of the appointment. Both parties sign the engagement letter to acknowledge that it is a legally binding contract.
- 62. The auditor may also use the engagement letter to clarify the respective roles of the ADI and/or the head of the ADI group, as appropriate, and the auditor. In particular, it is important to highlight in the engagement letter the entity's responsibility to establish and maintain effective internal control to ensure compliance with Prudential Requirements and to ensure the reliability of data included in ADI Reporting Forms. As part of the acceptance of the prudential assurance engagement, the auditor may consider obtaining acknowledgement of this obligation from those charged with governance of the ADI and/or ADI group when obtaining agreement on the terms of the engagement.
- 63. For recurring engagements, the appointed auditor considers whether circumstances require the terms of the engagement to be revised and whether there is a need to re-confirm in writing the existing terms of the engagement. While the appointed auditor may decide not to re-confirm the terms of engagement each year, factors that may make it appropriate to do so include a recent change of senior management or those charged with governance, or any indication that the entity misunderstands the objectives and scope of the prudential reporting engagements.
- 64. APS 910 identifies additional requirements for ADIs and their appointed auditors, including a requirement for auditors to perform a limited assurance engagement on the ADI's controls in relation to the SCV data and FCS payment instruction and reporting information. These requirements are in addition to the APS 310/3PS 310 requirement for auditors to perform a limited assurance engagement on controls implemented by the ADI to ensure compliance with all prudential requirements (which includes compliance with APS 910). The auditor may use the engagement letter to clarify the respective roles of the ADI and the appointed auditor. In particular, it is important to highlight the entity's responsibility for ensuring the integrity of the operations, internal controls and information required under APS 910.
- 65. The engagement letter explains that any special purpose engagement of any aspect of the ADI's business operations, prudential reporting, risk management systems or financial position, will constitute a separate engagement(s) and that the details of such engagement(s) will be the subject of a separate engagement letter(s). 46
- 66. The engagement letter furthermore clarifies that, in accordance with CPS 510, the appointed auditor is not to be a party to any contractual arrangements, or any understandings with an ADI, that seeks in any way to limit the auditor's ability or willingness to communicate to APRA. APRA may liaise bilaterally with an appointed auditor and may, although not usually,

⁴³ ASA 102 Compliance with Ethical Requirements when Performing Audits, Reviews and Other Assurance Engagements.

⁴⁴ ASA 210 Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements.

⁴⁵ Or other suitable form of written agreement.

⁴⁶ See paragraphs 292-301 of this Guidance Statement.

- request information directly from the appointed auditor. The appointed auditor notifies APRA of any attempts by an ADI to achieve such arrangements or understandings.
- 67. Refer to Appendix 2 of this Guidance Statement for an example engagement letter that reflects APRA reporting requirements as per APS 310 and APS 910. This letter includes examples of matters typically included in the engagement letter.

Matters to Consider in Planning the Annual Prudential Reporting Engagement(s)

- 68. The auditor plans the engagement in accordance with the requirements of, and has regard to, guidance provided in AUASB standards ASA 805, ASA 300⁴⁷ (as adapted), ASAE 3000, ASAE 3150, ASAE 3450 and ASRE 2405, as applicable. The auditor performs preliminary engagement activities to establish and document the overall assurance engagement strategy that sets the scope, timing and direction of the engagement, and guides the development of the engagement.
- 69. The appointed auditor obtains an understanding of the entity and its environment, including its internal control and compliance framework, and other assurance engagement circumstances, sufficient to:
 - (a) identify and assess the risks of:
 - (i) material misstatements in subject matter information;
 - (ii) material deficiencies or deviations in internal controls (in relation to the area of activity to be examined); and
 - (iii) non-compliance with applicable Prudential Requirements; and
 - (b) design and perform further evidence-gathering procedures.

Understanding the Entity and its Environment

- 70. In gaining an understanding of the entity and its environment, the appointed auditor can draw on knowledge gained as part of the annual financial statement audit conducted under the Corporations Act. However, this understanding needs to be updated and broadened to address the subject matters included in the scope of the prudential reporting assurance engagement, such as the controls in place to ensure compliance with all applicable prudential standards which are not otherwise considered as part of the annual financial statements audit.
- 71. AUASB standards ASA 315⁴⁸ (as adapted), ASAE 3000, ASAE 3150 and ASAE 3450 provide examples of matters that may be considered, and procedures that may be performed, by the auditor in gaining this understanding. The auditor exercises professional judgement to determine the nature and extent of the understanding that is required.
- 72. When performing procedures to obtain an understanding of the entity and its environment, consideration of the following matters may be helpful:
 - The size, business mix and complexity of the ADI or the ADI group it heads.
 - Changes in the market environment.
 - Whether the ADI is an Advanced or Standardised ADI.

⁴⁷ ASA 300 Planning an Audit of a Financial Report.

⁴⁸ See paragraphs 19-27 of ASA 315 *Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement*, issued in February 2020. This standard is operative for financial reporting periods commencing on or after 15 December 2021, with early adoption permitted.

- Whether the ADI is a foreign ADI.
- Governance and management functions within the ADI, including the respective roles and responsibilities attributed to the finance, risk management (including data risk management), compliance and internal audit functions.
- The risk culture.
- The reliability of reporting systems.
- The significance and complexity of the information technology environment and systems.
- The adequacy of systems and controls to identify, assess, manage, mitigate and monitor material risks.
- The compliance framework, processes and controls.
- History of non-compliance.
- Any (formal) communications between APRA and the ADI and/or the head of the ADI group, and the results of any supervisory visits conducted by APRA in relation to the engagement.
- Previous auditor's reports, including the auditor's report on the financial report, and related management letters.
- Recent reports prepared by other auditors appointed to report on any aspect of the ADI and/or the ADI group, including any reports issued in relation to the review of the RMF in accordance with CPS 220 requirements.
- The estimation and uncertainty inherent in applied measurement methodologies.
- Any bias inherent in adopted measurement methodologies.
- Work performed by the internal audit and compliance functions, and any reliance that may be placed on this work.
- Discussions with entity staff responsible for monitoring regulatory compliance, such as the ADI's Chief Risk Officer and Compliance Officer.
- The auditor's additional reporting responsibilities under the Banking Act.⁴⁹
- Changes since the last reporting period to:
 - (i) the requirements of relevant AUASB Standards; and
 - (ii) applicable Prudential Requirements.
- 73. In identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement, the auditor may need to consider the use of accounting estimates in the calculation of, for example, the ADI's Prudential Capital Requirement (PCR)⁵⁰, in accordance with the requirements and having regard to guidance provided in Auditing Standard ASA 540 *Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures*. The nature, timing and extent of the risk assessment and further assurance procedures required by ASA 540 will vary in relation to the estimation uncertainty and the assessment of the related risks of material misstatement. ASA 540 may prove helpful in evaluating misstatements of accounting estimates and in identifying possible management

4

See paragraphs 302-307 of this Guidance Statement.

⁵⁰ As prescribed in APRA Prudential Standard APS 110 Capital Adequacy.

bias. Whilst ASA 540 is primarily directed at the audit of accounting estimates, the auditor uses professional judgement in considering the applicability of ASA 540 to non-accounting estimates, such as non-financial data included in ADI Reporting Forms which may be subject to limited assurance.

Internal Controls and Compliance Framework

- 74. The auditor obtains an understanding of the entity's internal controls, the system within which the controls operate and the control components within the system, that are relevant to the assurance engagement, having regard to the requirements and guidance provided in ASAE 3150.⁵¹
- 75. The auditor obtains an understanding of the entity's compliance framework, key elements of the framework, and compliance requirements that are relevant to the assurance engagement. AUASB Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3100 *Compliance Engagements* includes information that the auditor may find useful in this regard.
- 76. Prudential Requirements generally require ADIs to have in place internal controls corresponding to their size and complexity, aimed at ensuring that:
 - (a) risks are managed within prudent limits set by senior management and those charged with governance;
 - (b) information provided to management and those charged with governance is adequate and timely; and
 - (c) the ADI complies with applicable prudential and statutory requirements.
- 77. In addition to the general planning considerations, the auditor takes into consideration the following factors when planning the limited assurance engagement of the internal controls relevant to the assurance engagement:
 - The size, business mix and complexity of the ADI and/or the ADI group, and specifically whether or not an ADI is an Advanced ADI⁵², as this will influence the degree of complexity impacting the control environment, compliance framework and control policies and processes.
 - The overall compliance framework adopted to ensure compliance with all applicable Prudential Requirements, including controls, policies and processes, and consideration of whether or not these are appropriate given the size, business mix and complexity of the ADI and/or ADI group.
 - The sufficiency and appropriateness of the ADI's and/or ADI group's Risk Management Systems descriptions and similar policy documents issued in accordance with specific Prudential Standards, and consideration of whether these are up to date and in sufficient detail to facilitate compliance with the relevant Prudential Standards.
 - Matters relating to the ADI's and/or the ADI group's organisational structure and operating characteristics, and recent significant changes thereof, which could impact on relevant internal controls.
 - Knowledge of internal controls obtained during other assurance engagements conducted in relation to the ADI and/or ADI group.

GS 012

⁵¹ In particular, paragraphs 37 and 38 of ASAE 3150.

⁵² The way in which internal control is designed and implemented varies with an ADI's size and complexity. Specifically, smaller Standardised ADIs may use less formal means and simpler processes and procedures to achieve control objectives.

- The method adopted, and the process used, by the ADI and/or ADI group to develop risk information to be disclosed in ADI Reporting Forms.
- Previously communicated instances of material non-compliance with Prudential Requirements and/or material deficiencies and/or deviations in internal controls designed to ensure compliance with all applicable Prudential Requirements and the provision of reliable data to APRA in Reporting Forms, that have not been resolved.

The above is not meant to represent an exhaustive list and there may be other factors relevant to the specific circumstances of an ADI and/or ADI group.

Overall Responses to Assessed Risks of Material Misstatements, Control Deficiencies and Deviations, and Non-Compliance

78. In accordance with the requirements of the relevant AUASB Standards, the auditor designs and performs assurance procedures, the nature, timing and extent of which are responsive to the assessed risks of material misstatement, material deficiencies or deviations in controls or instances of material non-compliance, having regard to the level of assurance required, reasonable or limited, as appropriate. Determining the exact nature, timing and extent of procedures is a matter of professional judgment and will vary from one engagement to the next.

Characteristics of Subject Matter and Identified Evaluation Criteria

- 79. The table in Appendix 1 of this Guidance Statement provides an outline of the subject matter and criteria relevant to each part of the assurance engagement, as well as applicable AUASB Standards.
- 80. The level of assurance required to be provided by the auditor for Parts A and B of the engagement, is determined by the source of the data included in each Specified ADI Reporting Form. A reasonable level of assurance is required for data sourced from "accounting records". A limited level of assurance is required for all other data. The definition of "accounting records" therefore needs to be applied with care. Paragraphs 148-156 below, provide guidance on the application of this definition.
- 81. The appointed auditor identifies the most recent year-end ADI Reporting Forms submitted to APRA. Further guidance is provided in paragraphs 157-161 below.
- 82. The appointed auditor is to note that, in relation to ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA, there are additional Reporting Forms, beyond the Specific Reporting Forms listed in Attachment A to APS 310 (which is the subject matter for Parts A and B). These additional Reporting Forms are to be included in the scope of Part C of the assurance engagement, together with the Reporting Forms identified in Attachment A to APS 310.
- 83. The appointed auditor identifies, and obtains an understanding of, all the Prudential Requirements⁵⁴ applicable to the specific ADI (including any additional guidance provided by APRA to the ADI), with particular attention to changes in these requirements during the reporting period. The auditor makes enquiries with respect to any requirements that are imposed in writing by APRA on a bilateral APRA-ADI basis, or in relation to conditions on the ADI's authorisation, as these requirements may vary from one ADI to another.
- 84. Compliance with Prudential Requirements is broader than compliance with only the quantitative limits in APRA Prudential Standards (for example, capital requirements). The appointed auditor is required to provide assurance in relation to compliance with all

See paragraph 28(c) of this Guidance Statement.

See paragraph 28(q) of this Guidance Statement.

relevant/applicable Prudential Requirements under the Banking Act and the FSCODA, including compliance with APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.

The scope of the prudential assurance engagement therefore includes compliance with APRA Prudential Standards dealing with, for example, governance (CPS 510), risk management (CPS 220), public disclosure (APS 330), the Financial Claims Scheme (APS 910), and the APS 310/3PS 310 requirements relating to the appointment of the auditor and the use of group auditors.

85. In relation to an ADI's responsibility to keep the appointed auditor informed of all APRA Prudential Requirements applicable to the ADI, the appointed auditor obtains written representations from those responsible.⁵⁵

Identified Users and Intended Use of Appointed Auditor's Assurance Report

- 86. Data collected in ADI Reporting Forms are primarily used by APRA for the purpose of prudential regulation and supervision of individual ADIs. The data may also be used by the RBA for the overall supervision of the stability of the financial system and for setting monetary policy, and by APRA, the ABS and the RBA to construct a range of important statistics. The auditor refers to ADI Reporting Forms and Instructions, and associated Prudential and Reporting Standards, for information regarding the nature and purpose of each individual ADI Reporting Form.
- 87. Data collected under the EFS Reporting Standards are primarily used by the ABS and RBA for analysis, publication and policy-making purposes. EFS data is used by the ABS to compile and publish key macroeconomic indicators, including Australia's National Accounts and leading indicators of lending activity, which are used to monitor Australia's growth. The RBA uses EFS data to construct and publish Australia's monetary and credit aggregates, and for analytical and policy purposes. Data published by the ABS and RBA are also used by other policy makers and the wider public for research, analysis and policy making. Information collected under the EFS Reporting Standards may be used by APRA for prudential and publication purposes.
- 88. Requirements for auditors of ADIs to provide assurance reports on prudential matters to APRA are intended to assist APRA, and the Agencies, in assessing the reliability of information supplied to it by an ADI.
- 89. Auditors need to be aware that APRA has the power under subsection 56(5) of the *Australian Prudential Regulation Authority Act 1998* to make "protected information" (which may include auditors' reports or information extracted from such reports) available to another financial sector supervisory agency (for example, the RBA and Treasury), or any other specified agency (including foreign agencies), when APRA is satisfied such information will assist those agencies in performing its functions or exercising its powers.

Reliability of Information and Data Quality

- 90. The concept of reliability is to be viewed in the context of the reliability of the data for the intended use by the identified users.
- 91. Under the Australian Accounting Standards Board's (AASB's) *Glossary of Defined Terms*, information has the quality of reliability when it is free from material error and bias and can be depended upon by users to represent faithfully, and without material error and bias, the transactions or events that either it purports to represent or could reasonably be expected to represent.

See paragraphs 264-266 of this Guidance Statement.

⁵⁶ See APRA Reporting Practice Guide RPG 702.0 ABS/RBA Data Quality for the EFS Collection.

- 92. In applying this concept of reliability to the prudential reporting engagement, information in ADI Reporting Forms is not to lead users to conclusions that serve the particular needs of an ADI. Furthermore, such information needs to be capable of reliable measurement.
- 93. APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards provide the frame of reference (benchmarks) for reasonably consistent evaluation or measurement, within the context of the auditor's professional judgement, of the reliability of the information included in ADI Reporting Forms.
- 94. The appointed auditor identifies and obtains an understanding of the applicable Prudential Requirements that govern the preparation of data within ADI Reporting Forms, with particular attention to changes in these requirements during the reporting period under review. In addition to the Prudential and Reporting Standards issued by APRA, other Prudential Requirements, including the specific Reporting Form Instruction Guides, will also have an impact on the provision of reliable data to APRA under the FSCODA and, therefore, the appointed auditor has regard to all relevant Prudential Requirements when planning and conducting the engagement.
- 95. It is important that the appointed auditor obtains an understanding of how APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards differ from the financial reporting framework⁵⁷ which are used to record data in the ADI's accounting records.
- 96. APRA's Prudential Practice Guide CPG 235 Managing Data Risk (CPG 235) may aid in the auditor's understanding of the concept of reliability in the context of the assurance engagement. CPG 235 provides guidance to APRA regulated entities on managing data risk, including assessing data quality by reference to its fitness for use, that is, the degree to which data is relevant, appropriate for its intended purpose and meets business specifications.
- 97. Other determinants of data quality identified in CPG 235 include:
 - (a) accuracy the degree to which data is error free and aligns with what it represents;
 - (b) completeness the extent to which data is not missing and is of sufficient breadth and depth for the intended purpose;
 - (c) consistency the degree to which related data is in alignment with respect to dimensions such as definition, value, range, type and format, as applicable;
 - (d) timelines the degree to which data is up-to-date; and
 - (e) availability accessibility and usability of data when required.

EFS Collection

- 98. APRA's Reporting Practice Guide RPG 702.0 ABS/RBA Data Quality for the EFS Collection (RPG 702.0) provides guidance to assist ADIs and RFCs required to submit EFS data to APRA, to meet the Agencies' data quality requirements in relation to EFS Reporting Standards.
- 99. RPG 702.0 is to be read in conjunction with:
 - (a) the EFS collection, including Reporting Standard ARS 701.0 *ABS/RBA Definitions for the EFS Collection* and Reporting Practice Guide RPG 701.0 *ABS/RBA Reporting Concepts for the EFS Collection*, which contains definitions of, and guidance on, the data to be reported to APRA and the Agencies; and
 - (b) Prudential Practice Guide CPG 235.

⁵⁷ Under Australian Accounting Standards.

- 100. RPG 702.0 outlines how the Agencies, as primary users, intend to use data collected under the EFS Reporting Standards. It informs EFS reporting entities of the significance of specific EFS data items for use by the Agencies and is designed to assist entities in meeting EFS quality control requirements by adapting data risk management practices outlined in CPG 235 for the EFS collection.
- 101. Although the Agencies expect all data collected by APRA on their behalf to be accurate, reporting entities are expected to use the data priority ranking⁵⁸ included in RPG 702.0 as an indicator of the relative importance of the accuracy of these data items and, therefore, where to focus data quality management practices.
- 102. The tables in Attachment A to RPG 702.0 includes qualitative benchmarks to indicate the size of misreported data items that may impact the use of the data by the Agencies and thus would be considered a "reporting error" that needs to be notified to APRA. These benchmarks vary according to entity size⁵⁹, type of data item⁶⁰ and prioritisation of data⁶¹.
- Benchmarks for entities defined as "large institutions" in RPG 702.0 recognise that reporting 103. errors by a single large entity are more likely to impact industry aggregates due to their size. while benchmarks for the entities that are not large are aimed at identify reporting errors that could affect the industry aggregate results if occurring across several entities simultaneously.
- 104. RPG 702.0 includes specific guidance in relation to the:
 - (a) application of judgement in identifying reportable errors for "standard" priority data items (that is, data items that is not of a "high" or "very high" priority);
 - (b) application of benchmarks where data items is at, or very close to, zero;
 - (c) application of benchmarks to volatile "flow" data items; and
 - the use of proxy methodologies for selected data items⁶². (d)
- 105. The Agencies and APRA recognise that not all practices outlined in the guide will be relevant for every EFS reporting entity and that some aspects may vary depending upon the size, complexity and systems configuration of the EFS reporting entity.

Materiality

- 106. The auditor considers materiality, in accordance with the requirements of AUASB Standards applicable to each section of the assurance engagement, when planning and performing the engagement. During the engagement the auditor re-assesses materiality if matters come to their attention that indicate that the basis on which materiality was assessed has changed.
- 107. For assurance purposes, materiality is determined in order to establish:
 - (a) a tolerable level of misstatement in relation to financial and non-financial information included in ADI Reporting Forms, deficiencies or deviations in controls, or noncompliance with applicable Prudential Requirements;
 - (b) the scope of assurance work to be performed; and

RPG 702.0 identifies three data priority categories: "standard", "high" and "very high".

Whether the entity is a "large institution" or not as defined in RPG 702.0.

Whether a data item is a "stock" or "flow" item as defined in RPG 702.0.

RPG 702.0 prioritises data into the following categories: "standard", "high" and "very high".

See APRA Reporting Practice Guide RPG 701.0 ABS/RBA Reporting Concepts for the EFS Collection.

- a reasonable basis for evaluating identified misstatements, deficiencies, deviations, or (c) non-compliance.
- 108. In determining materiality levels, the auditor exercises professional judgement to understand and assess the factors that might influence the decisions of APRA and other intended users. Judgements about materiality are affected by quantitative and qualitative factors as well as consideration of the potential of misstatements, control deficiencies or deviations, or noncompliance that are individually immaterial but in the aggregate may adversely affect decisions made by those users. Where particular categories of data or compliance matters may have a greater impact on the decisions of users, materiality may need to be set at a lower level for those amounts or matters.
- 109. ASAE 3000 explains that, although there is a greater risk that misstatements, control deficiencies or deviations, or non-compliance may not be detected in a limited assurance engagement than a reasonable assurance engagement, the judgement as to what is material is made by reference to surrounding circumstances, the subject matter on which the auditor is reporting, and the needs of those relying on that information, as opposed to the level of assurance obtained. That is, for the same intended users and purpose, materiality for a reasonable and limited assurance engagement will be the same. In setting materiality levels, regardless of the subject matter or level of assurance, it is the auditor's objective to reduce risk to an acceptable level in the circumstances of the assurance engagement.
- 110. Since the concept of materiality applies differently in the context of an engagement to provide assurance on information included in Reporting Forms, an engagement to provide assurance on internal controls, and for the purpose of reporting on compliance, it is considered separately below for each section of the engagement.

Reasonable and/or Limited Assurance on Specified⁶⁴ ADI Reporting Forms (Parts A and B)

- A misstatement in a Specified ADI Reporting Form, either individually or in aggregate with 111. other misstatements, is considered material if the appointed auditor believes the intended users may be influenced by the misstatement of the information.
- For the purpose of providing assurance on Specified ADI Reporting Forms, the auditor 112. considers materiality, as appropriate, in accordance with the principles and guidance provided in AUASB standards:
 - ASA 320⁶⁵, ASA 805 and ASRE 2405, as applicable, where the subject matter is (a) historical financial information;
 - (b) ASAE 3000, where the subject matter is information other than historical financial information: and
 - ASAE 3450, where the subject matter is prospective financial information.⁶⁶ (c)

In the absence of specific requirements issued by APRA, the Australian Accounting Standards Board's Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements may provide a useful frame of reference to the auditor in determining materiality for the engagement.

113. ASA 320 and AASB Practice Statement 2 deal with materiality in the context of the financial statements taken as a whole and may be useful in setting materiality levels for relevant "Statement of Financial Performance" and "Statement of Financial Position" ADI Reporting

See paragraphs 86-89 of this Guidance Statement.

For a listing of ADI Reporting Forms to be subjected to the reasonable and/or limited assurance engagement, refer to APS 310 Attachment A – Data Collections subject to reasonable and/or limited assurance. The requirements are different for Standardised, Advanced and Foreign ADIs.

ASA 320 Materiality in Planning and Performing an Audit. For example, in relation to liquidity disclosures included in ADI Reporting Forms ARF 210.1A and 210.1B Liquidity Coverage Ratio.

Forms. As Australian Auditing Standards are written in the context of an audit of a financial report, they are to be adapted as necessary in the circumstances when applied to single financial statements or specific elements of a financial statement. Materiality determined for a single financial statement or for a specific element of a financial statement may be lower than the materiality determined for the financial report, which will impact the nature, timing and extent of assurance procedures and the evaluation of uncorrected misstatements.

- 114. For the purpose of reporting on the reliability of information included in Specified ADI Reporting Forms, the appointed auditor considers and applies materiality at the level of individual Reporting Forms⁶⁸ or, if the auditor deems it to be more appropriate, the auditor may choose to set a specific materiality at the level of individual data items or categories of data included in Reporting Forms.
- 115. In applying the relevant AUASB Standards to individual ADI Reporting Forms, or data line items in Reporting Forms, the auditor has regard to the nature, purpose and use of the information included in each Reporting Form. The auditor refers to Reporting Forms and Instructions, and associated Prudential and Reporting Standards, for information regarding the nature and purpose of each individual ADI Reporting Form.
- Materiality is to be addressed in the context of the entity's objectives relevant to the ADI 116. Reporting Form and Reporting Standard being examined and whether internal controls will reduce to an acceptable level the risks that threaten achievement of those objectives.⁶⁹
- 117. Where a Reporting Form includes historical and prospective financial information, as well as non-financial information, 70 the auditor considers adopting a combination of methods and setting multiple materiality levels based on the information included in the Reporting Form. For example:
 - For historical financial information extracted from audited⁷¹ financial information, the (a) auditor may:
 - (i) determine that the materiality levels used in the audit are acceptable/suitable for the purposes of the Reporting Form; or
 - (ii) establish new materiality levels in accordance with the principles espoused in ASA 320 or ASRE 2405 and other relevant guidance, as applicable to the subject matter information and based on the amounts reported in the Reporting Form.
 - (b) For non-financial information, materiality may be set with reference to the principles and guidance provided in ASAE 3000.
 - For prospective financial information, materiality may be set with reference to the (c) principles and guidance provided in ASAE 3450.

In setting these differing materiality levels, the auditor takes into consideration qualitative and quantitative factors and the risk of issuing an inappropriate conclusion.

118. The appointed auditor's preliminary assessment of materiality is based largely on quantitative factors. A percentage is often applied to a chosen benchmark as a starting point in

Where a particular data item appears in multiple ADI Reporting Forms subject to different levels of materiality, the auditor ensures the work performed is appropriate and sufficient to meet the lowest level of materiality. For example, materiality may be set for a balance sheet-based reporting form. However, the appointed auditor may need to consider the potential impact of misstatements in the balance sheet on profit and loss based reporting forms, which by their nature may have lower materiality thresholds.

For example, the objective of the Capital Adequacy series of ADI Reporting Forms will be on protection of the interests of depositors in

ADIs.

For example, as part of the EFS collection.

For example, the audit of a financial report under the Corporations Act.

- determining materiality. The base and percentage may vary depending on the ADI Reporting Form in question and the nature of information included in each Reporting Form.
- 119. Matters likely to adversely affect the interests of depositors in ADIs are generally related to solvency and going concern assumptions. In the context of APRA's prudential reporting requirements, the ADI's "Prudential Capital Requirement" (PCR), as prescribed in Prudential Standard APS 110 *Capital Adequacy*, is an important consideration with respect to materiality. A key concern with any misstatement within a Reporting Form is therefore its potential impact on the ADIs capital base and capital adequacy ratio, that are determined in accordance with APRA's Prudential Standards. This is taken into consideration by the appointed auditor when evaluating whether a misstatement in a Reporting Form, especially within the Capital Adequacy Reporting Forms, is material.
- 120. APRA has advised that a materiality threshold based on a 25 basis point impact on the Capital Adequacy Ratio may be applied in aggregate by the appointed auditor as a reasonable basis for determining quantitative materiality for Capital Adequacy Reporting Forms. This threshold may be used as indicative guidance only, in conjunction with the considerations described within this Guidance Statement, which includes consideration of qualitative factors. The appointed auditor exercises professional judgement when applying the threshold in specific circumstances. For example, a lower level of materiality may be appropriate as the level of surplus capital reduces.
- 121. The auditor exercises professional judgement to consider whether an alternative base, such as profit, revenue or assets, may be more appropriate when considering whether a misstatement within other non-capital types of reporting forms such as, but not limited to, the Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Financial Position, Provisions and Impaired Assets and the liquidity reporting forms⁷², is material.
- 122. When considering materiality, the auditor considers the obligations under Prudential Requirements for ADIs and auditors of ADIs to report errors in ADI Reporting Forms to APRA, the criteria for resubmission of data previously submitted to APRA, and reporting breaches to APRA. For example, RPG 702.0 indicates that misreported EFS data items above the prescribed quantitative data quality benchmarks in Attachment A to RPG 702.0 should be notified to APRA. However, RPG 702.0 states these errors would not trigger automatic resubmission, as the Agencies will determine the need for resubmission. The auditor exercises professional judgement in using this guidance in scoping assurance work to be performed.
- 123. The auditor is mindful that RPG 702.0 is primarily directed at reporting entities and designed to assist these entities in meeting EFS quality control requirements and to tailor data risk management practices as outlined in CPG 235.⁷³
- 124. Whilst APRA and the Agencies expect auditors to consider the RPG 702.0 guidance in determining materiality thresholds for a prudential reporting assurance engagement, APRA has confirmed that the RPG 702.0 benchmarks do not establish new materiality requirements for assurance purposes relating to the EFS data collection.⁷⁴
- 125. The auditor sets materiality levels for the EFS collection based on the risk assessment for each EFS Reporting Form performed by the auditor. The priority ranking of data points included in RPG 702.0 may be helpful for the auditor in determining where to focus effort.

For example, when determining a quantitative materiality threshold for the liquidity reporting forms (ARF 210.1A, ARF 210.1B and ARF 210.6), the auditor exercises professional judgement when determining an appropriate base for both the Liquidity Coverage Ratio and the Net Stable Funding Ratio, such as the surplus liquidity above the minimum regulatory thresholds.

and the Net Stable Funding Ratio, such as the surplus liquidity above the minimum regulatory thresholds.

That is, a reporting entity's precision thresholds for reporting data to APRA. The auditor considers relevant guidance and commentary provided by APRA – refer to APRA's website: https://www.apra.gov.au/economic-and-financial-statistics-frequently-asked-questions.

The benchmarks included for ADIs in RPG 702.0 may be more granular than the materiality levels required to be applied in undertaking

The benchmarks included for ADIs in RPG 702.0 may be more granular than the materiality levels required to be applied in undertaking the reasonable and limited assurance engagements required under APS 310 to report on data included in Specified ADI Reporting Forms at the financial year-end.

- 126. RPG 702.0 benchmarks and considerations may be more relevant to Part C of the engagement in setting materiality levels for reporting on the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls addressing the reliability of data routinely reported to APRA in ADI Reporting Forms. Refer to Part C below.
- 127. Auditors retain ultimate discretion in setting materiality levels for the assurance engagement and determining the scope of assurance procedures to be conducted, taking into consideration the risk of issuing an inappropriate assurance report.

Limited Assurance Engagement on Design, Implementation and Operating Effectiveness of Internal Controls (Part C)

- 128. Material deficiencies in the design and implementation of controls and material deviations in the operating effectiveness of controls are those which could reasonably be expected to influence relevant decisions of the intended users.
- 129. ASAE 3150 sets out the requirements and provides guidance to the auditor in applying materiality in the context of an assurance engagement on controls.
- 130. In accordance with ASAE 3150, the auditor shall identify a control or combination of controls as material if it is fundamental to the achievement of a control objective relevant to the scope of the engagement, and whether the internal controls will reduce to an acceptably low level, based on auditor judgement, the risks that threaten achievement of those objectives.
- 131. In assessing materiality, the appointed auditor has regard to the measures the ADI has adopted to ensure:
 - (a) reliable data is provided to APRA in all ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA; and
 - (b) compliance with all applicable Prudential Requirements.
- 132. For the purpose of reporting on controls addressing the reliability of EFS data included in ADI Reporting Forms, the auditor determines materiality levels taking into consideration the needs and expectations of the users of the EFS collection, as outlined in RPG 702.0. RPG 702.0 informs reporting entities of the Agencies' expectation that data reported in EFS collection should be of high quality, including to be accurate, complete and timely. RPG 702.0 provides guidance to reporting entities to meet data quality control requirements that require them to have in place systems, processes and controls to assure the reliability of reported information in relation to the EFS Reporting Standards. RPG 702.0 guidance is supported by CPG 235 which sets out guidance on how entities can manage data risk, including assessing data quality by reference to fitness for use.
- 133. Although the auditor retains discretion in setting materiality levels, the auditor is expected to take into consideration RPG 702.0's priority ranking of data items and data quality benchmarks as part of the assessment of whether a reporting entity's internal controls are designed appropriately and operating effectively to meet the RPG 702.0 thresholds required by the Agencies.
- 134. ASAE 3150 requires the auditor to reassess the materiality of the controls if matters come to their attention during the engagement which indicate that the basis on which the materiality of those controls was determined has changed.

Reporting on Compliance with Prudential Requirements (Part D)

135. Under APS 310 and 3PS 310 the appointed auditor is required to provide limited assurance that the ADI and/or group has complied, in all material respects, with all relevant Prudential Requirements. This conclusion is to be based on the auditor's reasonable and limited assurance engagements undertaken to provide assurance in relation to Specified ADI Reporting Forms (Parts A and B) and internal controls (Part C).

136. For the purpose of reporting on compliance with Prudential Requirements, the appointed auditor considers materiality when *evaluating* the significance of identified instances of noncompliance with relevant Prudential Requirements (see paragraphs 249-258 of this Guidance Statement).

Personnel and Expertise Requirements, Including the Nature and Extent of Experts' Involvement

- 137. An appointed auditor gives further consideration as to whether the auditor has, or will be able to obtain, adequate knowledge and the required skills to undertake the engagement.
- 138. APS 310 and 3PS 310 prohibit an appointed auditor from placing sole reliance on the work performed by APRA, for example, as part of the initial accreditation process to be registered as an Advanced ADI. APRA expects appointed auditors to exercise their professional judgement and reach their own independent conclusions.
- 139. The nature and complexity of the ADI increases the likelihood that the appointed auditor may need to involve experts in the engagement. For example, obtaining an understanding of the process and assumptions used by an Advanced ADI to develop risk information, may require technical knowledge of risk measurement methodologies, which can be complex.
- 140. When planning to use the work of an auditor's expert as evidence, the appointed auditor has regard to the requirements and guidance provided in, as appropriate, AUASB standards ASA 620⁷⁵, ASAE 3000, ASAE 3150 and ASAE 3450.
- 141. Where an ADI has engaged or employed experts, for example where actuaries are used to determine amounts for inclusion in ADI Reporting Forms, which is derived using specialised techniques, the auditor applies, as appropriate, Auditing Standard ASA 500 *Audit Evidence*. ASA 500 sets out mandatory requirements and provides application and explanatory material on using the work of a management's expert as audit evidence. The auditor may also find it helpful to refer to AUASB Guidance Statement GS 005 *Evaluating the Appropriateness of a Management's Expert's Work*.

Work Performed by Another Auditor

- 142. Where the auditor appointed under APS 310/3PS 310 plans to use the work of another independent auditor, the appointed auditor:
 - (a) for the reasonable assurance engagement in relation to historical financial information, complies with the requirements of Auditing Standard ASA 600 *Special Considerations Audits of a Group Financial Report*, adapted as necessary; and
 - (b) for other assurance, complies with the requirements of ASAE 3000. The principles espoused in ASA 600 may also provide helpful guidance.

Internal Audit

143. CPS 510 requires all ADIs (including a foreign ADI in relation to its Australian business) and authorised NOHCs, to have in place an independent and adequately resourced internal audit function. APS 310 and 3PS 310 require an ADI and/or the head of an ADI group to ensure that the scope of internal audit includes a review of the policies, processes and controls put in place by management to ensure compliance with Prudential Requirements. CPS 510 requires that the objectives of the internal audit function include an evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of the financial and risk management framework of the ADI. CPS 220 includes

ASA 620 Using the Work of an Auditor's Expert.

⁷⁶ Under CPS 510, APRA may approve alternative arrangements where APRA is satisfied that it will achieve the same objectives.

- further information on APRA's requirements for the periodic review of the risk management framework by internal audit.
- 144. APRA expects the appointed auditor to consider the extent to which the work of the internal audit function is likely to be relevant in the context of the APS 310/3PS 310 assurance engagement.
- 145. Having regard to the requirements and guidance provided in AUASB standards ASA 610 *Using the Work of Internal Auditors*, ASAE 3000 and ASAE 3150, as relevant, the appointed auditor obtains an understanding of the activities and main findings of the internal audit function and perform a preliminary assessment, which may include, assessment of:
 - (a) its impact on the system and the components of control within that system, including the control environment, risk assessment, information and communication, monitoring activities and control activities in relation to the system; and
 - (b) its effect on the nature, timing or extent of the auditor's assurance procedures.
- 146. The use of internal auditors to provide direct assistance is prohibited in assurance engagements undertaken in accordance with AUASB Standards. Direct assistance is the performance of assurance procedures under the direction, supervision and review of the independent external auditor. An effective internal audit function may enable the auditor to modify the nature and/or timing, and/or reduce the extent of assurance procedures performed but cannot eliminate them entirely.
- 147. Where the appointed auditor plans to use the work of the internal audit function, the auditor evaluates the adequacy of this work for the auditor's purposes in accordance with the relevant AUASB standards. The appointed auditor remains responsible for obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence to support the auditor's assurance engagement conclusions.

Considerations - Assurance on Specified77 **ADI Reporting Forms**

Application of AUASB Definition of "Accounting Records"

- 148. APS 310/3PS 310 requires the appointed auditor to provide two different levels of assurance over the reliability of a specific set of ADI Reporting Forms at the ADI's financial year-end. The level of assurance required to be provided by the appointed auditor is determined by the source of the data included in the Reporting Forms. Data sourced from "accounting records", requires a reasonable level of assurance. All other data requires a limited level of assurance.
- "Accounting records", is defined in paragraph 28(c) of this Guidance Statement and, ordinarily, includes all the data used by an ADI to prepare its accounting books and records, and to report the results of its operations and its financial position in its financial report on an annual or half-yearly basis (that is, the underlying evidence in support of the financial report). The expectation is, generally, that such data would be subject to rigorous internal controls.
- 150. However, the initial books of entry may also comprise other data which is stored alongside accounting data. Such data may not be used for financial management and financial reporting, and may not be subject to rigorous controls, and therefore fall outside the scope of the reasonable assurance opinion.
- Data in ADI Reporting Forms may be sourced from systems that are not used to produce financial report information and are not readily reconcilable to financial report information. The initial entries to these systems may be the same as for the accounting records, but both the level of control over the systems and the amount of manipulation/aggregation of the data

_

For a listing of ADI Reporting Forms to be subjected to the reasonable and/or limited assurance engagement, refer to APS 310 Attachment A – Data Collections subject to reasonable and/or limited assurance. The requirements are different for Standardised, Advanced and Foreign ADIs.

- within such systems may result in the output being significantly different from the accounting records and not readily reconcilable back to these records.
- 152. The appointed auditor makes an assessment of whether or not a data item has been sourced from accounting records, by exercising professional judgement and referring to the definition of accounting records. The auditor carefully considers the source and the use of the data, and whether it is appropriately controlled and, therefore, capable of being subjected to procedures for obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence to support a reasonable assurance conclusion.
- 153. For Advanced ADIs, where the ADI's risk management systems provide internal estimates for some or all of the risk components in determining capital, the capital reporting forms will include data items sourced from non-accounting records. Examples include measures for "probability of default" and "loss given default".
- 154. Certain data items may have been sourced from a combination of both accounting and non-accounting records, for example, data sourced from accounting records that involve additional examination, computation, re-classification or segmentation using non-accounting data, and this may result in those data items being classified as sourced from non-accounting records and fall within the scope of the limited assurance engagement.
- 155. Where ADI Reporting Forms combine elements that are derived from accounting records and non-accounting records, the appointed auditor provides:
 - (a) reasonable assurance on information derived from the accounting records, for example, totals derived from the balance sheet such as values for assets, liabilities and derivatives, in the ADI Reporting Forms listed in (b) below; and
 - (b) limited assurance on the information derived from non-accounting records, for example:
 - ADI Reporting Form ARF 117.0 *Repricing Analysis*: the repricing period allocations to time periods set out in the interest rate sensitivity tables (which are subjective).
 - ADI Reporting Form ARF 112.1A *Standardised Credit Risk On-balance Sheet Assets*: the risk rating for loans based on the loan-to-valuation ratio (LVR) where the security values are subject to variation over time.

Also see paragraph 160 below.

156. Segmentation of certain balances derived from the financial statements (accounting data) included in EFS Reporting Forms by counterparty economic sector, industrial classifications or facility purpose, are often reliant on counterparty provided information or may be subject to judgement in their application and, therefore, generally fall within the scope of the limited assurance engagement.

Identification of Financial Year-end ADI Reporting Forms

- 157. Identification of the year-end ADI Reporting Forms to be subjected to the reasonable and/or limited assurance engagement, requires careful consideration by the appointed auditor.
- 158. The initial submission of ADI Reporting Forms, to meet APRA's reporting timetable, may be too soon in the ADI's year-end process for the ADI to have processed all relevant year-end journals and adjustments. As a result, the ADI may have submitted revised Reporting Forms after the due reporting date. As the requirement is to report on the "reliability" of the year-end Reporting Forms, the auditor selects the most up to date (recent) Reporting Forms submitted to APRA, rather than the Reporting Forms initially submitted in accordance with APRA's reporting timetable. The auditor conducts further procedures to ensure that the selected Reporting Forms include all relevant year-end journals and adjustments.

- 159. The ADI Reporting Forms which are the subject of the assurance report, are clearly identified in the assurance report. This may be achieved, for example, by:
 - (a) attaching the Reporting Forms to the assurance report; or
 - (b) noting the submission receipt number or time and date of submission of the Reporting Forms to APRA in the assurance report.
- 160. As noted in paragraph 155 of this Guidance Statement, certain ADI Reporting Forms may include data sourced from a combination of accounting and non-accounting records. The appointed auditor needs to clearly identify such data so that the intended user of the assurance report understands the level of assurance attached to each data item. This could be achieved in a number of ways, for example:
 - Attaching the Reporting Forms to the assurance report and clearly identifying the level of assurance attached to each individual section (or data item) within each Reporting Form.
 - Listing the Reporting Form and the individual sections (or data items) for which reasonable and limited assurance have been provided within the body of the assurance report under the section "Opinion and Conclusions".
 - Providing a detailed list in an attachment to the assurance report which clearly identifies the Reporting Form and the individual sections (or data items) for which reasonable and limited assurance have been provided.

Refer to Appendix 4 of this Guidance Statement for illustrative examples of possible approaches to identify subject matter subject to reasonable and limited assurance.

161. Where the ADI Reporting Form over which assurance is to be provided at the financial yearend is not the Reporting Form submitted on the due date in accordance with APRA's reporting timetable, the appointed auditor needs to consider this issue when providing assurance on the design and operational effectiveness of controls over the reliability of Reporting Forms⁷⁸.

Reasonable Assurance on Specified ADI Reporting Forms - Data Sourced from Accounting Records (APS 310/3PS 310 - Part A)

Objective

- 162. The appointed auditor is required to provide reasonable assurance that information included in ADI Reporting Forms, as specified in Attachment A of APS 310, at the financial year-end, sourced from the ADI's accounting records, is, in all material respects:
 - (a) reliable; and
 - (b) in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.

Refer to Part A of the Example Annual Prudential Assurance Report in Appendix 4 of this Guidance Statement.

AUASB Standards

163. In performing the reasonable assurance engagement on Specified ADI Reporting Forms, the auditor complies with all Australian Auditing Standards relevant to a reasonable assurance engagement of other historical financial information, adapted as necessary in the

⁷⁸ See paragraphs 185-213 of this Guidance Statement.

circumstances of the engagement. In applying these standards, the auditor has regard to any special considerations identified in ASA 805 that may be relevant to the engagement.

Obtaining Evidence

- To identify the ADI Reporting Forms, or data items in a Reporting Form, that are to be subjected to the assurance engagement (the subject matter), the appointed auditor applies the definition of accounting records to each item of data within each Reporting Form as specified in Attachment A of APS 310.
- 165. Having identified the ADI Reporting Forms, or data items within a Reporting Form, that are to be subjected to the reasonable assurance engagement, the auditor obtains sufficient appropriate evidence as part of a dynamic and iterative process⁷⁹, that includes:
 - Obtaining an understanding of the Specified ADI Reporting Forms and individual data items included in these Reporting Forms, the intended use of the information included in the Reporting Forms by the intended users, and the Prudential Requirements applicable to the preparation and submission of Reporting Forms.
 - Obtaining and understanding of the ADI's overall framework for managing data risk and data quality.80
 - Obtaining an understanding of the ADI's system of internal control, in particular, controls around managing data risk, and the compliance function relevant to the engagement and control objectives.
 - Evaluating the controls over the preparation and compilation of Reporting Forms.
 - Identifying and assessing the risk that information in Reporting Forms may be materially misstated.
 - Responding to assessed risks and determining the nature, timing and extent of further evidence-gathering procedures.
 - Performing further evidence-gathering procedures clearly linked to the identified risks.
 - Evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of evidence.
- 166. The appointed auditor exercises professional judgement in determining the nature, timing and extent of reasonable assurance procedures to gather sufficient appropriate evidence on which to base the reasonable assurance opinion.
- A controls based assurance approach is often the most appropriate approach to adopt in these 167. circumstances. However, where the appointed auditor determines that a material weakness exists in the ADI's internal controls designed to ensure reliable data is provided to APRA in Reporting Forms, and/or where the appointed auditor makes a determination based on effectiveness and/or efficiency, a substantive approach may be more appropriate (for example, for smaller Standardised ADIs).
- 168. Reasonable assurance procedures for obtaining evidence include, but are not limited to, testing of specific controls aimed at ensuring data in Reporting Forms is reliable and prepared in accordance with APRA Prudential Standards and Reporting Standards. Procedures may include a combination of enquiry and observation, testing of controls over the compilation of Reporting Forms, testing of controls over the extraction of data from the underlying

See ASA 315 Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement.
For example, refer to APRA Prudential Standard CPS 220 Risk Management, APRA Prudential Practice Guide CPG 235 Managing Data Risk and APRA Reporting Practice Guide RPG 702.0 ABS/RBA Data Quality for the EFS Collection.

- accounting records (including all relevant year-end adjustments), and obtaining management representations.
- 169. The appointed auditor may decide to place reliance on work undertaken by the auditor appointed for the purpose of the audit of the general purpose financial report, required under the Corporations Act (the statutory audit), as the basis for opining on the reliability of the Specified ADI Reporting Forms, or data items included in these forms. However, the appointed auditor is still required to obtain additional evidence to ensure that the Reporting Forms, or data items in a Reporting Form:
 - (a) have been appropriately extracted from the underlying accounting records (which were the subject of the statutory audit); and
 - (b) are in accordance with APRA's Prudential Standards and Reporting Standards (which may be different from the Australian Accounting Standards Framework used to record items in the ADI's underlying accounting and statutory records).
- 170. Where reliance is being placed on work performed for the statutory audit, the appointed auditor assesses events occurring subsequent to the date of signing the statutory accounts, but before the date of issuing the auditor's annual prudential assurance report, and takes this into consideration in forming the opinion issued in the report.
- 171. Materiality is to be applied as outlined in paragraphs 106-127 of this Guidance Statement.

Limited Assurance on Specified ADI Reporting Forms - Data Sourced from Non-Accounting Records (APS 310/3PS 310 - Part B)

Objective

172. The appointed auditor is required to express a conclusion, based on a limited assurance engagement, on whether anything has come to the auditor's attention that causes the auditor to believe that information included in ADI Reporting Forms, as specified in Attachment A to APS 310, at the financial year-end, sourced from non-accounting records of the ADI, is not, in all material respects reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.

Refer to Part B of the Example Annual Prudential Assurance Report in Appendix 4 of this Guidance Statement.

AUASB Standards

- 173. The appointed auditor conducts the limited assurance engagement on Specified ADI Reporting Forms in accordance with:
 - (a) ASRE 2405 for historical financial information;
 - (b) ASAE 3000 for information other than historical financial information; and
 - (c) ASAE 3450 for prospective financial information.
- 174. Prospective financial information generally includes forecasts and projections based on assumptions made by the ADI, in accordance with a stated basis of preparation. ASAE 3450 sets out the responsibilities of an assurance practitioner undertaking an engagement to report on prospective financial information. It identifies specific considerations in the application of ASRE 2405 and/or ASAE 3000, which may apply in the engagement circumstances.

When the auditor chooses to engage a component auditor, the principles of ASA 600 applies.

ASAE 3450 does not override the requirements of ASRE 2405 or ASAE 3000 and it does not purport to deal with all engagement circumstances.

Obtaining Evidence

- 175. All ADI Reporting Forms, or data items within Reporting Forms, as specified in Attachment A of APS 310, that have been excluded under paragraphs 162-171 above as not having been sourced from accounting records, are included in this section as the subject matter for the limited assurance engagement.
- 176. Having identified the subject matter, the appointed auditor obtains evidence as part of a dynamic and iterative process directed by the risk assessment carried out during the planning phase of the engagement. The auditor exercises professional judgement in determining the specific nature, timing and extent of limited assurance procedures to gather evidence on which to base the conclusion.
- 177. The Part B limited assurance engagement is substantially less in scope than the reasonable assurance engagement undertaken in paragraphs 162-171 in order to provide reasonable assurance under Part A of the Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report. The limited assurance engagement procedures do not provide all the evidence required in a reasonable assurance engagement and, consequently, the level of assurance provided is less than that given in the reasonable assurance engagement.
- 178. Limited assurance procedures ordinarily include consideration of the process used to prepare Reporting Forms and the specific controls aimed at ensuring Reporting Forms, and data in Reporting Forms, are reliable and prepared in accordance with APRA Prudential Standards and Reporting Standards. Limited assurance procedures may include analytical procedures, enquiry, limited testing of controls over the compilation of Reporting Forms, limited testing of controls over the extraction of data from the underlying source systems and obtaining management representations.
- 179. If the auditor has reason to believe that the subject matter information subject to limited assurance may be materially misstated, AUASB Standards require that the auditor carry out additional or more extensive procedures as are considered necessary to be able to express a limited assurance conclusion or to confirm that a modified report is required.
- 180. Materiality is to be applied as outlined in paragraphs 106-127 of this Guidance Statement.

Advanced ADIs

- 181. Under the advanced approaches for measuring capital adequacy, an Advanced ADI is permitted to use its own quantitative risk estimates in calculating regulatory capital. This involves a greater use of internal risk measurement models that generate the credit risk, operational risk, market risk and interest rate risk in the banking book (instead of the standardised risk assessments used by Standardised ADIs). As a result, under the advanced approaches, a smaller proportion of information contained in APRA's Capital Adequacy Reporting Forms is derived from accounting records.
- 182. At the planning stage of the engagement, the appointed auditor decides on the appropriate assurance approach to adopt in order to gather evidence to reduce the assurance engagement risk to an acceptable low level to provide limited assurance in relation to the reliability of Reporting Forms, or data items in a Reporting Form, which are sourced from the internal risk measurement models.
- 183. A controls based assurance approach is often the most appropriate approach to adopt in these circumstances. The appointed auditor gathers evidence regarding the internal control structure, and that key controls around the risk measurement models, as identified during the planning phase of the audit, are operating effectively to support the assurance conclusion.

184. In concluding on any data produced from the internal risk measurement models, the appointed auditor cannot place sole reliance on work performed by APRA, as part of the initial accreditation process for becoming an Advanced ADI or in any subsequent reviews undertaken by APRA.

Considerations – Assurance on Controls

Limited Assurance on Controls to ensure Compliance with Prudential Requirements and Reliability of ADI Reporting Forms (APS 310/3PS 310 – Part C)

Objective

- 185. The appointed auditor is required to express a conclusion, based on a limited assurance engagement, whether anything has come to the attention of the auditor to cause the auditor to believe that, in all material respects:
 - (a) the ADI has not implemented internal controls that are designed to ensure the ADI has:
 - (i) complied with all applicable Prudential Requirements; and
 - (ii) provided reliable data to APRA in the ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA; and
 - (b) these controls have not operated effectively throughout the financial year.

Refer to Part C of the Example Annual Prudential Assurance Report in Appendix 4 of this Guidance Statement. APRA has advised that the form and content of this example report is adequate for the purpose of reporting under APS 310/3PS 310.

AUASB Standards

186. The appointed auditor conducts the limited assurance engagement related to internal controls in accordance with ASAE 3150.

Obtaining Evidence

- 187. Based on the auditor's understanding of the ADI and/or ADI group and its environment, risk management practices in place, and the internal control and compliance framework, as obtained for the purpose of planning the engagement, the auditor performs assurance procedures to respond to assessed risks in order to obtain limited assurance to support the auditor's conclusion.
- 188. The auditor generally adopts a 'top down' approach in gathering evidence by, for example, making enquiries of key personnel, observing the entity's operations, performing 'walk-through' tests of controls, and inspecting relevant documentation, in order to achieve the following:
 - obtaining an understanding of the ADI's overall control environment and compliance framework;
 - identifying the systems, structures, policies, procedures and controls designed to ensure compliance with all applicable Prudential Requirements, by reviewing documents such as the ADI's RMS and similar policy documents prepared by the ADI in accordance with applicable Prudential Standards;

- identifying the processes used by the entity to support the Board's annual declaration to APRA on risk management ("Risk Management Declaration".82);
- identifying the internal compliance functions designed to oversee the provision of data to APRA in ADI Reporting Forms;
- identifying key controls over data risk management as stipulated by CPG 235;
- identifying significant processes for the preparation of ADI Reporting Forms; and
- identifying the key controls over these significant processes that are designed to ensure that reliable data is provided to APRA in ADI Reporting Forms.

The above is not an exhaustive list, nor is it intended to direct the auditor as to the conclusion over the ADI's internal controls.

- 189. The way in which internal control is designed and implemented varies with an ADI's size and complexity. Smaller ADIs may use less formal means and simpler processes to achieve their objectives.
- 190. Materiality is to be applied as outlined in paragraphs 106-110 and 128-134 of this Guidance Statement.

Design of Controls

- 191. The auditor determines which of the controls at the entity are necessary to achieve the relevant control objectives and whether those controls were suitably designed. Under ASAE 3150, this determination includes:
 - (a) identifying the risks that threaten achievement of the control objectives;
 - (b) evaluating whether the controls as designed would be sufficient to mitigate those risks when operating effectively, in all material respects; and
 - (c) evaluating whether any changes in controls as designed during the period would be sufficient to mitigate those risks, in all material respects.
- 192. In assessing the suitability of the design of controls, ASAE 3150 requires the auditor, at a minimum, to:
 - (a) make enquiries of management or others within the entity regarding how the controls are designed to operate; and
 - (b) examine the design specifications or documentation.
- 193. If the auditor becomes aware of a matter(s) that causes the auditor to believe that a material deficiency in the design of controls may exist, ASAE 3150 requires the auditor to design and perform additional assurance procedures until the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate evidence to conclude on whether the design is suitable. However, the performance of such additional procedures shall not convert the engagement to a reasonable assurance engagement.

Implementation of Controls

194. The auditor obtains sufficient appropriate evidence that the controls identified as necessary to achieving the identified control objectives, were implemented as designed as at the specified date. The auditor's evaluation of the design of controls may influence the nature, timing and extent of assurance procedures related to implementation.

⁸² See Attachment A to APRA Prudential Standard CPS 220 Risk Management.

195. ASAE 3150 requires that:

- (a) the auditor's assurance procedures include, at a minimum, making enquiries and observation.
- (b) If the auditor determines that additional assurance procedures, such as the inspection of records and documentation, are required to dispel or confirm a suspicion that a material deficiency in the implementation of controls exists, the performance of such additional procedures shall not convert the engagement to a reasonable assurance engagement.
- (c) When designing and performing tests of implementation, the auditor determines whether controls implemented depend upon other controls (indirect controls) and, if so, whether it is necessary to obtain evidence supporting the implementation of those indirect controls.

Operating Effectiveness of Controls

- 196. Following the evaluation of whether the ADI has internal controls designed to achieve the relevant control objectives, the appointed auditor performs assurance procedures to obtain evidence about whether these controls have operated as designed throughout the financial year. The auditor may consider how the controls were applied, the consistency with which they were applied, by whom they were applied and the period over which the controls were applied.
- 197. In accordance with ASAE 3150, when reporting on operating effectiveness over the period, the auditor tests those controls that the auditor has determined are necessary to achieve the relevant control objectives, and assess their operating effectiveness throughout the period. The auditor's evaluation of the design of controls may influence the nature, timing and extent of tests of operating effectiveness. Evidence obtained in prior engagements about the satisfactory operation of "material controls" (as defined in the standard) in the prior periods does not provide a basis for a reduction in testing of those controls, even if it is supplemented with evidence obtained during the current period.
- 198. Assurance procedures to obtain evidence on operating effectiveness may include discussion with entity personnel (and obtaining written representations), observation of the system in operation, walk-through for an appropriate number of instances of material controls in operation, and ascertaining whether the person(s) performing the control(s) possesses the necessary authority and competence to perform the control(s) effectively, to identify any deviations from the specified design. The auditor may also consider limited re-performance of controls.
- 199. Alternatively, under ASAE 3150, the results of exception reporting, monitoring or other management controls may be examined to provide evidence about the operation of the control rather than directly testing it.
- 200. ASAE 3150 requires the auditor to apply professional judgement in determining the specific nature, timing and extent of procedures to be conducted, which will depend on the assessed risks of material deviations in the operating effectiveness of controls. If the auditor determines that additional assurance procedures are required to dispel or confirm a suspicion that a material deviation in the operating effectiveness of controls exists, the performance of such additional procedures shall not convert the engagement to a reasonable assurance engagement.
- 201. ASAE 3150 requires that where control procedures have changed during the period subject to examination, the auditor tests the operating effectiveness of both the superseded control(s) and the new control(s) and consider whether the new controls have been in place for a sufficient period to assess their effectiveness.

- 202. Although the auditor may consider the results of any tests of the operating effectiveness of controls conducted by the internal audit function when evaluating operating effectiveness, the auditor remains responsible for obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence to support the auditor's conclusion and, if appropriate, corroborate the results of such tests.
- 203. The appointed auditor enquires whether there were any changes in internal control, or other matters, subsequent to the financial year-end date and up to the date of the appointed auditor's assurance report, that may have an impact on the auditor's conclusion about the effectiveness of internal controls, and obtains written representations from management relating to such matters.
- 204. Interpretation of the word "reliable" in the context of reporting on controls in place to ensure reliable data is provided to APRA in ADI Reporting Forms throughout the financial reporting period, has practical limitations in some circumstances. For many ADIs, it is only at the financial year-end (or for ADIs that are disclosing entities, also at the half year-end) that all the necessary accounting adjustments, such as accruals, prepayments, provisioning and valuations, are prepared and subjected to audit or review. APRA is aware of this position and has indicated it accepts ADI Reporting Forms prepared throughout the year based on the ADI's normal accounting process.
- 205. For further requirements and guidance in relation to obtaining evidence on operating effectiveness of controls, including on the use of sampling for selecting controls for testing operating effectiveness over a period, refer to ASAE 3150.

Advanced ADIs

- 206. For an Advanced ADI, the appointed auditor furthermore considers the ADI's internal controls over the risk measurement models used to meet the requirements of specific Prudential Standards and to generate certain risk data provided to APRA in ADI Reporting Forms.
- 207. The appointed auditor undertakes an appropriate risk assessment of the controls over these models within the context of the stated assurance engagement objective, and plans the assurance engagement accordingly.
- 208. The appointed auditor obtains an understanding of any deficiencies in the models, identified either by APRA, the ADI, or through any independent review, and how such deficiencies have been addressed by the ADI.
- 209. In concluding on the controls over internal risk models, the appointed auditor cannot place sole reliance on the work performed by APRA during the accreditation process to become an Advanced ADI, or on reports issued as a result of any independent review required under specific Prudential Standards dealing with credit risk, operational risk, market risk and interest rate risk in the banking book⁸³. Under these Standards, APRA may require Advanced ADIs to obtain an independent review of the use of any internal models, statistical techniques, other methods relevant to estimating or assessing risks, and risk data inputs used.

For example, APS 117 Capital Adequacy: Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (Advanced ADIs) includes a requirement for an independent review of the ADI's interest rate risk in the banking book management framework and measurement system, both initially at the time that approval is sought from APRA to use the model and, thereafter, on an ongoing basis (at least once every three years or when a material change is made to the framework).

The scope of an independent review of an Advanced ADI's risk management framework, may cover the following:

• the accuracy of the analytics underlying the calculation of the risk adjusted regulatory capital, the outputs of the risk measurement model and the consistency of this methodology; assessment of the reasonableness of any assumptions made in the risk measurement model; the accuracy and adequacy of documentation supporting the quantitative aspects of the risk measurement system; and the continuing appropriateness and adequacy of the risk modelling approach given industry developments in the modelling of

The scope of an independent review of the risk data inputs to the internal risk models (to ensure the continued quality of the data and the effectiveness of internal controls) ordinarily includes an assessment of the controls surrounding the data collection and maintenance processes, as well as data inspection.

- 210. The appointed auditor reviews any reports issued as a result of independent reviews. In drawing a conclusion on whether to use these reports, the appointed auditor has regard to the level of independence of the reviewer, and their qualifications and competency to carry out such a review. In making this assessment, the appointed auditor complies with the requirements of ASAE 3000 and ASAE 3150.
- 211. The appointed auditor makes enquiries about the overall system controls over such models, including controls that ensure the consistency and integrity of the models.
- 212. Assurance procedures over the models would ordinarily include a review of:
 - (a) the control environment and general controls, including the IT function; and
 - (b) change controls (including limited testing).
- 213. Assurance procedures of data produced from the risk measurement models would ordinarily include a review of:
 - (a) the key controls over inputs to the models; and
 - (b) how management review and use the data outputs from the models in ADI Reporting Forms.

Such assurance procedures may include making enquiries of management and persons operating the control(s), assessing whether such persons have the appropriate degree of skill and authority to effectively operate the control(s), observation, 'walk through' tests, limited re-performance and analytical review of the resulting Reporting Forms, or data items in a Reporting Form.

Limited Assurance on Controls addressing Generation of SCV Data and FCS Payment Instruction and Reporting Information (APS 910)

Objective

- 214. The appointed auditor is required to express a conclusion, based on a limited assurance engagement, whether anything has come to the attention of the auditor to cause the auditor to believe that, for the financial year, in all material respects:
 - (a) the ADI has not implemented internal controls that are designed to ensure that SCV data as set out in APS 910 Attachment A, to the extent practicable, and FCS payment instruction and reporting information can be relied upon as being complete and accurate and in accordance with APS 910; and
 - (b) these controls have not operated effectively when tested.

Refer to Appendix 5 of this Guidance Statement for an Example Annual Prudential Assurance Report for engagements undertaken pursuant to APS 910.

AUASB Standards

215. The appointed auditor conducts the limited assurance engagement for APS 910 related to internal controls in accordance with ASAE 3150.

⁸⁵ Also see paragraphs 137-141 of this Guidance Statement.

Obtaining Assurance Evidence

- 216. Under APS 310/3PS 310, the appointed auditor is required to perform a limited assurance engagement on the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of internal controls to ensure compliance with all Prudential Requirements⁸⁶, which includes compliance with the requirements of APS 910.
- 217. APS 910 identifies additional requirements for the appointed auditor to perform a limited assurance engagement on an ADI's controls to ensure that SCV data as set out in APS 910 Attachment A, to the extent practicable, and FCS payment instruction and reporting information can be relied upon as being complete and accurate and produced in a timely manner in accordance with the requirements specified in APS 910.
 - Appendix 5 (see Attachment 3 to the example report, entitled: Control Objectives and Evaluation Criteria) of this Guidance Statement outlines the applicable control objectives for the engagement, used by the auditor to evaluate the ADI's compliance with APS 910 requirements.
- 218. In practice, the auditor's annual APS 310/3PS 310 assurance engagement on controls (Part C) factors in all APS 910 requirements with which the ADI is expected to be compliant. This approach allows the timing of the APS 910 engagement to be aligned with routine assurance work undertaken pursuant to APS 310/3PS 310.
- 219. Limited assurance procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including assessment of the risks of a material breakdown in controls. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control systems and compliance functions relevant to ensuring compliance with APS 910 and, specifically, the requirements in relation to SCV data and FCS payment instruction and reporting information, in order to design limited assurance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.
- 220. The limited assurance engagement in relation to APS 910 controls may include making enquiries of management and those responsible for the controls, examination of design specifications and documentation on a sample basis, observation of implementation and operation of the controls, events or business routines implemented by the ADI, as well as testing practices and results, 'walkthrough' of controls, and review of reports required under APS 910⁸⁷.
- In applying the terms "complete" and "accurate" to the controls engagement, the auditor has 221. regard to definitions and guidance provided by APRA in CPG 235. Refer to Appendix 5 of this Guidance Statement (see Attachment 3 to the example report, entitled: Control Objectives and Evaluation Criteria).
- 222. For guidance on how the term "to the extent practicable" is to be interpreted, the auditor refers to guidance provided by APRA in its August 2013 Information Paper: Financial Claims Scheme for authorised deposit-taking institutions and under Financial Claims Scheme Frequently Asked Technical Questions for ADIs, which can be accessed on APRA's website.⁸⁸ Refer to Appendix 5 of this Guidance Statement (see Attachment 4 to the example report, entitled: Additional Guidance).
- The phrase "to the extent practicable" applies to those limited circumstances and/or customers 223. where it may not be possible or practical for an ADI to meet all the requirements of APS 910

Part C of the APS 310/3PS 310 engagement – see paragraphs 185-213 of this Guidance Statement. For example, refer to paragraph 20 of APS 910 and the *Approved forms for payments and reports: Financial Claims Scheme for* authorised-deposit-taking institutions (August 2013).

Refer to APRA's website, https://www.apra.gov.au/industries/authorised-deposit-taking-institutions:

Information Paper: Financial Claims Scheme for authorised deposit-taking institutions, August 2013, paragraph 37 on page 11.

Financial Claims Scheme – Frequently Asked Technical Questions for ADIs, under Section 3 Clearance (Question 3.1, March 2014) and Section 12 – Single Customer View (SCV) (Question 12.2, March 2014).

- or the Banking Act, despite best endeavours.⁸⁹ Where possible, it is expected that the underlying assurance objective be met in full. This guidance is principle-based and does not limit the application of the auditor's professional judgement.
- 224. Under APS 910, the appointed auditor is required to perform limited assurance procedures to evaluate whether the ADI's controls operated effectively when tested by the ADI in accordance with the testing requirements specified in APS 910⁹⁰. In addition, APRA guidance states that, when conducting the audit, the auditor must undertake their own tests of the controls and must provide limited assurance that, when tested by the auditor, the controls operated effectively. The auditor will need to collect sufficient and appropriate evidence when forming their conclusions about the ADI's controls.⁹¹

Considerations - Foreign ADIs⁹²

- 225. Prudential Requirements for foreign ADIs (branches) may differ from those of locally incorporated ADIs⁹³ and, consequently, these are considered by the appointed auditor. For example, foreign ADIs are not required to report in Australia with respect to branch capital adequacy. However, the Banking Act authority restricts the source and quantum of deposits that foreign ADIs may accept. In addition, APRA has set guidelines relating to the manner in which foreign ADIs inform depositors of the requirements of the Banking Act that do not apply to those ADIs. The appointed auditor reports to APRA on the foreign ADI's compliance with all relevant Prudential Requirements.
- APRA requires the appointed auditor of a foreign ADI to conform to APS 310⁹⁴ and other 226. relevant Prudential Requirements as they apply to foreign ADIs. The appointed auditor of a foreign ADI considers the individual engagement requirements and circumstances at the foreign ADI when interpreting the guidance contained in this Guidance Statement.
- As part of the requirements under APS 310, the appointed auditor of a foreign ADI (branch) is 227. required to provide reasonable assurance over data sourced from accounting records, included in ADI Reporting Forms such as the "Statement of Financial Performance" and "Statement of Financial Position"9
- 228. As a foreign ADI is not required to prepare a financial report under the Corporations Act, there is no requirement for a statutory financial report audit to be undertaken. Therefore, the accounting records of a foreign ADI would not generally be subjected to a full scope audit, unless the branch is included in the scope of the foreign ADI group audit, where the audit arrangements will be driven by head office audit requirements and applying materiality relevant to the entire group.
- 229. Since, generally, the appointed auditor of a foreign ADI has incomplete knowledge of the overseas operations of the foreign ADI, and would not have undertaken the statutory financial report audit of the foreign ADI, the appointed auditor considers the following additional matters (this is not a complete list):

For example, where an ADI has been unable to obtain or update data required to be provided by a retail customer, and the ADI has

exhausted all practical steps to contact the customer.

See paragraph 25 of APS 910, which requires an ADI to undertake testing in accordance with a testing schedule specified by APRA in writing. Guidance on "when tested" can be found on APRA's website: https://www.apra.gov.au/financial-claims-scheme-frequently-asked-technical-questions-for-authorised-deposit-taking, Question 2.4 (November 2013).

"foreign ADIs" is defined in paragraph 28(i) of this Guidance Statement.

Which includes a locally incorporated subsidiary of a foreign ADI.

"but the provided by a retain customer, and the ADI has exhausted by a retain customer, and the ADI has exhaus

Which includes a locally incorporated subsidiary of a foreign ADI. For example, under APS 310, auditors are required to provide a consistent level of assurance for foreign ADIs and locally incorporated 'stand-alone' ADIs.

Refer to Attachment A of APS 310 for a complete list of foreign ADI Reporting Forms to be subjected to a reasonable and/or limited assurance engagement.

- The reliance to be placed on work performed by overseas auditors (such as comfort or assurance in relation to systems and processes hosted offshore which impact the foreign ADI's (branch's) prudential reporting) and the requirements of ASA 600.
- The financial reporting framework applied by the foreign ADI for head office (group) reporting and whether adjustments are required to comply with APRA Prudential Requirements.
- Assessing materiality for APRA prudential reporting purposes, which may differ from materiality considerations for the purpose of head office (group) reporting.
- The requirements of Auditing Standard ASA 705 Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report, in particular, where sufficient appropriate evidence cannot be obtained.
- In the first year of reporting, the requirements of Auditing Standard ASA 510 *Initial Audit Engagements Opening Balances*, in particular, with respect to the level of assurance which can be provided over opening balances.

Evaluation of Findings

Reporting on Specified ADI Reporting Forms

- 230. The auditor accumulates uncorrected misstatements identified during the engagement, other than those that are clearly trivial, for the purpose of evaluating whether, individually or in aggregate, they are material to the reported information. Materiality is to be applied in the context of paragraphs 106-127 of this Guidance Statement.
- 231. In evaluating whether uncorrected misstatements in Specified ADI Reporting Forms are material, the appointed auditor complies with the requirements of AUASB standards ASA 450⁹⁶, ASRE 2405, ASAE 3000 and ASAE 3450, as applicable. The appointed auditor exercises professional judgement, having regard to both the user and intended users of the information in the Reporting Forms, and taking into consideration the risk of issuing an inappropriate assurance report.
- 232. The magnitude of a misstatement alone is only one factor used to assess the misstatement. The appointed auditor evaluates each identified misstatement in the context of information relevant to users of the Reporting Form, by considering qualitative factors and the circumstances in which each misstatement has been made. For example, in evaluating identified misstatements, the appointed auditor has regard to factors such as the level of the ADI's buffer above the particular minimum Prudential Requirements (determined under periodic quantitative calculations) and the sensitivity of these buffers to fluctuations in the ADI's financial performance and position.
- 233. The appointed auditor may designate an amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial and need not be accumulated, because the auditor expects that the accumulation of such amounts clearly would not have a material effect on the reported subject matter information. In doing so, the appointed auditor needs to consider the fact that the materiality of misstatements involves qualitative as well as quantitative considerations and that misstatements of a relatively small amount could nevertheless have a material effect on the reported information.
- 234. In evaluating whether identified misstatements are material, the auditor will consider the criteria used by APRA and the Agencies to determine the need for resubmission of data. For example, in accordance with RPG 702.0 guidance, reporting entities are to notify APRA of all reporting errors based on the data quality benchmarks specified in RPG 702.0 and states that,

97 See ASAE 3000, paragraph A120.

ASA 450 Evaluation of Misstatements Identified during the Audit.

- depending on the size of the reporting entity and the potential impact on the Agencies' use of the data, APRA, in consultation with the Agencies, may require the data to be resubmitted.
- 235. Further, where errors have occurred in relation to EFS reporting that exceed the RPG 702.0 data quality benchmarks, this may be indicative of a control environment that is not appropriately designed or operating effectively. In these instances, the auditor would be expected to assess the nature of the error, whether deficiencies in the control environment contributed to the error, and what subsequent changes have occurred (if any) to address such deficiencies. Where such deficiencies exist, the significance of these would need to be considered against Parts A, B and C of the APS 310/3PS 310 opinion and conclusions.
- 236. In circumstances where the appointed auditor conclude that information reported in ADI Reporting Forms is not in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards, the appointed auditor discusses the matter with management and, depending how it is resolved, determines whether, and how, to communicate the matter in the auditor's assurance report.

Reporting on Internal Controls

- 237. ASAE 3150 sets out the requirements and provides guidance to the appointed auditor to assist in evaluating evidence and forming a conclusion on controls.
- 238. In accordance with ASAE 3150, the appointed auditor accumulates uncorrected:
 - (a) deficiencies in the suitability of the design of controls to achieve the relevant control objectives;
 - (b) deficiencies in the implementation of controls as designed; and
 - (c) deviations in the operating effectiveness of controls as designed.
- 239. The appointed auditor evaluates, individually and in aggregate, whether internal control deficiencies and deviations that have come to the auditor's attention are material. The auditor exercises professional judgement, having regard to the intended users of the auditor's assurance report. Materiality is to be applied in the context of paragraphs 106-110 and 128-134 of this Guidance Statement.
- 240. In evaluating the severity of identified internal control deficiencies, the appointed auditor considers, based on materiality:
 - (a) the likelihood that the relevant internal controls may fail to prevent or detect:
 - (i) non-compliance with a Prudential Requirement; or
 - (ii) a misstatement in the data being provided to APRA in ADI Reporting Forms; and
 - (b) the magnitude of the potential resulting non-compliance with a Prudential Requirement on the ADI's overall compliance with applicable Prudential Requirements; and
 - (c) the magnitude of the potential misstatement resulting from the internal control deficiency on the information reported in the ADI Reporting Forms.
- 241. The evaluation of the severity of a deficiency in internal control does not depend on whether a misstatement or non-compliance with a Prudential Requirement has actually occurred, but rather the likelihood that the ADI's controls may fail to prevent or detect a material misstatement or material non-compliance with a Prudential Requirement.

- 242. As noted above, the auditor is not required to use RPG 702.0 benchmarks as materiality thresholds for planning the scope of the assurance engagement. However, where the auditor identifies reporting errors as defined by RPG 702.0 it is expected that this be taken into consideration in assessing the adequacy of the design, implementation, and operating effectiveness of controls around data quality.
- 243. The auditor considers how the ADI has incorporated RPG 702.0 thresholds and other relevant guidance, for example CPG 235, into their data risk management processes. Should an ADI identify errors that have occurred in relation to EFS reporting that exceed the data quality benchmarks, this may be indicative of a control environment that is not appropriately designed, implemented or operating effectively to ensure entities have provided reliable data to APRA. In these instances, the auditor would be expected to assess the nature of the error, whether deficiencies in the control environment contributed to the error, and what subsequent changes have occurred (if any) to address such deficiencies and/or deviations. Where such deficiencies exist, the significance of these would need to be considered against Parts A, B and C of the APS 310/3PS 310 opinion and conclusions.
- 244. EFS reporting introduces new concepts and data that may not, historically, have been subject to an ADI's risk management framework in accordance with the expectations of RPG 702.0 and CPG 235. Therefore, whilst an ADI may have implemented additional processes and controls that address the reliability of information for the front book, for example, loans originated since the implementation of EFS reporting, the accuracy of the back book (existing portfolio) with respect to RPG 702.0 and CPG 235 remains uncertain. In these instances, the auditor will need to assess the significance of the matter and its impact on Parts B and C of the APS 310 conclusion.
- 245. Resubmission of data and reporting forms by an entity will require the auditor to exercise professional judgement, taking into consideration the nature and cause of the resubmission, in evaluating whether misstatements are material or if the resubmissions are indicative of a control environment that is not appropriately designed, implemented or operating effectively to ensure entities have provided reliable data to APRA.
- 246. Generally, the occurrence of even a single resubmission of a material nature due to error, or multiple non-material resubmissions of a recurring nature, may indicate a weak or inadequate control environment exists and, hence, may require modification of the Part C conclusion and, potentially, also the Part A opinion and Part B conclusion, where the impacted forms include Specified ADI Reporting Forms.
- 247. Notwithstanding, there may be instances where an ADI will resubmit reporting forms for reasons other than an error associated with its reporting process, such as changes or clarifications in APRA interpretations. Where resubmissions are not the result of errors, the auditor may determine that there is no impact on the opinion, with reporting of resubmissions limited to an appendix to the APS 310/3PS 310 report.
- 248. Where material breakdowns in controls are identified which results in a modification⁹⁸ to Part C of the auditor's conclusion, the auditor will need to assess the impact on procedures performed under Parts A and B of the APS 310/3PS 310 engagement. There may be instances where the auditor is able to perform additional substantive procedures to address the risks associated with a control deficiency and/or deviation that will support an unmodified opinion for Parts A and B of the report, but result in a qualification to Part C.

Reporting on Compliance with Prudential Requirements

249. The auditor accumulates instances of non-compliance, other than those that are clearly trivial, identified in undertaking the reasonable and limited assurance engagements on Specified ADI

_

⁹⁸ For example, qualification of conclusion, adverse conclusion and disclaimer of conclusion. See ASAE 3150, paragraphs 84 and 87.

- Reporting Forms (Parts A and B) and the limited assurance engagement on internal controls (Part C), in order to form a conclusion.
- 250. The APS 310/3PS 310 requirement to report matters of non-compliance to APRA on an annual basis, is in addition to the reporting obligations under section 16BA of the Banking Act, which requires certain matters to be reported to APRA immediately and certain other matters to be reported to APRA as soon as is practicable.⁹⁹
- 251. In determining whether a failure to comply with Prudential Requirements is or will be significant, the appointed auditor considers the factors listed in subsection 16BA(7) of the Banking Act, namely:
 - (a) the number or frequency of similar failures;
 - (b) the impact the failure has or will have on the ADI's ability to conduct its business;
 - (c) the extent to which the failure indicates that the ADI's arrangements to ensure compliance with the Banking Act, the Prudential Standards or the Regulations might be inadequate;
 - (d) the actual or potential financial loss arising, or that will arise from the failure, to the depositors of the ADI or to the ADI; and
 - (e) any matters prescribed by the Regulations for the purposes of this subsection of the Banking Act.
- 252. The significance of a matter is to be judged by the appointed auditor in the context in which it is being considered, taking into account both quantitative and qualitative factors. This may, for example, include consideration of the significance of the potential impact of the non-compliance rather than the actual impact.
- 253. Furthermore, it is possible that an instance of non-compliance, which is not significant in isolation, may become so when considered in totality with other identified instances of non-compliance.
- 254. Where the appointed auditor considers identified instances of non-compliance as being potentially significant to the ADI as a whole and/or to its depositors' interests, or where the matter may be considered important by APRA in performing its functions under the Act, then the identified instance of non-compliance is a matter to be reported to APRA.
- 255. Matters likely to prejudice materially the interests of depositors are related generally to capital adequacy, solvency and going concern matters, for example, the ADI's compliance with minimum capital levels as per APRA Prudential Standard APS 110. In assessing whether the interests of depositors may be prejudiced materially, the appointed auditor considers not only a single activity or a single deficiency in isolation, as depositors' interests may be prejudiced materially by a number of activities or deficiencies which, although not individually material, do amount to a material threat when considered in totality. Similarly, it is possible that a breach in compliance, although not significant in isolation, may become so when considered in the context of other possible breaches.
- 256. In order to conclude on an ADI's and/or ADI group's compliance with all relevant Prudential Requirements, the appointed auditor considers the existence of relevant matters, that may indicate instances of non-compliance, throughout the reporting period and up to the date of signing the auditor's assurance report.

_

⁹⁹ Refer to section 16BA of the Banking Act.

- 257. The appointed auditor's review of subsequent events may include the following procedures:
 - reading minutes of the ADI's Board, as well as minutes of any sub committees
 responsible, for example, for risk, compliance and audit, held after balance date and
 enquiring about matters discussed at these meetings for which minutes are not yet
 available:
 - examining the ADI's breach registers up to the date of the auditor's assurance report;
 - enquiring of the ADI's management as to whether any subsequent events have occurred which might represent non-compliance with relevant Prudential Requirements.
- 258. The appointed auditor reports instances of significant non-compliance which have not previously been reported to APRA by the appointed auditor. This will include matters the ADI indicated it was notifying, and which an auditor relied upon as a reason for the auditor not notifying APRA.¹⁰⁰

Inherent Limitations of the Engagement

- 259. Due to the inherent limitations of any internal control and compliance framework it is possible that, even if controls are suitably designed and operating effectively, the control objectives may not be achieved and that fraud, errors, or non-compliance with Prudential Requirements may occur and not be detected. As the systems, procedures and controls to ensure compliance with Prudential Requirements are part of the ADI's operations, it is possible that either the inherent limitations of the internal control structure, or weaknesses in it, may impact on the effective operation of the ADI's specific control procedures.
- 260. Further, due to the nature of assurance engagement procedures and other inherent limitations of a these engagements, there is a possibility that a properly planned and executed engagement may not detect all errors or omissions in ADI Reporting Forms, deficiencies and/or deviations in controls, or instances of non-compliance with Prudential Requirements.
- 261. As explained in ASAE 3000, a limited assurance engagement is substantially less in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement. In a reasonable assurance engagement, as the auditor's objective is to provide a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, the auditor uses more extensive audit procedures than in a limited assurance engagement. A limited assurance engagement therefore does not provide all the evidence required in a reasonable assurance engagement and, consequently, the level of assurance provided is less than that given in a reasonable assurance engagement.
- 262. The appointed auditor performs procedures appropriate to provide limited assurance in relation to internal controls existing at the date of the engagement, and whether those controls have operated as documented throughout the financial year. Projections of any evaluation of internal control procedures or compliance measures to future periods are subject to the risk that control procedures may become inadequate because of changes in conditions after the auditor's annual prudential assurance report is signed, or that the degree of compliance may deteriorate. Furthermore, assurance engagement procedures on accounting records and data relied on for reporting and compliance are not performed continuously throughout the period and procedures performed are undertaken on a test basis only.
- 263. Consequently, there are inherent limitations on the level of assurance that can be provided.

٠

¹⁰⁰ Under subsections 16BA(5) and 16BA(10) of the Banking Act, an auditor is not required to notify APRA of matters that have been brought to the auditor's attention by the ADI, where the auditor is informed that APRA has been notified of the matter in writing by the ADI and the auditor has no reason to disbelieve the ADI.

Written Representations

- 264. Prior to issuing the auditor's annual prudential assurance report, the appointed auditor considers obtaining written representations¹⁰¹ from responsible management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance of the ADI and/or ADI group, as are considered appropriate to matters specific to the ADI and/or ADI group. Separate representation letters may be requested for the purposes of reporting under APS 310, 3PS 310 and APS 910.
- 265. These written representations are generally in the form of a representation letter. In obtaining and using these written representations, the appointed auditor complies with the requirements of, as appropriate, AUASB standards ASA 580¹⁰², ASRE 2405, ASAE 3000, ASAE 3150 and ASAE 3450.
- 266. Refer to Appendix 3 of this Guidance Statement for an illustrative example of the format of a representation letter, as well as examples of representations that may be considered appropriate in the specific engagement circumstances.

Communication with Those Charged with Governance

- 267. It is the responsibility of the appointed auditor to make the ADI aware, as soon as practicable, of any identified material misstatements in ADI Reporting Forms, material deficiencies and/or deviations in internal controls and instances of material non-compliance arising from the prudential reporting engagement.
- 268. Such communications are made as soon as practicable, either orally or in writing. The appointed auditor's decision whether to communicate orally or in writing ordinarily is affected by factors such as the nature, sensitivity and significance of the matter to be communicated and the timing of the communications. If the information is communicated orally, the appointed auditor needs to document the communication.
- 269. When, in the appointed auditor's judgement, those charged with governance do not respond appropriately within a reasonable period of time, the appointed auditor considers whether to modify the auditor's annual prudential assurance report.
- 270. It is important that the appointed auditor understands their additional statutory responsibilities to report certain matters to APRA under the Banking Act. Failure to notify APRA as required represents criminal offences, which attracts criminal penalties. 103
- 271. Material findings (misstatements, control deficiencies and/or deviations and non-compliance) are reported to APRA and the ADI's Board (or Board Audit Committee) as modifications to the appointed auditor's assurance report.
- 272. Under Auditing Standard ASA 260 Communication with Those Charged With Governance, ASA 265 Communicating Deficiencies in Internal Control to Those Charged with Governance and Management and ASAE 3000, the appointed auditor communicates relevant matters of governance interest arising from the engagement to those charged with governance on a timely basis. Examples of such matters may include:
 - The general approach and overall scope of the engagement, or any additional requirements.
 - Fraud or information that indicates that fraud may exist.
 - Significant deficiencies and/or deviations in internal controls identified during the engagement. A significant deficiency is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies

¹⁰¹ Including written confirmation of significant oral representations.

ASA 580 Written Representations.

Refer to sections 16B and 16BA of the Banking Act.

in internal control relevant to the engagement that, although not material, in the appointed auditor's professional judgement is of sufficient importance to merit the attention of those charged with governance.

- Disagreements with management about matters that, individually or in aggregate, could be significant to the engagement.
- Expected modifications to the auditor's prudential assurance report.
- 273. The appointed auditor informs those charged with governance of the ADI of those uncorrected misstatements, other than clearly trivial amounts, aggregated by the appointed auditor during and pertaining to the engagement that were considered to be immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the assurance engagement.
- 274. Under APS 310 and 3PS 310, if requested by APRA, the appointed auditor submits directly to APRA all assessments and other material associated with the auditor's report, such as management letters issued by the appointed auditor to the ADI which contain material findings relating to the auditor's prudential assurance report(s).

The Appointed Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report

- 275. The appointed auditor evaluates the evidence obtained in conducting the assurance engagement as the basis for the auditor's opinion/conclusions as required under APS 310, 3PS 310 and APS 910, as applicable.
- 276. If the appointed auditor:
 - (a) concludes that a material misstatement, internal control deficiency or deviation, and/or non-compliance exists; or
 - (b) is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate assurance evidence to conclude whether a material misstatement, internal control deficiency or deviation, and/or non-compliance may exist,

the appointed auditor modifies the auditor's opinion/conclusions, and includes a clear description of the reasons in the assurance report, in accordance with the requirements of, as appropriate, ASA 705 and other applicable AUASB Standards. 104

- 277. As required under APS 310, 3PS 310 and APS 910, the appointed auditor of an ADI and ADI Group generally reports simultaneously to APRA and the ADI's Board (or Board Audit Committee)¹⁰⁵, within three¹⁰⁶ months of the end of the financial year of the ADI.
- 278. In accordance with the requirements of APS 310 and 3PS 310, where an ADI is the head entity of a Level 2 or Level 3 group, the auditor issues either separate reports for, as applicable, Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3, or a combined report for the ADI (head entity) and the group. The auditor's report must make it clear where the auditor is referring to matters relating to the ADI (head entity) or the group.
- 279. To avoid the possibility of the assurance report being used for purposes for which it was not intended, the appointed auditor ordinarily indicates in the auditor's report the purpose for which the report is prepared and any restrictions on its distribution and use.

For a non-disclosing ADI, the relevant period is four months.

For example, see ASAE 3150, paragraphs 84-87.

Or, for a foreign ADI, a senior officer outside Australia to whom authority has been delegated in accordance with CPS 510, for overseeing the Australian operations.

Format of Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report(s)

- 280. The appointed auditor prepares the prudential assurance report(s) in accordance with the relevant AUASB Standards applicable to each part of the engagement. AUASB Standards do not prescribe a standardised format for reporting on all assurance engagements. Instead, these Standards identify the basic elements required to be included in the assurance report. The 'short form' auditor's report ordinarily includes only the basic elements. In relation to reasonable and limited assurance subject matters of this Guidance Statement, APRA has prescribed the form of the assurance report.
- 281. When expressing an opinion on historical financial information prepared in accordance with a compliance framework, ASA 805 would ordinarily require the auditor's opinion to state that the subject matter is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable reporting framework. However, as APRA's Prudential Standards mandate that the appointed auditor must provide an opinion on whether the financial information included in the Part A Specified ADI Reporting Forms is reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential Standards and Reporting Standards, this form of opinion has been adopted in the Appendix 4 assurance report.
- 282. ASA 805 also requires that application of the financial reporting framework result in a presentation that provides adequate disclosures to enable the intended users to understand the information conveyed in the report. The general concept of reliability would not ordinarily be adequate to satisfy the requirements of ASA 805. However, as set out in paragraphs 93-97 of this Guidance Statement, APRA has specified a frame of reference for the auditor to evaluate the concept of reliability for the purposes of forming an opinion on the Part A Specified ADI Reporting Forms.
- The principles set out in paragraphs 281 and 282 also apply to the appointed auditor's 283. conclusion on the financial information included in the Part B Specified ADI Reporting Forms, where the auditor is required to provide limited assurance, in accordance with the reporting requirements of ASRE 2405¹⁰⁹, that such information is reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.
- 284. APRA has agreed the prescribed form of the assurance report for the purposes of APS 310/3PS 310 and APS 910. In particular as it pertains to Part C and the application of ASAE 3150 requirements, as it may not be practicable for the appointed auditor to fully identify the controls subject to Part C of the APS 310/3PS 310 engagement in the assurance report to the level of detail specified in ASAE 3150, the prescribed form does not require these elements of ASAE 3150¹¹⁰. ASAE 3000 and ASAE 3150 permit an alternative form of assurance report where this is prescribed by regulation and the intended users would not misunderstand the alternative form. As APRA has agreed the prescribed form and is also the intended user, the form of the assurance reports set out in Appendices 4 and 5 is taken to be in accordance with the requirements of ASAE 3000 and ASAE 3150.
- 285. Assurance reports are tailored to the specific assurance engagement circumstances. Although not specifically required, the appointed auditor may consider it appropriate to include other information and explanations that do not directly affect the auditor's opinion/conclusions, but provide additional useful information to the users (that is, a 'long form' style of reporting). The inclusion of this information depends on its significance to the needs of the intended users. The following are examples of additional information that may be considered for inclusion:

See ASA 805, paragraph A8(b).

See ASA 805, paragraph 8. See ASRE 2405, paragraph 62. See ASAE 3150, paragraph 89(d) and (h). See ASAE 3000, paragraph 30 and ASAE 3150, paragraph 27.

See Appendix 4 of this Guidance Statement for an example of additional information APRA has indicated it expects auditors to include in the long form assurance report (see section 8. General and Specific Observations).

- Disclosure of materiality considerations (materiality levels) applied.
- Significant findings or exceptions relating to aspects of the assurance engagement.
- Recommendations.
- 286. The appointed auditor needs to ensure that this additional information is clearly separated from the auditor's opinion/conclusions, and worded in a manner to ensure that it does not affect the opinion/conclusions. This can be achieved, for example, by including any additional information in a:
 - (a) separate appendix to the auditor's short form assurance report; or
 - (b) separate section of the auditor's short form assurance report, under an appropriate heading. 113.

This will enable users to clearly distinguish this additional information from the auditor's responsibility to report on the matters identified in APS 310/3PS 310 and APS 910, if applicable.

287. Refer to Appendix 4 of this Guidance Statement for an illustrative example of the auditor's annual prudential assurance report, prepared pursuant to APRA's APS 310 and 3PS 310 annual reporting requirements. The format and content of this report has been approved by APRA as adequate for the purpose of reporting under APS 310/3PS 310.

APS 910 Assurance Report

- APRA requires the timing of the annual APS 910 engagement to be aligned with the annual APS 310 engagement. Although there will be some overlap between APS 310/3PS 310 and APS 910 engagements, APRA's preference is that separate reports be prepared for the APS 310/3PS 310 and APS 910 engagements. APRA indicated that this would facilitate clearer communication with respect to APS 910 matters. The requirement is for these reports to be submitted to APRA at the same time.
- 289. Therefore, all APS 910 requirements (compliance and controls) are aggregated into a separate APS 910 auditor's report and, to avoid duplication, are excluded from the APS 310 report.
- 290. Where the APS 910 auditor's report is modified, this is referred to in the APS 310/3PS 310 auditor's report and may lead to a modification of the APS 310/3PS 310 auditor's report.
- 291. Refer to Appendix 5 of this Guidance Statement for an illustrative example of the auditor's annual prudential assurance report, prepared pursuant to APRA's APS 910 annual reporting requirements. The format and content of this report has been approved by APRA as adequate for the purpose of reporting under APS 910.

Special Purpose Engagements

APRA Prudential Reporting Requirements

- 292. APRA may require an ADI, by notice in writing, to appoint an auditor, who may be the existing auditor or another auditor, as specified in APRA's notice, to undertake an assurance engagement of:
 - (a) under APS 310/3PS 310, a particular aspect of the ADI's and/or the ADI group's operations, prudential reporting, risk management systems or financial position; and/or

Refer to examples of assurance reports included in Appendix 6 of ASAE 3100, for further guidance on information that may be included in a long-form style of report, as agreed to in the terms of the engagement.

- (b) under APS 910, an ADI's SCV systems and data, and the systems used to generate and transmit FCS payment instruction and reporting information.
- 293. The APRA requirement for an auditor to undertake a special purpose engagement constitutes a separate reporting engagement. The details of the engagement will normally be the subject of a specific request from APRA to the ADI. A separate engagement letter will be issued based on that request.
- 294. The appointed auditor's special purpose engagement assurance report is generally to be submitted simultaneously to APRA and those charged with governance of the ADI and/or ADI group, within three months of the date of the notice commissioning the report, unless otherwise determined by APRA, and advised to the ADI by notice in writing.

Terms of the Engagement

- 295. Following the determination by APRA of the specific area to be examined, the appointed auditor, APRA and the ADI agree on the terms of the engagement in accordance with the requirements of applicable AUASB Standards. These arrangements are legally binding and include the required terms of engagement specified in APS 310, 3PS 310 and APS 910, as appropriate.
- 296. The appointed auditor accepts the engagement only when satisfied that relevant ethical requirements relating to the assurance engagement have been met. The concept of independence is important to the appointed auditor's compliance with the fundamental ethical principles of integrity and objectivity and the auditor must be able to meet the independence requirements stipulated under both CPS 510 and ASA 102. Furthermore, the auditor needs to satisfy the fitness and propriety requirements specified in CPS 520.
- 297. An engagement letter¹¹⁴ confirms both the client's and the appointed auditor's understanding of the terms of the engagement, helping to avoid misunderstanding, and the auditor's acceptance of the appointment. Both parties sign the engagement letter to acknowledge that it is a legally binding contract.
- 298. To ensure that there is a clear understanding regarding the terms of the engagement, the following are examples of matters to be agreed:
 - APRA is to identify the scope of the ADI's operations, prudential reporting, risk management or financial position to be the subject of the engagement.
 - The appointed auditor, APRA and the ADI are to agree on the objectives of the engagement, key features and criteria of the area(s) to be examined, and the period to be covered by the engagement.
 - APRA is to identify clearly the level of assurance required, that is, limited or reasonable assurance.
 - The format of reports required (for example, long and/or short form reports) or other communication of results of the engagement.
 - Responsibility of those charged with governance for the subject matter of the engagement.
 - Understanding of the inherent limitations of an assurance engagement.

¹¹⁴ Or other suitable form of written agreement.

Format of Reporting Requirements

- 299. The appointed auditor has regard to the requirements, guidance and illustrative examples of reports provided in relevant AUASB Standards ASAs, ASREs and ASAEs, as applicable, when preparing the special purpose assurance report. These Standards do not require a standardised format for special purpose reporting under APS 310, 3PS 310 or APS 910. Instead, these Standards identify the basic elements to be included in the auditor's report. The format of the special purpose assurance report may vary depending on the type of engagement: that is, reasonable or limited assurance, as well as the subject matter and the findings.
- 300. Ordinarily, the appointed auditor adopts a long form style of reporting and the report may include a description of the terms of the engagement, materiality considerations applied, the assurance approach, findings relating to particular aspects of the engagement and, in some cases, recommendations.
- 301. The appointed auditor's assurance report is to be restricted to the parties that have agreed to the terms of the special purpose engagement, namely the ADI and APRA, as well as other parties that APRA is lawfully entitled to share the information with.

Additional Reporting Requirements under the Banking Act

- 302. It is important that the auditor of an ADI recognises and understands their additional responsibilities under sections 16B, 16BA and 16C of the Banking Act, imposed on *any* auditor¹¹⁵ of an ADI, an authorised NOHC, or their subsidiaries, to provide information to APRA upon request, or where the auditor possesses reportable information specified in that Act, or where the auditor considers that the provision of information would assist APRA in performing its functions under the Banking Act or the FSCODA. Failure to notify APRA as required represent criminal offences, which attracts criminal penalties.¹¹⁶
- 303. Under the Banking Act, these matters are to be reported to APRA in writing and within specified time periods.
- 304. Sections 16B, 16BA and 16C of the Banking Act is applicable to all and any auditor of an ADI, authorised NOHCs, or their subsidiaries, not only to auditors appointed by an ADI to meet the prudential requirements under APS 310.
- 305. In relation to reporting under sections 16B and 16BA of the Banking Act, there is no requirement for the appointed auditor of an ADI to carry out additional work to satisfy the auditor with respect to the above matters. The appointed auditor reports to APRA on the basis of, for example:
 - (a) information obtained during the course of the auditor's financial report audit [and review] under the Corporations Act;
 - (b) additional reasonable and limited assurance procedures undertaken for APRA prudential reporting purposes (pursuant to APS 310 and 3PS 310, or in accordance with the requirements of another specific APRA Prudential Standard);
 - (c) other audit work undertaken at the ADI (for example, Australian Financial Services Licence audits); and
 - (d) the appointed auditor's current knowledge of the ADI's affairs at the time of issuing the auditor's assurance report.
- 306. In circumstances where the appointed auditor identifies that a reportable matter may exist, the auditor carries out such additional work as considered appropriate, to determine whether the

Refer to sections 16B, 16BA and 16C of the Banking Act.

1

¹¹⁵ Including the auditor appointed under APS 310, 3PS 310 and APS 910.

- facts and circumstances provide reasonable grounds for believing that the matter does in fact exist. In reaching this conclusion, the auditor exercises professional judgement and seeks appropriate legal advice if necessary.
- 307. The ADI may also notify APRA of the matter(s) identified by the appointed auditor, and provide details of any action(s) taken, or to be taken, in response. However, such notification by the ADI does not relieve the appointed auditor of the statutory obligation to report directly to APRA.

Conformity with International Pronouncements

308. As this Guidance Statement relates to Australian legislative requirements, there is no equivalent International Standard on Auditing or International Auditing Practice Note to this Guidance Statement.

Appendix 1

(Ref: Para. 20, 21, 47 and 79)

OUTLINE OF AUDITOR'S REPORTING REQUIREMENTS, LEVELS OF ASSURANCE, SUBJECT MATTER, EVALUATION CRITERIA AND APPLICABLE AUASB STANDARDS

The following table outlines the relevant reporting requirements applicable to the appointed auditor of an ADI and/or ADI group reporting pursuant to APRA's Prudential Standards APS 310 and 3PS 310 *Audit and Related Matters* and APS 910 *Financial Claims Scheme*, the level of assurance required, subject matter, evaluation criteria and relevant AUASB Standards. The table is not intended to be an exhaustive summary of an appointed auditor's obligations and requirements which are found in the *Banking Act 1959* (Banking Act), the *Financial Sector (Collection of Data) Act 2001* (FSCODA), APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards, other relevant APRA Prudential Requirements and applicable AUASB Standards.

APS 310/3PS 310 Annual Prudential Reporting Engagements (Routine Reporting)

Scope of Engagement	Levels of Assurance	Subject Matter	Criteria for Evaluating Subject Matter	Applicable AUASB Standards
PART A – Assurance on Specified ¹¹⁷ ADI Reporting Forms (APS 310, para 36(a)(c)) (3PS 310, para 27(a)(c))	Reasonable assurance	Information included in Specified ¹¹⁷ ADI Reporting Forms at the financial year-end of the ADI and/or Level 2 and/or Level 3 group, sourced from <i>accounting records</i> – historical financial information.	Information is reliable and in accordance with relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards. ¹¹⁸	ASA 805 (and other ASAs to the extent applicable, in accordance with ASA 805)

¹¹⁷ For a listing of ADI Reporting Forms to be subjected to the assurance engagement, refer to APRA Prudential Standard APS 310 Attachment A – Data Collections subject to reasonable and/or limited assurance. The requirements are different for Standardised, Advanced and Foreign ADIs.

¹¹⁸ Including relevant APRA Guidance materials (for example: Prudential and Reporting Practice Guides) and Reporting Form Instructions issued by APRA.

Guidance Statement GS 012 Prudential Reporting Requirements for Auditors of Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions (ADIs) and ADI Groups

Scope of Engagement	Levels of Assurance	Subject Matter	Criteria for Evaluating Subject Matter	Applicable AUASB Standards
PART B – Assurance on Specified ¹¹⁷ ADI Reporting Forms (APS 310, para 36(b)(c)) (3PS 310, para 27(b)(c))	Limited assurance	Information included in Specified ¹¹⁷ ADI Reporting Forms at the financial year-end of the ADI and/or Level 2 and/or Level 3 group, sourced from <i>non-accounting records</i> : • historical financial information • information other than historical financial information • prospective financial information. 119	 Information is reliable and in accordance with relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards. 118 Reasonableness of assumptions and calculation methodology used (for prospective financial information). 	As applicable: ASAE 3000 ASRE 2405 ASAE 3450
PART C (i) – Assurance on Internal Controls to ensure Compliance with Prudential Requirements: • suitability of design of controls to achieve identified control objectives • implementation of controls as designed • operating effectiveness of controls as designed (APS 310, para 36(d)(i)) (3PS 310, para 27(d)(i))	Limited assurance	Internal Controls as designed, implemented and in operation.	To ensure: Compliance with all applicable APRA Prudential Requirements Applicable controls operated effectively throughout the financial year	ASAE 3150

¹¹⁹ For example, refer to APRA ADI Reporting Forms 210.1A and 210.1B Liquidity Coverage Ratio, listed in APRA Prudential Standard APS 310 Attachment A – Data Collections subject to reasonable and/or limited assurance

Guidance Statement GS 012 Prudential Reporting Requirements for Auditors of Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions (ADIs) and ADI Groups

Scope of Engagement	Levels of Assurance	Subject Matter	Criteria for Evaluating Subject Matter	Applicable AUASB Standards
PART C (ii) – Assurance on Internal Controls to ensure Reliability of Data in Reporting Forms: • suitability of design of controls to achieve identified control objectives • implementation of controls as designed • operating effectiveness of controls as designed (APS 310, para 36(d)(ii)) (3PS 310, para 27(d)(ii))	Limited assurance	Internal Controls as designed, implemented and in operation.	 Data provided to APRA in <i>all</i> Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA are reliable and in accordance with relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards. Applicable controls operated effectively throughout the financial year 	ASAE 3150
PART D – Reporting on Compliance with Prudential Requirements (APS 310, para 36) (3PS 310, para 27(e))	Limited assurance	All of the above.	Compliance with all relevant Prudential Requirements under the Banking Act and the FSCODA.	No requirement for auditor to carry out additional assurance engagement procedures. Auditor may consider principles and guidance provided in ASAE 3100.

APS 910 Annual Prudential Reporting Assurance Engagements (Routine Reporting)

Scope of Engagement	Level of Assurance	Subject Matter	Criteria for Evaluating Subject Matter	Applicable AUASB Standards
Assurance on Internal Controls addressing generation of Single Customer View Data (SCV), as set out in APS 910 Attachment A, and Financial Claims Scheme (FCS) Payment Instruction and Reporting Information: • suitability of design of controls to achieve identified control objectives • implementation of controls as designed • operating effectiveness of controls as designed (APS 910, paragraph 27)	Limited Assurance	Internal Controls as designed, implemented and in operation.	 SCV data as set out in APS 910 Attachment A, to the extent practicable, and FCS payment instruction and reporting information can be relied upon as being complete and accurate and in accordance with APS 910. Applicable controls operated effectively throughout the financial year. (Also see Appendix 5 (Attachment 3) of this Guidance Statement) 	ASAE 3150

Special Purpose Engagements under APS 310/3PS 310 and APS 910

Level of Assurance	Subject Matter	Criteria for Evaluating Subject Matter	Applicable AUASB Standards
Reasonable and/or Limited assurance	 Particular aspect of an ADI's and/or Level 2 and/or Level 3 group's operations, prudential reporting, risk management systems or financial position, as determined by APRA (APS 310/3PS 310). SCV systems and data, and the systems used to generate and transmit FCS payment and reporting information (APS 910). 	As determined by APRA.	ASAE 3000 and relevant topic specific ASAEs, for example ASAE 3100 and/or ASAE 3150.

Additional Reporting Requirements under the Banking Act¹²⁰

Section of Banking Act	Statutory Reporting Requirement	Applicable AUASB Standards
Section 16B	Duty to provide information to APRA on request.	
Section 16BA	Requirement to provide information to APRA where the auditor possesses specified reportable information. Section 16BA identifies matters of which APRA needs to be notified of: (a) immediately; and (b) as soon as is practicable (no longer than 10 business days).	No requirement for an auditor to carry out additional assurance engagement procedures.
Section 16C	Auditor may provide information to APRA where the auditor considers that the provision of such information would assist APRA in performing its functions under the Banking Act or FSCODA.	

¹²⁰ Sections 16B, 16BA and 16C of the Banking Act is applicable to *all* auditors of ADIs, authorised NOHCs, or their subsidiaries, not only to auditors appointed by an ADI to meet the prudential reporting requirements under APS 310, 3PS 310 and APS 910.

Appendix 2

(Ref: Para. 67)

EXAMPLE ENGAGEMENT LETTER – LEVEL 1 ADI AND/OR LEVEL 2 ADI GROUP

For Annual Prudential Reporting Engagements undertaken pursuant to APRA Prudential Standards APS 310 Audit and Related Matters and APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme (Routine Reporting)

The following example engagement letter is to be used as a guide only and will need to be adapted according to individual engagement requirements and circumstances of the ADI and/or ADI group.

Note:

- 1. In this example engagement letter, the ADI on a "Level 1" basis is referred to as "the ADI". The group of which the ADI is a member on a "Level 2 basis", is referred to as "the ADI group".
- 2. If the engagement letter also covers a "Level 3" conglomerate group, this is indicated by using the appropriate terminology throughout the letter. 121
- 3. "Level 1", "Level 2" and "Level 3" have the meaning given in APRA Prudential Standards APS 001 and 3PS 001 *Definitions*.
- 4. APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme assurance engagements:

APS 910 identifies additional requirements for ADIs and their appointed auditors, including a requirement for the appointed auditor to perform a limited assurance engagement on the ADI's controls in relation to the generation of Single Customer View (SCV) data and Financial Claims Scheme (FCS) payment instruction and reporting information. These requirements are in addition to the APS 310 requirement for appointed auditors to perform a limited assurance engagement on controls implemented by the ADI to ensure compliance with all prudential requirements (which includes compliance with APS 910).

This example engagement letter has been prepared on the basis that the auditor has been appointed to undertake both the APS 310 and APS 910 engagements. As there will be some overlap between the engagements, the appointed auditor may decide to prepare a single engagement letter covering both engagements. Alternatively, separate engagement letters may be prepared for the purposes of the APS 310 and APS 910 engagements.

Where an ADI or ADI group is not subject to the requirements of APS 910, for example, a foreign ADI, references in the letter to APS 910 need to be removed. 122

GS 012

APRA Prudential Standard 3PS 310 Audit and Related Matters sets out the prudential reporting requirements for Level 3 groups.
 APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme does not apply to foreign ADIs and providers of purchased payment facilities. See APS 910, paragraph 2.

To [Appropriate Addressee¹²³] of the ADI [and/or head entity of the ADI group]

Engagement as auditors pursuant to APRA Prudential Standards APS 310 Audit and Related Matters [and APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme]

We are pleased to confirm the [acceptance/continuation] of our appointment as auditor of [Name of ADI] [for the Level 1 ADI] (the ADI) [and/or the Level 2 ADI group] (the ADI group) for the purposes of the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority's (APRA's) Prudential Standard(s) APS 310 Audit and Related Matters (APS 310) [and APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme (APS 910)].

APS 310 [and APS 910] identifies APRA's reporting requirements for appointed auditors of ADIs and appointed group auditors of Level 2 ADI groups. We set out below, in general terms, our understanding of the terms, objectives and scope of this engagement, as well as a description of the responsibilities of both those charged with governance of the ADI [and/or the ADI group] and the appointed auditor.

This engagement is a separate engagement from our audit [and half-year review] appointment(s) under the Corporations Act 2001 (Corporations Act).

1. **Objective and Scope of Engagement**

APS 310 [and APS 910] require us to report simultaneously, on an annual basis, to APRA and your [Title of those charged with governance 124] on the matters set out below, insofar as they relate to the ADI [and/or the ADI group].

[If applicable: In addition to requirements for reasonable and limited assurance in relation to APRA's ADI Reporting Forms, APS 310 requires us to perform a limited assurance engagement on the controls implemented by the ADI [and/or the ADI group] to ensure compliance with Prudential Requirements, which includes compliance with APS 910. APS 910 identifies additional requirements for ADIs and appointed auditors and requires the auditor to perform a limited assurance engagement on the control procedures of the ADI in relation to the Single Customer View (SCV) data and Financial Claims Scheme (FCS) payment and reporting information.

To reduce duplication of reporting compliance matters to APRA, we will aggregate all matters in relation to the FCS into one report. We will therefore provide two reports:

- (a) Independent assurance report in relation to APS 310 (excluding APS 910); and
- Independent assurance report in relation to APS 910 covering both compliance with the (b) Prudential Requirements and internal controls relating to the FCS.]

In accordance with APS 310 we are required to provide:

- reasonable assurance that the information, sourced from the ADI's [and/or the ADI group's] (a) accounting records, included in the ADI Reporting Forms at the financial year-end as specified in Attachment A of APS 310, is, in all material respects, reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards;
- (b) limited assurance, unless otherwise indicated by APRA in writing, that the information, sourced from non-accounting records, included in the ADI Reporting Forms at the financial year-end as specified in Attachment A of APS 310, is, in all material respects, reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards;

Amend to reflect the appropriate addressee of the report, for example, "Chairman of Board or Board Audit Committee" for a locally incorporated ADI or, for a foreign ADI, "Senior Officer Outside Australia" to whom authority has been delegated in accordance with APRA Prudential Standard CPS 510 *Governance*, for overseeing the Australian branch operations.

Amend this term to reflect the appropriate title for those charged with governance of the ADI, for example, "Board of Directors" for a locally incorporated ADI or, for a foreign ADI, "the Senior Officer Outside Australia" to whom authority has been delegated in

accordance with CPS 510, for overseeing the Australian branch operations. Insert appropriate title, when prompted, throughout the

- (c) limited assurance that, in all material respects:
 - (i) the ADI [and/or the ADI group] have implemented internal controls that are designed to ensure:
 - a. compliance with all applicable Prudential Requirements; and
 - b. reliable data is provided to APRA in the ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the *Financial Sector (Collection of Data) Act 2001* (FSCODA); and
 - (ii) the controls in (c)(i) have operated effectively throughout the financial year; and
- (d) limited assurance, based on our work under (a) to (c) above, that the ADI [and/or the ADI group] have complied, in all material respects, with all relevant Prudential Requirements under the *Banking Act 1959* (Banking Act) and the FSCODA, including compliance with APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards during the financial year.

[If applicable: In accordance with APS 910 we are required to provide:

- (a) limited assurance that, in all material respects:
 - (i) the ADI has implemented internal controls that are designed to ensure:
 - a. compliance with all applicable Prudential Requirements relating to APS 910; and
 - b. that SCV data as set out in APS 910 Attachment A, to the extent practicable, and FCS payment instruction and reporting information can be relied upon as being complete and accurate and in accordance with APS 910; and
 - (ii) these controls have operated effectively throughout the financial year; and
- (b) limited assurance, based on our work under (a) above, that the ADI has complied, in all material respects, with all relevant Prudential Requirements under the Banking Act relating to APS 910.]

Our annual prudential assurance reports will cover the same period as the annual financial report required under the Corporations Act and is to be issued within three [four] months of the financial year-end of the ADI.

2. Appointed Auditor's Responsibilities

[If applicable: As the statutory auditor of the ADI, we carry out sufficient procedures to enable us to form an opinion on the state of the [type of ADI]'s affairs and its results, and to report thereon to the members of the [type of ADI] in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act¹²⁵. Although our audit [and review] under the Corporations Act will include such review of the ADI's [and/or the ADI group's] systems of accounting and internal control and performance of such tests and enquiries as we consider necessary, these audit [and review] procedures are not designed to form an opinion on the systems of accounting and internal control taken as a whole.

In order to satisfy the requirements of APRA, we will carry out additional procedures over and above those which are performed in our capacity as the auditor under the Corporations Act¹²⁶.

Despite our involvement in examining the ADI's [and/or the ADI group's] systems of control, it must be appreciated that it is the responsibility of the [Title of those charged with governance] of the ADI [and/or head of the ADI group] to establish and maintain all of the ADI's [and/or the ADI group's] internal control systems. All such systems have their limitations and, this being so, errors or

¹²⁵ Or other appropriate local or overseas requirements.

Or other relevant legislation.

irregularities may occur, and which may not be detected. Our work is not to be relied upon for the purposes of discovering fraud, error, deficiencies, or non-compliance with laws and regulations, although we will report to the appropriate level of management any fraud, error, deficiencies, or non-compliance that may be identified as a result of our assurance engagement.

We recognise that there may be some overlap between our audit [and review] under the Corporations Act and work that is necessary to fulfil APRA's APS 310 prudential reporting requirements. In order to help ensure the most efficient use of resources, wherever possible, reliance will be placed on work that is carried out for the statutory financial report audit [and review] purposes.]

In order to report on the matters set out in the *Objective and Scope of Engagement* section of this letter, we are required to undertake both reasonable and limited assurance engagements, as described below, and to report our opinion and conclusions based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained.

We will conduct our reasonable assurance engagement in accordance with applicable Australian Auditing Standards and our limited assurance engagements in accordance with applicable Standards on Assurance Engagements and Standards on Review Engagements, and with reference to Guidance Statement GS 012 *Prudential Reporting Requirements for Auditors of Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions (ADIs) and ADI Groups*, issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB). These standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance and review engagements.

As part of our procedures, we will request representations from management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance, in respect of representations made to us in connection with the engagement.

After the completion of our prudential engagement report, it is our normal practice to report any matters of significance, together with suggestions for their correction and any recommendations we may have on the systems, procedures and controls in general. However, as our examination will be limited to the reasonable and limited assurance engagements in relation to matters set out in the *Objective and Scope of Engagement* section above, you cannot assume that any matters reported to you indicate that there are no additional matters or matters that you need to be aware of in meeting your responsibilities.

Responsibilities under APS 310:

PART A: Reasonable Assurance on Information included in Specified ADI Reporting Forms at financial year-end, sourced from Accounting Records

Our responsibility is to express an opinion, based on our reasonable assurance engagement, on whether the information sourced from the ADI's [and/or the ADI group's] accounting records, included in the ADI Reporting Forms at the financial year-end as specified in Attachment A to APS 310, is, in all material respects, reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.

We will conduct our reasonable assurance engagement in accordance with applicable Australian Auditing Standards.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that a reasonable assurance engagement conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of users taken on the basis of the Specified ADI Reporting Forms.

As part of a reasonable assurance engagement in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the reasonable assurance engagement. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the Specified ADI Reporting Forms, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform reasonable assurance procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the reasonable assurance engagement in order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.
- Communicate with the [Title of Those Charged with Governance] regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the reasonable assurance engagement and significant findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our reasonable assurance engagement.

PART B: Limited Assurance on Information included in Specified ADI Reporting Forms at financial year-end, sourced from Non-Accounting Records

Our responsibility is to perform a limited assurance engagement on information sourced from the ADI's [and/or the ADI group's] non-accounting records, included in ADI Reporting Forms at the financial year-end as specified in Attachment A to APS 310, and to express a conclusion on whether, based on the limited assurance procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained, anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that this information is not, in all material respects, reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.

We will conduct our limited assurance engagement in accordance with the AUASB's Standards on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information (ASAE 3000) and ASAE 3450 Assurance Engagements involving Corporate Fundraisings and/or Prospective Financial Information, and AUASB's Standard on Review Engagements ASRE 2405 Review of Historical Financial Information Other than a Financial report, as applicable.

A limited assurance engagement consists of making enquiries of responsible ADI [and/or the ADI group] personnel and applying analytical and other review procedures considered necessary and does not, ordinarily, require corroboration of the information obtained. A limited assurance engagement is substantially less in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards and, consequently, does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a reasonable assurance opinion.

The procedures we select will depend on our judgement, including our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the ADI Reporting Forms, whether due to fraud or error or of a material breakdown of controls. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control systems and compliance functions relevant to the preparation of the Specified ADI Reporting Forms in order to design limited assurance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

PART C: Limited Assurance on Internal Controls addressing Compliance with Prudential Requirements and Reliability of Data included in ADI Reporting Forms

Our responsibility is to perform a limited assurance engagement and to express a conclusion, based on the limited assurance procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained, on whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, in all material respects, throughout the period from [date] to [date]:

- (a) the ADI [and/or ADI group] has not implemented internal controls that are designed to ensure:
 - (i) compliance with all applicable Prudential Requirements [(excluding APS 910)]; and

- (ii) reliable data is provided to APRA in ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA; and
- (b) these controls have not operated effectively.

We will conduct our limited assurance engagement on controls in accordance with the AUASB's Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance Engagements on Controls.

A limited assurance engagement on controls in accordance with ASAE 3150 involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of controls. The procedures we select will depend on our judgement, including our assessment of the risks of material deficiencies in the design and/or implementation of the controls, or deviation in their operating effectiveness. In making those risk assessments, we will consider internal control systems and compliance functions relevant to ensuring compliance with all Prudential Requirements and provision of reliable data to APRA in ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA, in order to design assurance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

As part of our limited assurance engagement on controls we will perform procedures primarily consisting of making enquiries of management and other responsible personnel within the ADI [and/or the ADI group], as appropriate, examination of design specifications and documentation, and observation of implementation and operation of controls.

We will perform additional procedures if we become aware of matters that cause us to believe that the controls may not be suitably designed, implemented or operating effectively.

Because of the inherent limitations of an assurance engagement, together with the inherent limitations of any system of controls, there is an unavoidable risk that some deficiencies in the design and/or implementation of the controls or deviation in their operating effectiveness may not be detected, even though the engagement is properly planned and performed in accordance with ASAE 3150.

The system within which the controls that we will examine operate, will not be examined, except to the extent the system is relevant to the achievement of the control objectives. Therefore, no opinion will be expressed as to the effectiveness of the system of controls as a whole.

The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement vary in nature and timing from, and are substantially less in scope than for a reasonable assurance engagement conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards and, consequently, the level of assurance obtained in a limited assurance engagement is substantially lower than the assurance that would have been obtained had a reasonable assurance engagement been performed. Therefore, there is a higher risk than there would be in a reasonable assurance engagement, that any material deficiencies or deviations in controls that exist may not be revealed by the engagement, even though the engagement is properly performed in accordance with ASAE 3150. In expressing our conclusion, our report on the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of controls will expressly disclaim any reasonable assurance conclusion on controls.

PART D: Limited Assurance on Compliance with Prudential Requirements

Our responsibility is to express a limited assurance conclusion, based on our work performed under Parts A to C above, on whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, for the financial year ended [date], the ADI [and/or the ADI group] has not, in all material respects, complied with all relevant Prudential Requirements under the Banking Act and the FSCODA, including compliance with APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.

[If applicable: Responsibilities under APS 910:

PART A – Limited Assurance on Internal Controls addressing Generation of SCV Data, as set out in Attachment A to APS 910, and FCS Payment Instruction and Reporting Information

In relation to APS 910 paragraph 27, our responsibility is to perform a limited assurance engagement as described below, and to express a conclusion based on the limited assurance procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained, on whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, in all material respects, throughout the period from [date] to [date]:

- (a) the ADI has not implemented internal controls that are designed to ensure that SCV data as set out in APS 910 Attachment A, to the extent practicable, and FCS payment instruction and reporting information can be relied upon as being complete and accurate and in accordance with APS 910; and
- (b) these controls have not operated effectively when tested.

PART B – Limited Assurance on Internal Controls addressing Compliance with Prudential Requirements relating to APS 910 conducted as part of APS 310 Requirements

In relation to APS 310 paragraph 36(d), our responsibility is to perform a limited assurance engagement as described below, and to express a conclusion based on the limited assurance procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained, on whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, in all material respects, throughout the period from [date] to [date]:

- (a) the ADI did not have controls that are designed to ensure that the ADI has complied with all applicable prudential requirements relating to APS 910; and
- (b) these controls have not operated effectively.

PART C - Reporting on Compliance with Prudential Requirements

In relation to APS 310 paragraph 36, our responsibility is to express a conclusion, based on our work performed under Parts A and B above, on whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, for the period [date] to [date], the ADI has not, in all material respects, complied with all relevant prudential requirements under the Banking Act relating to APS 910.

We will conduct our limited assurance engagement on controls for Parts A and B above in accordance with ASAE 3150.

A limited assurance engagement on controls in accordance with ASAE 3150 involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of controls. The procedures we select will depend on our judgement, including our assessment of the risks of material deficiencies in the design and/or implementation of the controls, or deviation in their operating effectiveness. In making those risk assessments, we will consider internal control systems and compliance functions relevant to ensuring compliance with APS 910 and specifically the requirements set out above in relation to the SCV data and FCS payment instruction and reporting information.

As part of our limited assurance engagement on controls, we will perform procedures consisting of making enquiries, primarily of persons responsible for the control procedures, inspection of evidence and observation on a sample basis of the design and operation of the controls, events or business

routines implemented by the ADI as well as testing practices and results in order to meet the control objectives identified in Appendix [insert]. 127

We will perform additional procedures if we become aware of matters that cause us to believe that the controls may not be suitably designed, implemented or operating effectively.

The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement vary in nature and timing from, and are substantially less in scope than for a reasonable assurance engagement conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards and, consequently, the level of assurance obtained in a limited assurance engagement is substantially lower than the assurance that would have been obtained had a reasonable assurance engagement been performed. Therefore, there is a higher risk than there would be in a reasonable assurance engagement, that any material deficiencies or deviations in controls that exist may not be revealed by the engagement, even though the engagement is properly performed in accordance with ASAE 3150. In expressing our conclusion, our report on the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of controls will expressly disclaim any reasonable assurance conclusion on controls.]

3. Responsibilities of the [Title of Those Charged with Governance¹²⁸] and Management of the ADI [and/or the ADI Group]

In accordance with APRA Prudential Standard CPS 220 *Risk Management*, it is the responsibility of the [Title of those charged with governance] of the ADI [and/or head of the ADI group] to ensure that the ADI [and/or the ADI group] has prudent risk management practices.

This responsibility includes providing APRA with a Risk Management Declaration, as set out in Attachment A to CPS 220.

In relation to the APS 310 annual prudential assurance report(s) this responsibility includes:

- (a) ensuring that the information included in ADI Reporting Forms at the financial year-end is reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards;
- (b) establishing and maintaining internal controls that are designed to ensure:
 - (i) the ADI [and/or the ADI group] complies with all applicable Prudential Requirements;
 - (ii) reliable data is provided to APRA in the ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA; and
- (c) ensuring that the internal controls under (b) operate effectively throughout the financial year;
- (d) ensuring that the ADI [and/or the ADI group] complies with all relevant Prudential Requirements under the Banking Act and the FSCODA, including compliance with APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards during the financial year; and
- (e) ensuring that the ADI [and/or the ADI group] maintain(s) accounting records which at any time throughout the year disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the ADI [and/or the ADI group].

Furthermore, in accordance with APS 310, it is the responsibility of the [Title of those charged with governance] and management of an ADI [and/or ADI group] to ensure that the auditor:

(a) has access to all data, information, reports and staff of the ADI that the auditor reasonably believes is necessary to fulfil its role and responsibilities under APS 310. This includes access

-

¹²⁷ See Attachment 3 to Appendix 5 of this Guidance Statement.

¹²⁸ Alternatively, for a foreign ADI, "senior officer outside Australia" (to whom authority has been delegated in accordance with CPS 510, for overseeing the Australian operations). Insert appropriate title, when prompted, throughout the letter.

- to the ADI's [Title of those charged with governance], [Title of those charged with governance] Committees and internal auditors, as required;
- (b) is fully informed of all prudential requirements applicable to the ADI [and/or the ADI group]. Prudential requirements include requirements imposed by the Act, regulations, prudential standards, the FSCODA, reporting standards, conditions on authority and any other requirements imposed by APRA, in writing, in relation to an ADI.
- (c) is provided with any other information APRA has provided to the ADI that may assist the auditor in fulfilling its role and responsibilities under APS 310.

[If applicable: In accordance with APS 910 specifically, it is the responsibility of the [Title of those charged with governance] and management of the ADI to ensure that appropriate policies and procedures are in place to ensure the integrity of operations, internal controls and information required by APS 910. This includes, but is not limited to, responsibility for:

- (a) undertaking all necessary steps to ensure compliance with APS 910;
- (b) ensuring systems and processes are in place to identify, to the extent practicable, each unique account-holder who holds a protected account;
- (c) being able to calculate a SCV for each unique account holder identified and transmit that data to APRA, or a person nominated by APRA;
- (d) being able to generate and transmit payment instruction information for FCS purposes to the RBA, or another paying agent nominated by APRA;
- (e) being able to generate and transmit reporting information to APRA, an account-holder, the ATO and any other party nominated by APRA;
- (f) ensuring systems and associated controls are adequate for the purposes of ensuring that data generated by SCV systems are complete and accurate, to the extent practicable;
- (g) ensuring systems and associated controls are adequate for the purposes of ensuring that the FCS payment instruction and reporting information generated and transmitted by the systems, including the ability to capture alternative ADI account data, are complete and accurate.
- (h) complying with the communications requirements set out in APS 910; and
- (i) complying with the testing requirements set out in APS 910]

4. Auditor's Independence and Ouality Control

In undertaking the assurance engagement, we will comply with:

- (a) the relevant ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board's *APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)* relating to assurance engagements, which include independence and other requirements founded on fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour;
- (b) the independence requirements specified by APRA in Prudential Standard CPS 510 *Governance*;
- (c) the fitness and propriety criteria specified by APRA in Prudential Standard CPS 520 *Fit and Proper*; and
- (d) Auditing Standard ASQC 1 Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other Financial Information, and Other Assurance Engagements.

5. Inherent Limitations

Due to the inherent limitations of any internal control and compliance framework it is possible that, even if the controls are suitably designed and operating effectively, the control objectives may not be achieved and that fraud, error, or non-compliance with Prudential Requirements may occur and not be detected. Further, the internal control structure, within which the controls that we have assured operate, has not been assured and no opinion is expressed as to its design or operating effectiveness.

Projections of any evaluation of internal control procedures or compliance measures to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance may deteriorate.

A reasonable or limited assurance engagement is not designed to detect all misstatements in ADI Reporting Forms, or deficiencies and/or deviations in internal controls, or instances of non-compliance with applicable Prudential Requirements, as assurance engagement procedures are not performed continuously throughout the period and are undertaken on a test basis.

Consequently, there are inherent limitations on the level of assurance that can be provided.

The opinion and conclusions expressed in our prudential assurance report(s) are to be read in the context of the foregoing comments.

6. Internal Audit

The ADI's internal audit function is considered well placed to review and test properly documented systems, procedures and controls operating within the ADI [and/or the ADI group]. Consequently, it is our intention to liaise closely with internal auditors throughout the year.

Where work is carried out by internal auditors as part of the internal control procedures of the ADI [and/or ADI group], we [intend to/may] review the work performed and carry out such re-performance tests and other procedures as we consider necessary. Where we are satisfied with the work carried out by internal auditors, it is our intention to place reliance on such work in accordance with Auditing Standard ASA 610 *Using the Work of Internal Auditors*, and, where appropriate, reduce the extent of our own procedures relating to internal controls.

7. Special Purpose Engagements

Under APS 310, APRA may require you, by notice in writing, to appoint an auditor to provide a report on a particular aspect of the ADI's [and/or ADI group's] operations, prudential reporting, risk management systems or financial position.

[If applicable: Under APS 910, APRA may, in writing, require an ADI to engage an auditor to undertake a reasonable or limited assurance engagement of SCV systems and data, and the systems used to generate and transmit FCS payment instruction and reporting information.]

The details of such engagements will be the subject of specific requests from APRA and will constitute separate engagements and reporting. In these circumstances, separate engagement letters will be issued.

8. Liaison with APRA

Under normal circumstances, liaison with APRA will take place under tripartite arrangements involving APRA, the ADI [and/or the head of the ADI group] and its appointed auditor(s). Notwithstanding the tripartite relationship, APS 310 allows for communication between an auditor and APRA on a bilateral basis, at the request of either party. APRA can, although not commonly, request information directly from an appointed auditor.

Under CPS 510, an ADI is required to ensure that its internal policy and contractual arrangements do not explicitly or implicitly restrict or discourage auditors from communication with APRA.

9. Additional Reporting Responsibilities under the Banking Act

Under sections 16B, 16BA and 16C of the Banking Act, we are required to provide information to APRA upon request, or where we possess reportable information specified in the Banking Act, or where we consider that the provision of information would assist APRA in performing its functions under the Banking Act or the FSCODA.

Part VIA of the Banking Act includes provisions to protect an auditor providing information to APRA, in good faith and without negligence, from any action, claim or demand by, or any liability to, any other person in respect of the information.

10. Restriction on Distribution and Use of Report(s)

Our annual APS 310 [and APS 910] prudential assurance report(s) and any special purpose engagement report(s) will be prepared for distribution to the [Title of those charged with governance] or [Title of those charged with governance] Audit Committee of the ADI [and/or head of ADI group] and APRA. These assurance reports will be prepared in accordance with the terms of this engagement letter, in order to satisfy APRA's prudential reporting requirements for appointed auditors of ADIs [and/or ADI groups], as specified in APS 310 [and APS 910]. As a result, these reports may not be suitable for another purpose.

This report is not to be distributed to any party other than those to whom it is addressed, APRA, and other parties to whom APRA is lawfully entitled to provide relevant information ("Other Parties"). In accordance with the *Australian Prudential Regulation Authority Act 1998*, APRA may make our assurance reports available to Other Parties when APRA is satisfied that such information may assist those parties in performing their functions or exercising their powers. We disclaim any assumption of responsibility for any reliance on these reports, or the subject matter to which it relates, to any party other than the ADI [and/or the ADI group] and APRA in the performance of its functions under the Banking Act, or for any purpose other than that for which it was prepared.

11. Fees

The requirement to report pursuant to APS 310 is in addition to, and separate from, the audit [and review] of financial reports required under the Corporations Act and will result in additional assurance procedures being carried out. Fees relating to this work will be based on the degree of responsibility and skill involved and the time necessarily occupied by the work undertaken.

As the fees will not relate to our audit [and review] carried out in our capacity as the statutory auditor under the Corporations Act, our invoices will be rendered separately, to clearly identify the additional cost of APRA's prudential reporting requirements.

[Insert additional information here regarding fee arrangements, billings and other specific items, as appropriate.]

We look forward to full cooperation with you and your staff and we trust that you will make available to us whatever records, documentation and other information are requested in connection with our assurance engagement.

This letter will be effective for future years unless we advise you of its amendment or replacement, or the engagement is terminated.

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowledgement of, and agreement with, the arrangements for our prudential assurance engagement pursuant to APS 310 [and APS 910].

Guidance Statement GS 012 Prudential Reporting Requirements for Auditors of Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions (ADIs) and ADI Groups

Yours faithfully,	Acknowledged on behalf of [name of ADI] by
(signed)	(signed)
Name and Title	Name and Title
Date	Date

Appendix 3

(Ref: Para. 266)

EXAMPLE REPRESENTATION LETTER – LEVEL 1 ADI AND/OR LEVEL 2 ADI GROUP

For Annual Prudential Reporting Engagements undertaken pursuant to APRA Prudential Standards APS 310 Audit and Related Matters and APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme (Routine Reporting)

The following example representation letter is to be used as a guide only and will need to be adapted according to individual engagement requirements and circumstances of the ADI and/or ADI group.

Note:

- 1. In this example representation letter, the ADI on a "Level 1" basis is referred to as "the ADI". The group of which the ADI is a member on a "Level 2" basis, is referred to as "the ADI group".
- 2. If the representation letter also covers a "Level 3" conglomerate group, this is indicated by using the appropriate terminology throughout the letter. 129
- 3. "Level 1", "Level 2" and "Level 3" have the meaning given in APRA Prudential Standards APS 001 and 3PS 001 *Definitions*.
- 4. This example representation letter has been prepared on the basis that the auditor has requested management to include representations in relation to the APS 310 engagement and APS 910 engagement into a single letter. Alternatively, separate representation letters may be prepared for the purposes of APS 310 and APS 910.

Where an ADI or ADI group is not subject to the requirements of APS 910, for example, a foreign ADI, references in the letter to APS 910 need to be removed. 130

GS 012 - 76 - GUIDANCE STATEMENT

APRA Prudential Standard 3PS 310 Audit and Related Matters sets out the prudential reporting requirements for Level 3 groups.
 APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme does not apply to foreign ADIs and providers of purchased payment facilities. See APS 910, paragraph 2.

[name of ADI [and/or ADI group] Letterhead]

[Addressed to Appointed Auditor]

[Date]

Dear Sir/Madam

Representation Letter for Annual Prudential Reporting Engagement(s) undertaken pursuant to APRA Prudential Standard(s) APS 310 Audit and Related Matters [and APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme for the period [date] to [date]]

This representation letter is provided in connection with your reasonable and limited assurance engagement(s), as required by APRA's Prudential Standard(s) APS 310 *Audit and Related Matters* (APS 310) [and APS 910 *Financial Claims Scheme* (APS 910)], of [name of ADI] [for the Level 1 ADI] (the ADI) [and/or the Level 2 ADI group (the ADI group)] for the period [date] to [date]¹³¹, for the purpose of you providing:

In accordance with APS 310:

- (a) reasonable assurance that the information sourced from the ADI's [and/or the ADI group's] accounting records, included in the APRA ADI Reporting Forms at [the financial year-end] as specified in Attachment A of APS 310, is, in all material respects, reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards;
- (b) limited assurance, unless otherwise indicated by APRA in writing, that the information sourced from the ADI's [and/or the ADI group's] non-accounting records, included in the ADI Reporting Forms at [the financial year-end] as specified in Attachment A of APS 310, is, in all material respects, reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards;
- (c) limited assurance that, in all material respects:
 - (i) the ADI [and/or the ADI group] has implemented internal controls that are designed to ensure:
 - (i) compliance with all applicable Prudential Requirements; and
 - (ii) reliable data is provided to APRA in the ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the *Financial Sector (Collections of Data) Act 2001* (FSCODA); and
 - (iii) the controls in (c)(i) have operated effectively throughout the financial year; and
- (d) limited assurance, based on your work under (a) to (c) above, that the ADI [and/or the ADI group] has complied, in all material respects, with all relevant Prudential Requirements under the *Banking Act 1959* (Banking Act) and the FSCODA, including compliance with APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards during the financial year.

[In accordance with APS 910:

(a) limited assurance that, in all material respects, the ADI has controls that are designed to ensure that Single Customer View (SCV) data as set out in APS 910 Attachment A, to the extent practicable, and Financial Claims Scheme (FCS) payment instruction and reporting information can be relied upon as being complete and accurate and in accordance with APS 910, and these controls have operated effectively when tested;

Wording in this paragraph, including definitions for the ADI/ADI group, should be consistent with wording used in the Engagement Letter and Prudential Assurance Reports. See Appendices 2, 4 and 5 of this Guidance Statement.

- (b) limited assurance that, in all material respects, the ADI has controls that are designed to ensure compliance with all applicable prudential requirements relating to APS 910 and these controls have operated effectively throughout the period [date] to [date]; and
- limited assurance, based on your work under (a) and (b) above, that the ADI has complied, in all material respects, with all relevant prudential requirements under the *Banking Act 1959* (Banking Act), including compliance with APS 910, throughout the period [date] to [date].]

We acknowledge our responsibility under APS 310 for ensuring that:

- (a) the ADI [and/or the ADI group] complies with all relevant prudential and statutory requirements and has prudent risk management practices.
- (b) the ADI [and/or the ADI group] identifies key risks and establishes risk management practices that are detailed in descriptions of risk management systems and are regularly reviewed and updated, at least annually, to take account of changing circumstances;
- (c) APRA is provided with high-level descriptions of our key risk management systems covering all major areas of risk, and APRA is informed of all material changes to the ADI's [and/or the ADI group's] risk management systems descriptions when they are made;
- (d) adequate controls have been designed to ensure:
 - (i) compliance with all applicable Prudential Requirements[, including all Prudential Requirements set out in APS 910]; and
 - (ii) reliable data is provided to APRA in the ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA;

and that these controls operated effectively throughout the [period] to [period];

- (e) the information included in ADI Reporting Forms at [the financial year-end] is reliable, and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential Standards and Reporting Standards;
- (f) accounting and non-accounting records, and the ADI Reporting Forms prepared from them, are accurate;
- (g) the ADI [and/or ADI group] maintain accounting records which at any time throughout the year disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position and financial performance of the ADI [and/or ADI group];
- (h) you are informed of all Prudential Requirements applicable to the ADI [and/or the ADI group];
- (i) the ADI [and/or ADI group] have provided you with any other information APRA has provided to the ADI [and/or the ADI group] that may assist you in fulfilling your role and responsibilities under APS 310; and
- (j) we have provided you with access to all data, information, reports and staff of the ADI [and/or the ADI group] that you reasonably believe are necessary to fulfil your role and responsibilities under APS 310. This includes access to the ADI's [Title of those charged with governance] 132, [Title of those charged with governance] Audit Committee and internal auditors as required.

_

Or, for a foreign ADI, "the Senior Officer Outside Australia" to whom authority has been delegated in accordance with CPS 510 Governance, for overseeing the Australian branch operations. Insert appropriate title, when prompted, throughout the letter.

[In addition, in accordance with APS 910, we acknowledge our responsibility for ensuring that appropriate policies and procedures are in place to ensure the integrity of operations, internal controls and information required by APS 910. This includes, but is not limited to, responsibility for the ADI:

- (a) undertaking all necessary steps to ensure compliance with APS 910;
- (b) ensuring systems and processes are in place to identify, to the extent practicable, each unique account-holder who holds a protected account;
- calculating a SCV for each unique account holder identified in accordance with relevant requirements, and transmit that data to APRA or to a person nominated by APRA;
- (d) being able to generate and transmit payment instruction information for FCS purposes to the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA), or another paying agent nominated by APRA;
- (e) being able to generate and transmit reporting information to APRA, an account-holder, the Australian Tax Office (ATO) and any other party nominated by APRA;
- (f) ensuring systems and associated controls are adequate for the purposes of ensuring that data generated by SCV systems are complete and accurate, to the extent practicable;
- (g) ensuring systems and associated controls are adequate for the purposes of ensuring that the FCS payment instruction and reporting information generated and transmitted by the systems, including the ability to capture alternative ADI account data, are complete and accurate;
- (h) complying with the communications requirements set out in APS 910; and
- (i) complying with the testing requirements set out in APS 910.]

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such enquiries as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves, the following representations made to you during your assurance engagement:

[Include representations relevant to the ADI [and/or the ADI group]. Such representations may include the following examples.]

- 1. We have made available to you for the purpose of your assurance engagement:
 - (a) all data, information, reports and staff of the ADI [and/or the ADI group] that you have required to fulfil your role and responsibilities under APS 310 [and APS 910];
 - (b) access to the ADI's [and/or the ADI group's] [Title of those charged with governance], audit committee(s) and internal auditors as required, and related data, minutes of meetings, reports, other information, explanations and assistance necessary for the conduct of the assurance engagements pursuant to APS 310 [and APS 910];
 - (c) all correspondence with APRA concerning all Prudential Requirements applicable to the ADI [and/or the ADI group];
 - (d) all policies and procedures (including all changes in the reporting period) that are designed to ensure the ADI [and/or the ADI group] has:
 - (i) complied with all applicable Prudential Requirements [, including APS 910 requirements]; and
 - (ii) provided reliable data to APRA in the ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA;
 - (e) all high level descriptions of our key risk management systems covering all material risks, approved by the [Title of those charged with governance] and management, and

- including all material changes to the risk management systems descriptions provided to APRA during the financial period; and
- (f) all other information APRA has provided to the ADI [and/or the ADI group] that may assist you in fulfilling your role and responsibilities under APS 310 [and APS 910].

2. There has been:

- (a) no fraud, error or non-compliance with APRA Prudential Requirements that could have a material effect on the reporting of data to APRA under the FSCODA, or compliance with applicable Prudential Requirements;
- (b) no fraud, error or non-compliance with APRA Prudential Requirements involving management or employees who have a significant role in the internal control structure; and
- (c) no communications from APRA concerning non-compliance with, or deficiencies in, prudential compliance and reporting practices and controls relating to compliance with Prudential Standards [, including APS 910 requirements], that could have a material effect on your report.

[If applicable: other than instances detected by our control framework and provided to you in the course of your engagement and/or as included by you in your report.]

- 3. We have disclosed to you the results of management's assessment of the risk of non-compliance with Prudential Standards as a result of fraud.
- 4. We have established and maintained adequate internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud and error and to ensure the ADI [and/or the ADI group] has:
 - (a) complied with all applicable Prudential Requirements [including APS 310 and APS 910 requirements]; and
 - (b) provided reliable data to APRA in the ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA;

and that those controls have operated effectively throughout the period [date] to [date].

[If applicable: other than instances that have been provided to you in the course of your engagement and/or as included by you in your report];

- 5. There has been no breakdown in internal controls or non-compliance with the policies and procedures which are designed to ensure the ADI [and/or the ADI group] has:
 - (a) complied with all applicable Prudential Requirements; and
 - (b) provided reliable data to APRA in the ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA,

[If applicable: other than instances that have been provided to you in the course of your engagement and/or as included by you in your report];

- 6. We have complied with all prudential and statutory requirements applicable to the ADI [and/or the ADI group] throughout the period [date] to [date].
 - [If applicable: other than instances that have been provided to you in the course of your engagement and/or as included by you in your report]
- 7. We have provided to APRA:

- (a) all high level descriptions of our key risk management systems covering all identified key risks, approved by the [Title of those charged with governance] and management, and including all material changes to the risk management systems descriptions made during the financial year; and
- (b) all information as prescribed by the Prudential Standards for disclosure to APRA within the prescribed period.

[If applicable: other than instances that have been provided to you in the course of your engagement and/or as included by you in your report]

- 8. We have consulted with APRA on all matters such as new business ventures and other initiatives, where prescribed by the Prudential Standards, and provided you with the responses from APRA.
- 9. In accordance with CPS 220 *Risk Management*, we have signed [or intend to sign] a Risk Management Declaration to APRA, stating that for the period [date] to [date], to the best of our knowledge and having made appropriate enquiries, in all material respects:
 - (a) the ADI [and/or the ADI group] has in place systems for ensuring compliance with all Prudential Requirements;
 - (b) the systems and resources that are in place for identifying, measuring, evaluating, monitoring, reporting, and controlling or mitigating material risks, and the risk management framework, are appropriate to the ADI [and/or the ADI group], having regard to the size, business mix and complexity of the ADI [and/or the ADI group];
 - (c) the risk management and internal control systems in place are operating effectively and are adequate having regard to the risks they are designed to control;
 - (d) the ADI [and/or the ADI group] has a Risk Management Strategy (RMS) that complies with CPS 220, and the ADI [and/or the ADI group] has complied with each measure and control described in the RMS; and
 - (e) the ADI [and/or the ADI group] is satisfied with the efficacy of the processes and systems surrounding the production of financial information at the ADI [and/or the ADI group].
- 10. [In accordance with APS 910, we have signed [or intend to sign] a declaration to APRA from our CEO attesting that for the period [date] to [date], the ADI:
 - (a) has taken all necessary steps to ensure that it is compliant with the requirements set out in APS 910,
 - (b) has systems and processes that allows it to identify, to the extent practicable, each unique account-holder who holds a protected account,
 - is able to calculate an SCV for each unique account-holder identified and transmit that data to APRA, or to a person nominated by APRA, as required by APS 910,
 - is able to generate and transmit payment instruction information for FCS purposes to the RBA, or another paying agent nominated by APRA, as required by APS 910;
 - (e) is able to generate and transmit reporting information to APRA, an account-holder, the ATO and any other party nominated by APRA, as required by APS 910,
 - (f) has systems and associated controls that are adequate for the purposes of ensuring that data generated by SCV systems are complete and accurate, to the extent practicable,

- (g) has systems and associated controls that are adequate for the purpose of ensuring that the FCS payment and reporting information generated and transmitted by the ADI's systems, including the ability to capture alternative ADI account data, are complete and accurate:
- (h) is able to comply with the communications requirements set out in APS 910; and
- (i) is able to comply with the testing requirements as set out in APS 910.]
- 11. With respect to ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA:
 - (a) the data has been compiled in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards, and related guidance applicable to each form;
 - (b) the ADI Reporting Forms have been resubmitted where assurance engagement adjustments of a material nature were identified;
 - (c) there are no material transactions that have not been recorded properly in the accounting records supporting the ADI Reporting Forms; and
 - (d) information in the ADI Reporting Forms, sourced from records other than the ADI's [and/or the ADI group's] accounting records, are prepared from reliable records applicable to the matters to be provided to APRA, in accordance with the applicable guidance provided by APRA.
- 12. We acknowledge that you have advised management of uncorrected misstatements, deficiencies and deviations in controls and non-compliance with Prudential Standards that you became aware of as a result of your assurance engagement procedures.
- 13. We believe the effects of all uncorrected misstatements, deficiencies and deviations in controls, and instances of non-compliance with Prudential Standards, identified by you during the assurance engagement and summarised in the attached [insert Appendix], pertaining to the reporting period [date] to [date] (including the effects of prior year issues impacting the current reporting period) are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, or adequately reported to APRA.
- 14. No events have occurred subsequent to [the financial year-end date] and through to the date of this letter that would require adjustment to, or disclosure in, the ADI Reporting Forms.
- 15. [Include any additional matters relevant to the circumstances of the engagement.]

We understand that your examination was made in accordance with applicable AUASB Standards and was, therefore, designed primarily for the purpose of reporting pursuant to the requirements of APS 310 [and APS 910], and that your procedures were limited to those which you considered necessary for that purpose.

Yours faithfully

[Name of signing officer and title]

Signed by resolution of the [Title of those charged with governance]¹³³

GS 012

Locally incorporate ADIs: letter to be tabled at Board/Board Audit Committee meeting, but may be signed by management, as directed by Board.

Foreign ADIs: letter may be signed by either Senior Officer outside Australia or CEO/Senior Officer in Australia with responsibility for Australian operations, with appropriate approval from Senior Officer outside Australia.

Appendix 4

(Ref: Para. 160, 162, 172, 185, 281, 287; Appendix 5)

EXAMPLE ANNUAL PRUDENTIAL ASSURANCE REPORT

Engagements undertaken pursuant to APRA Prudential Standards APS 310 and 3PS 310 Audit and Related Matters (Routine Reporting)

The following example auditor's report is to be used as a guide only and will need to be adapted according to the individual engagement requirements and circumstances of the ADI and/or ADI group.

Note:

- 1. In this example auditor's report:
 - the "Level 1" ADI is referred to as "the ADI";
 - the "Level 2" ADI and its controlled entities, is referred to as "the Level 2 ADI group"
 - the "Level 3" conglomerate group, that is, the ADI and all entities determined by APRA to be members of the Level 3 group, is referred to as "the Level 3 group".

"Level 1", "Level 2" and "Level 3" have the meaning given in APRA Prudential Standards APS 001 and 3PS 001 *Definitions*.

2. Under APS 310 and 3PS 310, separate auditors may be appointed to meet the APS 310 and 3PS 310 reporting requirements on a Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 basis.

In accordance with the requirements of APS 310 and 3PS 310:

- Where the ADI is the head entity of a Level 2 or Level 3 group, the auditor can issue either separate reports for Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3, or a combined report for the ADI (head entity) and the group.
- The auditor's report must make it clear where the auditor is referring to matters relating to the ADI/head entity or the group.
- 3. APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme auditor's report

Although there is some overlap between APS 310 and APS 910 engagements, APRA's preference is for a separate assurance report to be prepared for the purposes of reporting pursuant to APS 910, which is required to be submitted to APRA at the same time as the APS 310 assurance report. Refer to Appendix 5 of this Guidance Statement for an Example Annual Prudential Assurance Report prepared pursuant to APS 910.

Where an ADI or ADI group is not subject to the requirements of APS 910, for example, a foreign ADI, references to APS 910 need to be removed. 134

_

APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme does not apply to foreign ADIs and providers of purchased payments facilities. See APS 910, paragraph 2.

To:

[Appropriate addressee¹³⁵] of [name of ADI] [and/or Level 2 ADI group and/or Level 3 group]

[Australian Prudential Regulation Authority]

Independent Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report pursuant to APRA Prudential Standards APS 310 and 3PS 310 Audit and Related Matters for the financial year ended [date]

1. Introduction

We have performed reasonable and limited assurance engagements, as applicable, pursuant to the reporting requirements specified in Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) Prudential Standard(s) APS 310 [and/or 3PS 310] Audit and Related Matters (APS 310) [(3PS 310)], as described in PARTS A to D of this report, for the Level 1 ADI, [insert name of ADI] [including any extended licensed entities] (the ADI) [and/or the Level 2 ADI group, [insert name of ADI and its controlled entities] (the Level 2 ADI group) and/or the Level 3 conglomerate group, [insert name of ADI] and all entities determined by APRA to be members of the Level 3 group (the Level 3 group).]

APS 310 [and 3PS 310] require(s) an ADI [and/or ADI group] to appoint an auditor to undertake an annual assurance engagement, as set out in those Prudential Standards. The responsibilities and reporting requirements arising from this appointment, have been outlined in our letter of engagement dated [date].

[If applicable: APS 310 also requires us to perform a limited assurance engagement on the controls implemented by the ADI to ensure compliance with Prudential Requirements which includes compliance with APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme. The scope of work undertaken and our conclusions relating to this work have been included in our report titled Independent Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report pursuant to APRA Prudential Standard APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme for the period [date] to [date], issued on [report date¹³⁶], a copy of which is attached.¹³⁷ This report [was/was not] subject to modification.] 138

[If applicable: Our Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Report of [ADI name and group name for the year ended [insert day, month and year end] was signed on [date] and [was/was not] subject to modification. Our audit [and review] of the financial report(s) required under the Corporations Act 2001¹³⁹ was directed towards obtaining sufficient evidence to form an opinion under the appropriate legislation. Our statutory audit [and review] was not designed to enable us to conclude on other matters outlined in APS 310 [and 3PS 310].

Accordingly, we have performed additional procedures in order to form our reasonable assurance opinion and limited assurance conclusions, as applicable, pursuant to the reporting requirements specified in APS 310 for the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group] [and 3PS 310 for the Level 3 group.]]¹⁴⁰

Amend to reflect the appropriate addressee of the report, for example, Chairman of Board or Board Audit Committee for a locally incorporated ADI or, for a foreign ADI (i.e. a branch of a foreign ADI), the senior officer outside Australia to whom authority has been delegated, in accordance with Prudential Standard CPS 510 *Governance*, for overseeing the Australian operations. Should be the same date as for the APS 310/3PS 310 report(s).

Refer to Appendix 5 of this Guidance Statement.

¹³⁸ Delete this paragraph if not relevant, for example, in relation to foreign ADIs which are not subject to APS 910. Where the APS 910 auditor's report is modified, this is referred to in the introduction to the APS 310/3PS 310 auditor's report and may lead to a modification of the APS 310/3PS 310 auditor's report.

Or other appropriate local or overseas legislation.

Delete if no statutory audit is performed, for example, in relation to foreign branches.

2. Opinion [or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Opinion] and Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)]¹⁴¹

[Where the auditor determines it necessary to issue a modified conclusion(s), the respective part(s) are modified as appropriate]

PART A – Reasonable Assurance on Information included in Specified ADI Reporting Forms at financial year-end, sourced from Accounting Records

In our opinion, [except for the effects of the matter(s) described in the Basis for Opinion [or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Opinion] and Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)] section of this report,] the information in the Specified ADI Reporting Forms of the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group and/or the Level 3 group] as at [financial year-end], sourced from the ADI's [and/or the Level 2 ADI group's and/or the Level 3 group's] accounting records, is, in all material respects, reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.

The Specified ADI Reporting Forms which are the subject of this assurance report are [attached or disclosed] in Appendix [insert]:

[Two different approaches are possible to identify ADI Reporting Forms which are the subject of the opinion:

Option 1¹⁴²

Attach all the Specified ADI Reporting Forms, which are the subject matter of this assurance report, to the report, and identify on each Reporting Form the date it was submitted and whether the Reporting Form, or data item in the Reporting Form, has been sourced from the accounting records (subject of the reasonable assurance engagement – Part A opinion) or non-accounting records (subject of the limited assurance engagement – Part B conclusion). Include in the assurance report by reference to "the data identified on the Specified ADI Reporting Forms attached under Attachment [insert]"

Option 2¹⁴³

Alternatively, list here, or include a reference to an appendix which lists the specific title, number and date submitted of each relevant ADI Reporting Form, based on those specified in Attachment A of APS 310, where such forms contain information sourced from accounting records, which have been subjected to a reasonable assurance engagement.

Note:

If a form includes data from both accounting and non-accounting records, then each line item will need to be clearly listed.

The auditor may decide to attach to the assurance report a detailed listing of all the ADI Reporting Forms specified in Attachment A to APS 310 that are subject to Part A and Part B of the engagement. The auditor ensures this list clearly identifies the level of assurance attached to each Reporting Form and/or the individual sections (or data items) within each Reporting Form - that is, whether the data has been sourced from accounting (Part A) or non-accounting records (Part B).]

GS 012

Where the auditor determines it necessary to issue a modified opinion/conclusion(s), this section will be amended to comply with the requirements set out in relevant AUASB standards. These standards also include further guidance, application material and illustrative examples, which the auditor may find useful. For example, refer to ASA 705 *Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report* and ASAE 3150, paragraphs 93-95 and Appendix 9.

Also refer to Part B – Option 1.
Also refer to Part B – Option 2.

PART B – Limited Assurance on Information included in Specified ADI Reporting Forms at financial year-end, sourced from Non-accounting Records

Based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained as part of our limited assurance engagement, which is not a reasonable assurance engagement, [and except for the effects of the matter(s) described in the *Basis for Opinion [or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Opinion] and Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)]* section of this report,] nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the information in the Specified ADI Reporting Forms of the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group and/or the Level 3 group] as at [financial year-end], sourced from non-accounting records, is not, in all material respects, reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.

The Specified ADI Reporting Forms which are the subject of this assurance report are [attached or disclosed] in Appendix [insert]:

[Two different approaches are possible to identify ADI Reporting Forms which are the subject of the conclusion:

Option 1^{144} :

Attach all the Specified ADI Reporting Forms, which are the subject matter of this assurance report, to the report, and identify on each Reporting Form the date it was submitted and whether the Reporting Form, or data item in the Reporting Form, has been sourced from the accounting records (subject of the reasonable assurance engagement – Part A opinion) or non-accounting records (subject of the limited assurance engagement – Part B conclusion). Include in the assurance report by reference to "the data identified on the Specified ADI Reporting Forms attached under Attachment [insert]"

Option 2^{145} :

Alternatively, list here, or include a reference to an appendix which lists the specific title, number and date submitted of each relevant ADI Reporting Form, based on those specified in Attachment A of APS 310, where such forms contain information sourced from non-accounting records, which have been subjected to a limited assurance engagement.

Note: If a form includes data from both accounting and non-accounting records, then each line item will need to be clearly listed.

The auditor may decide to attach to the assurance report a detailed listing of all the ADI Reporting Forms specified in Attachment A to APS 310 that are subject to Part A and Part B of the engagement. The auditor ensures this list clearly identifies the level of assurance attached to each Reporting Form and/or the individual sections (or data items) within each Reporting Form - that is, whether the data has been sourced from accounting (Part A) or non-accounting records (Part B).]

PART C – Limited Assurance on Internal Controls addressing Compliance with Prudential Requirements and Reliability of Data included in ADI Reporting Forms

Based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained as part of our limited assurance engagement, which is not a reasonable assurance engagement, [except for the effects of the matters described in the Basis for Opinion [or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Opinion] and Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)] section of this report,] nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, in all material respects, throughout the period from [date] to [date]:

¹⁴⁴ Also refer to Part A – Option 1.

Also refer to Part A – Option 2.

- the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group and/or the Level 3 group] has not implemented (a) internal controls that are designed to ensure:
 - (i) compliance with all applicable Prudential Requirements [(excluding APS 910)]; and
 - (ii) reliable data is provided to APRA in the ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA: and
- (b) these controls have not operated effectively.

PART D-**Limited Assurance on Compliance with Prudential Requirements**

Based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained as part of our reasonable and limited assurance engagements in Parts A to C above, [except for the effects of the matter(s) described in the Basis for Opinion [or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Opinion] and Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)] section of this report,] nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, for the period [date] to [date], the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group and/or the Level 3 group] has not, in all material respects, complied with all relevant Prudential Requirements under the Banking Act 1959 (Banking Act) and the FSCODA, including compliance with APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion [or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Opinion] and **3.** Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusions(s)]

We conducted our assurance engagements in accordance with applicable Standards issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB). Our responsibilities under these Standards are further described in the *Appointed Auditor's Responsibilities* section of this report.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion and conclusions.

[If applicable: The bases for any modification of our opinion/conclusions below, are set out in Attachment 1 to this report.]¹⁴⁶

Responsibilities of the [Title of Those Charged with Governance]¹⁴⁷ and Management of the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI Group and/or Level 3 4. Group]

In accordance with APRA Prudential Standard CPS 220 Risk Management, it is the responsibility of the [Title of those charged with governance] of an ADI [and/or head of the Level 2 ADI group and/or head of the Level 3 group to ensure that the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group and/or Level 3 group] has prudent risk management practices.

This responsibility includes providing APRA with a Risk Management Declaration, as set out in Attachment A to CPS 220.

In relation to the APS 310/3PS 310 annual prudential assurance report(s), this responsibility includes:

ensuring that the information included in ADI Reporting Forms at the financial year-end is (a) reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards;

accordance with CPS 510, for overseeing the Australian branch operations. Insert appropriate title, when prompted, throughout the report.

GS 012

Include a description of the matter giving rise to any qualified/adverse opinion/conclusion or, for a disclaimer of opinion/conclusion, provide the reasons for the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence. Alternatively, refer to an attachment to the report which includes the information required under relevant AUASB Standards. Attachment 1 to this report shows an example attachment that may be used as a guide, adapted to take account of the circumstances of the ADI and the type of modification to be issued. APRA requires this appendix to be included as part of the report regardless of whether there are any modifications to report.

Amend this term to reflect the appropriate title for those charged with governance of the ADI, for example, "Board of Directors" for a locally incorporated ADI or, for a foreign ADI, "the Senior Officer Outside Australia" to whom authority has been delegated in

- (b) establishing and maintaining internal controls that are designed to ensure:
 - (i) the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group and/or Level 3 group] complies with all applicable Prudential Requirements; and
 - (ii) reliable data is provided to APRA in the ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA:
- (c) ensuring that the internal controls under (b) have operated effectively throughout the financial year;
- (d) ensuring that the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group and/or the Level 3 ADI group] complies with all relevant Prudential Requirements under the Banking Act and the FSCODA, including compliance with APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards, during the financial year.
- (e) Ensuring that the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group and/or the Level 3 group] maintain(s) accounting records which at any time throughout the year disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the ADI [and/or the ADI group and/or Level 3 ADI group].

Furthermore, in accordance with APS 310/3PS 310, it is the responsibility of the [Title of those charged with governance] and management of an ADI [and/or head of the Level 2 ADI group and/or head of the Level 3 group] to ensure that the auditor is:

- (a) granted access to all data, information, reports and staff of the ADI [and/or the level 2 ADI group and/or the Level 3 group] that the auditor reasonably believes is necessary to fulfil its role and responsibilities under APS 310 and 3PS 310. This includes access to the [Title of those charged with governance], [Title of those charged with governance] Committees and internal auditors, as required;
- (b) fully informed of all Prudential Requirements applicable to the ADI [and/or Level 2 ADI group and/or Level 3 group]. Prudential Requirements include requirements imposed by the Act, regulations, prudential standards, the FSCODA, reporting standards, conditions on authority and any other requirements imposed by APRA, in writing, in relation to an ADI; and
- (c) provided with any other information APRA has provided to the ADI [and/or Level 2 ADI group and/or Level 3 group] that may assist the auditor in fulfilling its role and responsibilities under APS 310 and 3PS 310.

5. Independence and Quality Control

In undertaking these assurance engagements, we have complied with:

- (a) the relevant ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board's *APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)* relating to assurance engagements, which include independence and other requirements founded on fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour;
- (b) the independence requirements specified by APRA in Prudential Standard CPS 510 *Governance*:
- (c) the fitness and propriety criteria specified by APRA in Prudential Standard CPS 520 *Fit and Proper*; and
- (d) Auditing Standard ASQC 1 Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other Financial Information, and Other Assurance Engagements.

6. Appointed Auditor's Responsibilities

PART A – Reasonable Assurance on Information included in Specified ADI Reporting Forms at financial year-end, sourced from Accounting Records

Our responsibility is to express an opinion, based on our reasonable assurance engagement, on whether information sourced from the ADI's [and/or the Level 2 ADI group's and/or Level 3 group's] accounting records, included in the ADI Reporting Forms at [financial year-end] as specified in Attachment A to APS 310, is, in all material respects, reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.

We conducted our reasonable assurance engagement in accordance with applicable Australian Auditing Standards issued by the AUASB.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that a reasonable assurance engagement conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of users taken on the basis of the Specified ADI Reporting Forms.

As part of a reasonable assurance engagement in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercised professional judgment and maintained professional scepticism throughout the reasonable assurance engagement. We also:

- Identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the Specified ADI Reporting Forms, whether due to fraud or error, designed and performed reasonable assurance procedures responsive to those risks, and obtained evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the reasonable assurance engagement in order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.
- Communicated with the [Title of Those Charged with Governance] regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the reasonable assurance engagement and significant findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our reasonable assurance engagement.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our reasonable assurance opinion.

PART B – Limited Assurance on Information included in Specified ADI Reporting Forms at financial year-end, sourced from Non-accounting Records

Our responsibility is to perform a limited assurance engagement and to express a conclusion whether, based on the limited assurance procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained, anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the information sourced from the ADI's [and/or the Level 2 ADI group's and/or Level 3 group's] non-accounting records, included in ADI Reporting Forms at [financial year-end] as specified in Attachment A to APS 310, is not, in all material respects, reliable and in accordance with the relevant APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.

We conducted our limited assurance engagement in accordance with the AUASB's Standards on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information (ASAE 3000) and ASAE 3450 Assurance Engagements involving Corporate Fundraisings and/or Prospective Financial Information, and the AUASB's Standard on Review Engagements ASRE 2405 Review of Historical Financial Information Other than a Financial Report, as applicable.

A limited assurance engagement consists of making enquiries of responsible ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group and/or the Level 3 group] personnel and applying analytical and other limited assurance procedures. A limited assurance engagement is substantially less in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards and, consequently, does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a reasonable assurance opinion.

Procedures selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the ADI Reporting Forms, whether due to fraud or error, or of a material breakdown of controls. In making those risk assessments, we considered internal control systems and compliance functions relevant to the preparation of the Specified ADI Reporting Forms in order to design limited assurance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our conclusion.

PART C – Limited Assurance on Internal Controls addressing Compliance with Prudential Requirements and Reliability of Data included in ADI Reporting Forms

Our responsibility is to perform a limited assurance engagement and to express a conclusion, based on the limited assurance procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained, on whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, in all material respects, throughout the period from [date] to [date]:

- (a) the ADI [and/or Level 2 ADI group and/or the Level 3 group] has not implemented internal controls that are designed to ensure:
 - (i) compliance with all applicable Prudential Requirements [(excluding APS 910)]; and
 - (ii) reliable data is provided to APRA in the ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA; and
- (b) these controls have not operated effectively.

We conducted our limited assurance engagement on controls in accordance with the AUASB's Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 *Assurance Engagements on Controls*.

A limited assurance engagement on controls in accordance with ASAE 3150 involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of controls. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of the risks of material deficiencies in the design and/or implementation of the controls, or deviation in their operating effectiveness. In making those risk assessments, we considered internal control systems and compliance functions relevant to ensuring compliance with all Prudential Requirements and provision of reliable data to APRA in ADI Reporting Forms prepared under the FSCODA, in order to design assurance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

Procedures performed in our limited assurance engagement primarily consist of making enquiries of management and other responsible personnel within the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group and/or the Level 3 group], as appropriate, examination of design specifications and documentation, and observation of implementation and operation of controls.

[The auditor considers including an informative summary of the nature, timing and extent of procedures performed that, in the auditor's judgement, provides additional information that may be relevant to the users' understanding of the basis for the auditor's conclusion. [148]

Where we become aware of matters that cause us to believe that the controls may not be suitably designed, implemented or operating effectively, we will perform additional procedures.

The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement vary in nature and timing from, and are substantially less in scope than for, a reasonable assurance engagement conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards and, consequently, does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit/reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a reasonable assurance opinion on the controls.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our conclusion.

PART D – Limited Assurance on Compliance with Prudential Requirements

Our responsibility is to express a limited assurance conclusion, based on our work performed under Parts A to C above, on whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, for the period [date] to [date], the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group and/or Level 3 group] has not, in all material respects, complied with all relevant Prudential Requirements under the Banking Act and the FSCODA, including compliance with APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our conclusion.

7. Inherent Limitations

Due to the inherent limitations of any internal control and compliance framework it is possible that, even if the controls are suitably designed and operating effectively, the control objectives may not be achieved and that fraud, error, or non-compliance with Prudential Requirements may occur and not be detected. Further, the internal control structure, within which the controls that we have assured operate, has not been assured and no opinion is expressed as to its design or operating effectiveness.

Projections of any evaluation of internal control procedures or compliance measures to future periods are subject to the risk that control procedures may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance may deteriorate.

A reasonable or limited assurance engagement is not designed to detect all misstatements in ADI Reporting Forms, or deficiencies and/or deviations in internal controls, or instances of non-compliance with applicable Prudential Requirements, as assurance engagement procedures are not performed continuously throughout the period and procedures performed are undertaken on a test basis.

Consequently, there are inherent limitations on the level of assurance that can be provided.

The opinion and conclusions expressed in this report, are to be read in the context of the foregoing comments.

The auditor may include a summary of procedures performed but not to the extent that it is ambiguous or described in a manner that is overstated or that could suggest that reasonable assurance has been obtained. It is also important that the description of the procedures does not give the impression that an agreed-upon procedures engagement has been undertaken, and in most cases will not detail the entire work plan.

8. General and Specific Observations

In addition to any scope limitations and other qualifications reported in Attachment 1 to this report, we have reported relevant observations (where applicable) arising from the work we have performed in Attachment 2 to this report. 149

9. Other Matter - Restriction on Distribution and Use

This report has been prepared for distribution to the [Title of those charged with governance] of the ADI [and/or the head of the Level 2 ADI group and/or the head of the Level 3 group] and APRA, in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated [date], in order to satisfy APRA's prudential reporting requirements for appointed auditors, as specified in APS 310 and 3PS 310. As a result, this report may not be suitable for another purpose.

This report is not to be distributed to any party other than those to whom it is addressed, APRA, and other parties to whom APRA is lawfully entitled to provide relevant information ("Other Parties"). In accordance with the *Australian Prudential Regulation Authority Act 1998*, APRA may make this report available to Other Parties when APRA is satisfied that such information may assist those parties in performing their functions or exercising their powers. We disclaim any assumption of responsibility for any reliance on this report, or the subject matter to which it relates, to any party other than the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group and/or the Level 3 group] and APRA in the performance of its functions under the Banking Act, or for any purpose other than that for which it was prepared.

[Appointed auditor's name and signature]
[Firm]
[Date of the auditor's report]
[Auditor's address]

-

Provide details of other significant (but not material) findings or matters arising from the engagement considered necessary to highlight to APRA for information purposes, but which do not impact on the opinion/conclusions in an attachment to the assurance report. See paragraphs 285-286 of this Guidance Statement for further guidance on information that may be considered for inclusion in a 'longform' style of report. Attachment 2 to this example assurance report shows an example attachment that may be used as a guide, adapted to take account of the circumstances of the ADI and nature of findings or matters arising. APRA expects this appendix to be included as part of the assurance report regardless of whether or not there are any observations to report.

Attachment 1: Basis for Opinion [or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Opinion] and Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)]

[The following example attachment may be used by the appointed auditor to report material findings or exceptions, in circumstances where a modification to the auditor's opinion/conclusions is required. It is to be used as a guide only and will need to be adapted according to the engagement requirements and circumstances of the ADI, subject matter information, and the type of modified opinion/conclusion issued.]

[Note: APRA expects Attachment 1 to be included as part of the APS 310/3PS 310 annual prudential assurance report regardless of whether or not there are any modifications to the auditor's opinion/conclusions to report.]

This attachment accompanies, and forms part of, the *Independent Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report pursuant to APRA Prudential Standards APS 310 and 3PS 310 Audit and Related Matters for the financial year ended [date]*, dated [insert report date].

[If applicable: Our prudential assurance report pertaining to the Financial Claims Scheme for the period [date] to [date], issued on [date], [was/was not] subject to modification.] [Details of those modifications can be found in Attachment [insert] to that report, a copy of which is attached.]

If there are no modifications, insert the following words:

There were no matters arising that resulted in a modification of our opinion/conclusions in our report.

If there are modifications, then insert the following words below:

During our limited assurance engagement, we noted the following:

Scope Limitations

We have been unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence in order to form an opinion in relation to the following items:

[Insert details of the subject matter to which a limitation of scope is being applied, providing a context as to why these items have been included within the limitation of scope].

Basis for other Qualified Opinion and Conclusions¹⁵⁰

Material Misstatements in Specified ADI Reporting Forms (Parts A and B of the Engagement)

During our reasonable and limited assurance engagements in relation to Specified ADI Reporting Forms, we noted the following:

Form name	Date(s)	Error in Line No:	Reported Amount	Error due to	Recommendation	Action taken

¹⁵⁰ It is recommended that the basis for any qualifications be set out in this manner to highlight whether APRA are already aware of the matters being raised.

Material Internal Control Deficiencies and/or Deviations

[Include a description of the matter giving rise to any qualified/adverse conclusion or, for a disclaimer of conclusion, provide the reasons for the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence. ASAE 3150, paragraphs 93-95 and Appendix 9, may provide helpful guidance.]

Significant Non-compliance with Prudential Requirements

Significant non-compliance with relevant Prudential Requirements under the *Banking Act 1959* and the *Financial Sector (Collection of Data) Act 2001*, including APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards, identified during the financial year and up to the date of signing the auditor's assurance report.

- (a) Matters not previously reported to APRA:
 - [Include a description of each new matter/non-compliance. For this category include correspondence with APRA (if any), recommendations for remediation and management actions and/or plans, if applicable.]
- (b) Matters previously reported to APRA by the appointed auditor:
 - [Include a description of each of the matters/non-compliance (if any) reported to APRA by the auditor in relation to the ADI for the financial year under review, recommendations for remediation and management actions and/or plans, if applicable.]
- (c) Matters previously reported to APRA by the ADI [and/or the Level 2 ADI group and/or the Level 3 group]:
 - [Include a description of each of the matters/non-compliance (if any) the ADI has reported to APRA for the financial year under review, recommendations for remediation and management actions and/or plans, if applicable.]

Attachment 2: General and Specific Observations

[Note: APRA expects Attachment 2 to be included as part of the APS 310/3PS 310 assurance report regardless of whether or not there are any observations to report.]

This attachment accompanies, and forms part of, the *Independent Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report pursuant to APRA Prudential Standards APS 310 and 3PS 310 Audit and Related Matters for the financial year ended [date]*, dated [insert report date].

If there are no observations, insert the following words:

There were no adverse matters observed within the scope of our APS 310/3PS 310 engagement.

If there are observations, then insert the following words below:

The following findings (individually or collectively) did not cause us to qualify the *Independent Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report pursuant to APRA Prudential Standards APS 310 and 3PS 310 Audit and Related Matters for the financial year ended [date]*, dated [insert report date].

(a) General Observations

[insert all applicable APS 310/3PS 310 general observations]

(b) Specific Observations

[insert all applicable APS 310/3PS 310 specific observations]

Appendix 5

(Ref: Para. 214, 291; Appendix 4)

EXAMPLE ANNUAL PRUDENTIAL ASSURANCE REPORT

Engagements undertaken pursuant to APRA Prudential Standard APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme (Routine Reporting)

The following example auditor's report is to be used as a guide only and will need to be adapted according to the individual engagement requirements and circumstances of the ADI.

Note:

APRA's preference is for a separate assurance report to be prepared for the purpose of reporting pursuant to APS 910, which is required to be submitted to APRA at the same time as the APS 310 assurance report.

To:

[Appropriate addressee¹⁵¹] of [name of ADI]

[Australian Prudential Regulation Authority]

Independent Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report pursuant to APRA Prudential Standard APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme for the period [date] to [date]

1. Introduction

We have performed a limited assurance engagement on the adequacy of design and operating effectiveness of the controls of [insert ADI name] (the ADI) in relation to the Single Customer View (SCV) data and Financial Claims Scheme (FCS) payment instruction and reporting information from [start date] to [end date] pursuant to the reporting requirements specified in Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) Prudential Standard APS 310 Audit and Related Matters (APS 310) and Prudential Standard APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme (APS 910) 152. This assurance report pertains to the ADI being able to meet the requirements of APS 910 in the event it is declared subject to the FCS. This report should be read in conjunction with the Independent Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report pursuant to APRA Prudential Standard(s) APS 310 [and 3PS 310] Audit and Related Matters for the financial year ended [year end] dated [date of APS 310 report 153] which was issued in accordance with the reporting requirements of APS 310.

APS 310 and APS 910 require the ADI to appoint an independent auditor to undertake annual assurance engagements, as set out in those Prudential Standards. The responsibilities and reporting requirements arising from this appointment have been outlined in our letter of engagement dated [insert date].

[Our independent auditor's report on the financial report of [insert ADI name and group name] for the year ended [insert day, month and year end] was signed on [date] and [was/was not] subject to modification. As statutory auditor, our work is directed towards obtaining sufficient audit evidence to form an opinion under the Corporations Act 2001. This audit work was not designed to enable us to conclude on the matters outlined in APS 310 and APS 910.

Accordingly, we have performed additional procedures in order to form our conclusions, as applicable, pursuant to the reporting requirements specified in APS 310 and APS 910 for the ADI, as they relate to APS 910.]¹⁵

Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)]¹⁵⁵ 2.

Our limited assurance conclusions have been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this assurance report.

[Where the auditor determines it necessary to issue a modified conclusion(s), the respective part(s) are modified as appropriate]

Amend to reflect the appropriate addressee of the report, for example, Chairman of Board or Board Audit Committee.

Insert: "as detailed in [Title of ADI document, that is, management's APS 910 internal control report/statement] dated [insert date]", as applicable.

Should be the same date as for the APS 310/3PS 310 report(s).

Delete if not the statutory auditor for the ADI.

Where the auditor determines it necessary to issue a modified conclusion(s), this section will be amended to comply with the requirements of ASAE 3150. This standard also includes further guidance, application material and illustrative examples which the auditor may find useful. For example, refer to paragraphs 93-95 and Appendix 9 of ASAE 3150.

PART A -Limited Assurance on Internal Controls addressing Generation of SCV Data and FCS Payment Instruction and Reporting Information¹

Based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained as part of our limited assurance engagement, which is not a reasonable assurance engagement, [except for the effect of the matter(s) described in the Basis for Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualification/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)] section of this report,] nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, in all material respects, throughout the period from [start date] to [end date]:

- the ADI did not have controls that are designed to ensure that SCV data as set out in (a) Attachment A to APS 910, to the extent practicable, and FCS payment instruction and reporting information can be relied upon as being complete and accurate and in accordance with APS 910; and
- (b) these controls have not operated effectively when tested.

PART B -Limited Assurance on Internal Controls addressing Compliance with Prudential Requirements¹⁵⁷ relating to APS 910 conducted as part of APS 310 Requirements¹⁵⁸

Based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained as part of our limited assurance engagement, which is not a reasonable assurance engagement, [except for the effect of the matter(s) described in the Basis for Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualification/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)] section of this report,] nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, in all material respects, throughout the period from [start date] to [end date]:

- the ADI did not have controls that are designed to ensure compliance with all applicable (a) Prudential Requirements relating to APS 910; and
- (b) these controls have not operated effectively.

Reporting on Compliance with Prudential Requirements¹⁵⁹ PART C -

Based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained as part of our limited assurance engagements in Parts A and B above, [except for the effects of the matter(s) described in the Basis for Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualification/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)] section of this report,] nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, for the period [start date] to [end date], the ADI has not, in all material respects, complied with all relevant Prudential Requirements under the *Banking Act 1959* (Banking Act) relating to APS 910.

Basis for Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] **3.** Conclusion(s)

We conducted our engagement in accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance Engagements on Controls, issued by the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AUASB). Our responsibilities under this Standard are further described in the *Appointed Auditor's* Responsibilities section of this report.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our conclusions.

Refer to paragraph 27 of APS 910.

[&]quot;Prudential Requirements" is defined in APRA Prudential Standard APS 001 Definitions and includes requirements imposed by the Banking Act, Prudential Standards made under the Banking Act, Reporting Standards made under the FSCODA, conditions on the ADI's authorisation, and any other requirements imposed by APRA in writing.

See paragraph 36 of APS 310

[If applicable: The bases for any modification of our conclusions below, are set out in Attachment 1 to this report.] 160

Responsibilities of the [Title of Those Charged with Governance] and 4. Management of the ADI

In accordance with APS 310, as it pertains to APS 910, it is the responsibility of the [Title of those charged with governance] and management of the ADI to:

- establish and maintain internal controls that are designed to ensure the ADI complies with all (a) applicable prudential requirements;
- ensure that these controls operated effectively throughout the financial year; and (b)
- ensure that the ADI complies with all relevant Prudential Requirements under the Banking (c) Act, including compliance with Prudential Standards, throughout the financial year.

In addition, in accordance with APS 910 specifically, it is the responsibility of the [Title of those charged with governance] and management of the ADI to ensure that appropriate policies and procedures are in place to ensure the integrity of operations, internal controls and information required by APS 910. This includes, but is not limited to, responsibility for:

- (a) undertaking all necessary steps to ensure compliance with APS 910;
- (b) ensuring systems and processes are in place to identify, to the extent practicable, each unique account-holder who holds a protected account;
- calculating a SCV for each unique account holder identified in accordance with relevant (c) requirements;
- (d) being able to generate and transmit payment instruction information for FCS purposes to the RBA, or another paying agent nominated by APRA;
- being able to generate and transmit reporting information to APRA, an account-holder, the (e) Australian Tax Office (ATO) and any other party nominated by APRA;
- ensuring systems and associated controls are adequate for the purposes of ensuring that data (f) generated by SCV systems are complete and accurate, to the extent practicable;
- ensuring systems and associated controls are adequate for the purposes of ensuring that the (g) FCS payment instruction and reporting information generated and transmitted by the systems, including the ability to capture alternative ADI account data, are complete and accurate;
- complying with the communications requirements set out in APS 910; and (h)
- (i) complying with the testing requirements set out in APS 910.

Attachment 1 to this report shows an example attachment that may be used as a guide, adapted to take account of the circumstances of the ADI and the type of modification to be issued. APRA requires this appendix to be included as part of the report regardless of whether there are any modifications to report. Include the information required under ASAE 3150, for example, a description of the matter giving rise to any qualified/adverse conclusion or, for a disclaimer of conclusion, provide the reasons for the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence.

161 Amend this term to reflect the appropriate title for those charged with governance of the ADI, for example, "Board of Directors". Insert

appropriate title, when prompted, throughout the report.

5. Independence and Quality Control

In undertaking this assurance engagement, we have complied with:

- (a) the relevant ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board's *APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)* relating to assurance engagements, which include independence and other requirements founded on fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour;
- (b) the independence requirements specified by APRA in Prudential Standard CPS 510 *Governance*;
- (c) the fitness and propriety criteria specified by APRA in Prudential Standard CPS 520 *Fit and Proper*; and
- (d) Auditing Standard ASQC 1 Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other Financial Information, and Other Assurance Engagements.

6. Appointed Auditor's Responsibilities

Our responsibility is to perform a limited assurance engagement as required under APS 310 and APS 910, and to express a conclusion, based on our engagement as described below, on whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, in all material respects, throughout the period from [start date] to [end date]:

PART A – Generation of SCV Data and FCS Payment Instruction and Reporting Information

In relation to APS 910, paragraph 27:

- (a) the ADI did not have controls that are designed to ensure that SCV data, to the extent practicable, and FCS payment instruction and reporting information can be relied upon as being complete and accurate and in accordance with APS 910; and
- (b) these controls have not operated effectively when tested.

[Please refer this responsibility to Part A of Section 2 *Conclusion(s)* [and/or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)] of this report.]

PART B – Internal Controls addressing Compliance with Prudential Requirements relating to APS 910 conducted as part of APS 310 Requirements

In relation to APS 310 paragraph 36(d):

- (a) the ADI did not have controls that are designed to ensure that the ADI complies with all applicable prudential requirements relating to APS 910; and
- (b) these controls have not operated effectively throughout the financial year.

[Please refer this responsibility to Part B of Section 2 *Conclusion(s)* [and/or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)] of this report.]

PART C -**Reporting on Compliance with Prudential Requirements**

In relation to APS 310 paragraph 36, based on our work performed under Parts A and B above, the ADI has not, in all material respects, complied with all relevant prudential requirements under the Banking Act relating to APS 910.

[Please refer this responsibility to Part C of Section 2 Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)] of this report.]

Scope of Limited Assurance Engagement

A limited assurance engagement on controls in accordance with ASAE 3150 involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of controls. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of the risks of material deficiencies in the design and/or implementation of the controls, or deviation in their operating effectiveness. In making those risk assessments, we considered internal control systems and compliance functions relevant to ensuring compliance with APS 910 and specifically the requirements set out above in relation to the SCV data and FCS payment instruction and reporting information.

Procedures performed in our limited assurance engagement primarily consist of making enquiries of management and other responsible personnel within the ADI, examination of design specifications and documentation on a sample basis, observation of implementation and operation of the controls, events or business routines implemented by the ADI as well as testing practices and results in order to meet the control objectives identified in Attachment 3 of this report ¹⁶².

[The auditor considers including an informative summary of the nature, timing and extent of procedures performed that, in the auditor's judgement, provides additional information that may be relevant to the users' understanding of the basis for the auditor's conclusion. [63]

Where we become aware of matters that cause us to believe that the controls may not be suitably designed, implemented or operating effectively, we will perform additional procedures.

The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement vary in nature and timing from, and are substantially less in scope than for a reasonable assurance engagement conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards and, consequently, does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit/ reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a reasonable assurance opinion on the controls.

7. Inherent limitations

Due to the inherent limitations of any internal control and compliance framework it is possible that, even if the controls are suitably designed and operating effectively, the control objectives may not be achieved and that fraud, error, or non-compliance with Prudential Requirements may occur and not be detected. Further, the internal control structure, within which the controls that we have assured operate, has not been assured and no opinion is expressed as to its design or operating effectiveness.

Projections of any evaluation of internal control procedures or compliance measures to future periods are subject to the risk that control procedures may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance may deteriorate.

¹⁶² Attachment 3 to this example assurance report shows an example attachment that may be used as a guide.

The auditor may include a summary of procedures performed but not to the extent that it is ambiguous or described in a manner that is overstated or that could suggest that reasonable assurance has been obtained. It is also important that the description of the procedures does not give the impression that an agreed-upon procedures engagement has been undertaken, and in most cases will not detail the entire work plan.

A limited assurance engagement is not designed to detect all deficiencies in internal controls, or instances of non-compliance with applicable Prudential Requirements, as procedures are not performed continuously throughout the period and procedures performed are undertaken on a test basis.

Consequently, there are inherent limitations on the level of assurance that can be provided.

The conclusions in this report are to be read in the context of the foregoing comments.

8. General and Specific Observations

In addition to any scope limitations and other qualifications reported in Attachment 1 to this report, we have reported relevant observations (where applicable) arising from the work we have performed in Attachment 2 to this report. ¹⁶⁴

9. Other Matter - Restriction on Distribution and Use

This report has been prepared for distribution to the [Title of those charged with governance] of the ADI and APRA, in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated [date], in order to satisfy APRA's prudential reporting requirements for appointed auditors of ADIs, as specified in APS 310 (as it relates to APS 910) and APS 910. As a result, this report may not be suitable for another purpose.

This report is not to be distributed to any party other than those to whom it is addressed, APRA, and other parties to whom APRA is lawfully entitled to provide relevant information ("Other Parties"). In accordance with the *Australian Prudential Regulation Authority Act 1998*, APRA may make this report available to Other Parties when APRA is satisfied that such information may assist those parties in performing their functions or exercising their powers. We disclaim any assumption of responsibility for any reliance on this report or the subject matter to which it relates, to any party other than the [Title of those charged with governance] of the ADI and APRA in the performance of its functions under the Banking Act, or for any purpose other than that for which it was prepared.

_

Provide details of other significant (but not material) findings or matters arising from the engagement considered necessary to highlight to APRA for information purposes, but which do not impact on the conclusion, in an attachment to the assurance report. Refer to paragraphs 285-286 of this Guidance Statement for further guidance on information that may be considered for inclusion in a 'long-form' style of report. Attachment 2 to this example assurance report shows an example attachment that may be used as a guide, adapted to take account of the circumstances of the ADI and nature of findings or matters arising. APRA expects this appendix to be included as part of the report regardless of whether or not there are any observations to report.

Attachment 1: Basis for Conclusion(s) [and/or [Qualified/Adverse/Disclaimer of] Conclusion(s)]

[The following example attachment may be used by the appointed auditor to report material findings or exceptions, in circumstances where a modification to the auditor's conclusions is required. It is to be used as a guide only, and will need to be adapted according to the engagement requirements and circumstances of the ADI, subject matter information, and the type of modified conclusion issued.]

[Note: APRA expects Attachment 1 to be included as part of the APS 910 annual prudential assurance report regardless of whether or not there are any modification to the auditor's conclusions to report.]

This attachment accompanies, and forms part of, the *Independent Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report pursuant to APRA Prudential Standard APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme for the period [start date] to [end date]* dated [insert report date].

If there are no modifications, insert the following words:

There were no matters arising that resulted in a modification of our conclusions in our report.

If there are modifications, then insert the following words below:

During our limited assurance engagement, we noted the following:

Scope Limitations

We have been unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence in order to form a conclusion in relation to the following items:

[Insert details of the subject matter to which a limitation of scope is being applied, providing a context as to why these items have been included within the limitation of scope].

Basis for other Qualified/Adverse Conclusions

Material Internal Control Deficiencies and/or Deviations

[Include a description of the matter giving rise to any qualified/adverse conclusion or, for a disclaimer of conclusion, provide the reasons for the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence. ASAE 3150, paragraphs 93-95 and Appendix 9, may provide helpful guidance.]

Significant Non-compliance with Prudential Requirements 165

Significant non-compliance with relevant Prudential Requirements under the *Banking Act 1959* and the *Financial Sector (Collection of Data) Act 2001*, including APRA Prudential and Reporting Standards, identified during the financial year and up to the date of signing the auditor's assurance report.

(a) Matters not previously reported to APRA

[Include a description of each new matter/non-compliance. For this category include correspondence with APRA (if any), recommendations for remediation and management actions and/or plans, if applicable.]

¹⁶⁵ It is recommended that the basis for any qualifications be set out in this manner to highlight whether APRA are already aware of the matters being raised.

(b) Matters previously reported to APRA by the appointed auditor

[Include a description of each of the matters/non-compliance (if any) reported to APRA by the auditor in relation to the ADI for the financial year under review, recommendations for remediation and management actions and/or plans, if applicable.]

(c) Matters previously reported to APRA by the ADI

[Include a description of each of the matters/non-compliance (if any) the ADI has reported to APRA for the financial year under review from [date] to [date], recommendations for remediation and management actions and/or plans, if applicable.]

[Note: If these matters were material to the conclusion, they should be incorporated in the basis of qualified auditors conclusion.]

Attachment 2: General and Specific Observations

[Note: APRA expects Attachment 2 to be included as part of the APS 910 annual prudential assurance report regardless of whether or not there are any observations to report.]

This attachment accompanies, and forms part of, the *Independent Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report pursuant to APRA Prudential Standard APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme for the period [start date] to [end date]* dated [insert report date].

If there are no observations, insert the following words:

There were no adverse matters observed within the scope of this limited assurance APS 910 engagement.

If there are observations, then insert the following words below:

The following findings (individually or collectively) did not cause us to qualify the *Independent Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report pursuant to APRA Prudential Standard APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme for the period [start date] to [end date] dated [insert report date].*

(c) General Observations

[insert all applicable APS 910 general observations]

(d) Specific Observations

[insert all applicable APS 910 specific observations]

Attachment 3: Control Objectives and Evaluation Criteria (Ref: Para 217, 221,

Attachment 4 to Appendix 5)

[The following example attachment may be used by the appointed auditor for the purpose of identifying the control objectives used as criteria for evaluating the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of controls. It is to be used as a guide only and will need to be adapted according to the engagement requirements and circumstances of the ADI.]

This attachment accompanies, and forms part of, the *Independent Auditor's Annual Prudential Assurance Report pursuant to APRA Prudential Standard APS 910 Financial Claims Scheme for the period [start date] to [end date]* dated [insert report date].

The following criteria have been used to evaluate the ADI's compliance with the requirements of APS 910.

Control Objectives

ADI controls are to meet the following control objectives:

Suitably designed controls are implemented to ensure that Single Customer View (SCV) data, Financial Claims Scheme (FCS) payment instruction information and FCS reporting information, to the extent practicable, can be relied upon as being:

- (a) complete and accurate; and
- (b) in accordance with APS 910, including the requirements as specified in APS 910 Attachment A, paragraph 6.

The term 'to the extent practicable' is explained in Attachment 4 to this assurance report.

Completeness and Accuracy

When evaluating the controls designed and operated by the ADI, we have taken the terms "completeness" and "accuracy" to have the meaning attributed to them in paragraph 16 of APRA's Prudential Practice Guide CPG 235 *Managing Data Risk* (CPG 235), on the basis that the controls that are the subject of the limited assurance engagement relate to the data used to generate the SCV, payment instruction information and reporting information. The definitions provided in CPG 235 are as follows:

- (a) Accuracy: the degree to which data is error free and aligns with what it represents; and
- (b) Completeness: the extent to which data is not missing and is of sufficient breadth and depth for the intended purpose.

Testing

When assessing whether the controls have operated effectively when tested, the ADI's testing in accordance with APRA's testing schedule has been considered and assessed. This includes the ADI's ability to run testing in sequence within the designated timeframes to ensure the timeliness of SCV data, FCS payment instruction information and FCS reporting information.

[Where the auditor believes further clarification may be beneficial, the auditor considers including APRA's APS 910 Testing Schedule for ADI's 166, which outlines the minimum requirements for regular APS 910 testing, as an attachment to the assurance report.]

See paragraph 25 of APS 910, which requires an ADI to undertake testing in accordance with a testing schedule specified by APRA in writing. Refer to the Financial Claims Scheme Frequently Asked Technical Questions for ADIs (Question 13.2) on APRA's website at: https://www.apra.gov.au/financial-claims-scheme-frequently-asked-technical-questions-for-authorised-deposit-taking-0.

Attachment 4: Additional Guidance (Ref: para 222, Attachment 3 to Appendix 5)

To the extent practicable

When evaluating the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of ADI controls, we have taken the term "to the extent practicable" to have the meaning attributed to it by APRA in their *Information paper: Financial Claims Scheme for authorised deposit-taking institutions (August 2013)* (Information Paper) ¹⁶⁷ (see below). We have also had regard for relevant APRA responses to Financial Claims Scheme Frequently Asked Technical Questions (FAQs) ¹⁶⁸ (see below).

We note that the guidance provided by APRA in the Information Paper and FAQs with respect to the term "to the extent practicable", is principle-based, and does not limit the application of professional judgement. We have engaged with both the ADI and APRA in interpreting this term in the relevant contexts as the issues relating to the extent practicable vary on a case by case basis.

Information Paper, paragraph 37 on page 11:

"The relief granted by the term 'to the extent practicable' in relation to the SCV in APS 910 is recognition that, when compiling the SCV using available data, some issues may arise initially with the aggregation and/or data matching. APRA envisages that any deficiencies identified would be noted and plans for enhancements and further testing would be put in place. Over time, with continuous improvement, these issues are expected to be resolved to ensure that SCVs are as accurate as possible and that the FCS limit is correctly applied."

APRA responses to relevant FAOs:

Section 3 Clearance:

FAQ 3.1: "What happens to funds that have not been 'cleared' in accordance with the Banking Regulations at the time of generating payment instruction information?

Paragraph 11 of APS 910 requires that an ADI 'must be able, to the extent practicable, to identify payment instruction information'. APRA expects ADIs to be able to identify cleared and uncleared funds accurately, to the extent practicable, at the time of generating the payment instruction information. APRA acknowledges that payment data contained in the payment instruction information may be different from the FCS entitlement under the Banking Act 1959 and Banking Regulations 1966. To the extent there are uncleared funds identified as part of the initial FCS entitlement that cannot be paid with a high level of confidence at the time that the payment instruction information is generated by the ADI, these amounts should be excluded from the payment instruction information. Such transactions will be dealt with subsequently by the statutory manager/liquidator of the ADI, once the period of clearance has been met in accordance with the Banking Act and Banking Regulations. (March 2014)"

1/

Refer to APRA's website: Information paper: Financial Claims Scheme for authorised deposit-taking institutions (August 2013).
 Refer to APRA's website: Financial Claims Scheme - frequently asked technical questions for authorised deposit-taking institutions.

Section 12 – Single Customer View (SCV):

FAQ 12.2 "How accurate do SCV data and payment instruction information have to be?

Paragraph 6 (a) of Attachment A to APS 910 requires that there be controls in place to ensure that 'data sourced from any product, customer or other ADI system for SCV purposes are complete and accurate, to the extent practicable'. APRA accepts that there are a small number of circumstances and/or customers for which meeting all the requirements of APS 910 and (for SCV calculation purposes) the Banking Act 1959 and Banking Regulations 1966 will not be practical. This also applies to the requirement in paragraph 32(f) of APS 910 that the CEO must attest 'that data generated by SCV systems are complete and accurate, to the extent practicable' and the audit requirement in paragraph 27(a) of APS 910. Similarly, APRA interprets the requirement in paragraph 11 of APS 910 – that an ADI must, 'to the extent practicable', identify payment instruction information in accordance with Attachment C (including the requirement in paragraph 1 of that Attachment as to accuracy of the calculation) – to mean that in some limited circumstances it may be difficult for ADIs to accurately calculate the size of the FCS payment (see FAQ 3.1)."

In particular, APRA recognises that, depending on the exact timing of a Ministerial declaration, certain processes required to meet the APS 910 requirements may have to be run over non-business days. This may be the case where the declaration falls on or around a long weekend. In these instances, payment instruction information should be based on SCV data that are as accurate as practicable in the circumstances. For example, this could mean using accrual components, such as interest, calculated up to the last complete business day before declaration or using a contingency strategy to deal with transactions that are yet to be finalised for FCS purposes (such as cheques deposited but not yet exchanged, or cheque/direct entry items that have been exchanged but are awaiting clearance). In those circumstances, to the extent that the payment data contained in the payment instruction information are ultimately different from the account-holder's FCS entitlement under the Banking Act and Banking Regulations, APRA expects that the statutory manager/liquidator of the ADI would make additional FCS payments if required. APRA expects ADIs to be mindful to avoid, as far as possible, any overpayment of the account-holder's initial FCS entitlement. (March 2014)"